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International Airline Network

Cheju
Koebenhavn Pusan
A ° Wuan Kwangju
1 . Moskva Taequ
uxembourg o~
A 2l ° e Frankfurt am Main Ch’ongju
° Seoul
Paris
o
Milano Beijing
*
o oJapan
&
Delhi g
elhi o Shanghai
Dhq,ka
o New Delhi o l\/larldalay
Dubai  Kathmandu » . Chiang Mai, » Hanoi
o Vientiane Saipan o
Kolkaif Krung Thep (Bangkok) 2
Eﬁ”gomr’)’ "Eiemreéb
nom Penh,
Ceb
Colombo » Phukete  Hochiminh p Y
Pinange
s Kuala Lumpur
Male o Singapore ©
Balie
Cairns %
Brisbane s
Perth*
Adelaide 4 o Sydney

Melbourne o Canberra

% Code-Sharing Flights

02 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010



Cal*gary Chicago » -

° Toronto %
eattle
La*s' Vegas Washington

% Dallas

* Miami

% Auckland

% Wellington
% Christchurch

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 03




> _—)

Financial Highlights

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)

Expressed in RMB millions 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Year Ended 31 December
Revenues 37,557 42,534 41,073 38,989 73,804
Other operating income 424 488 672 1,288 658
Operating expenses (40,695) (42,894) (56,828) (38,456) (68,765)
Operating profit/(loss) (2,714) 128 (15,083) 1,821 5,697
Finance income/(cost), net (757) 162 (267) (1,549) (347)
Profit/(loss) before income tax (3,338) 378 (15,256) 249 5,418
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to

owners of the parent (3,035) 379 (15,269) 169 4,958
Earning/(loss) per share attributable to

owners of the parent (RMB)® (0.62) 0.08 (3.14) 0.03 0.44
At 31 December
Cash and cash equivalents 1,987 1,655 3,451 1,735 3,078
Net current liabilities (24,588) (26,098) (43,458) (28,648) (27,184)
Non-current assets 51,725 57,949 62,652 64,988 91,254
Long term borrowings, including current portion (14,932) (14,675) (15,628) (16,928) (27,373)
Obligations under finance leases, including current

portion (11,949) (16,452) (20,809) (19,370) (19,208)
Total share capital and reserves attributable to the

owners of the parent 2,534 2,361 (13,097) 1,235 15,271

(1) The calculation of earnings/(loss) per share for 2006, 2007 and 2008 are based on the consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to the owners

of the parent and 4,866,950,000 shares in issue. The calculation of earnings per share for 2009 is based on the consolidated profit
attributable to the owners of the parent divided by the weighted average number of shares of 6,436,828,000; The calculation of earnings
per share for 2010 is based on the consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the parent divided by the weighted average number of
11,149,426,000 ordinary shares outstanding.

REVENUES OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)
(RMB millions) (RMB millions)
06 07 08 09 10 06 07 08 09 10

04 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited



Summary of Accounting and Business Data

(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

RMB million
Net profit 5,380
Income from main operations 12,454
Income from other operations 1,778
Income from investments 119
Net income outside business 959
MAJOR ACCOUNTING DATA & FINANCIAL INDICATORS
(Expressed in RMB Million)
2009 2010
1. Operation revenue 39,831.33 74,958.11
2. Net profit attributable to the owners of the parent 711.68 5,380.38
3. Total assets 72,018.68 100,810.12
4. Shareholders' equity 3,613.13 16,576.18
5. Earnings per share (RMB) 0.1 0.48
6. Net assets per share (RMB) 0.35 1.38

Notes:
1. Calculation of major financial indicators:

Earnings/(loss) per share = net profit/(loss) + weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

Net assets per share = shareholders’ equity at the end of the year + total number of ordinary shares at the end of the year
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Selected Operating Data

For the period

For the period

of 1 January of 1 January
2010 to 2009 to
31 December 31 December
2010 2009 Change
Capacity
ATK (available tonne - kilometres (millions) 17,887.36 12,505.53 43.04%
— Domestic routes 9,538.94 7,100.62 34.34%
— International routes 7,533.23 4,846.17 55.45%
— Regional routes 815.19 558.74 45.90%
ASK (available seat — kilometres) (millions) 119,450.88 84,456.39 41.43%
— Domestic routes 83,421.13 59,235.02 40.83%
— International routes 30,453.49 21,386.31 42.40%
— Regional routes 5,576.26 3,835.05 45.40%
AFTK (available freight tonne - kilometres) (millions) 7,136.78 4,904.46 45.52%
— Domestic routes 2,031.04 1,769.46 14.78%
— International routes 4,792.41 2,921.40 64.04%
— Regional routes 313.33 213.59 46.70%
Hours flown (thousands) 1,195.10 838.27 42.57%
Traffic
RTK (revenue tonne - kilometres) (millions) 12,598.98 7,908.69 59.31%
— Domestic routes 6,886.62 4,694.69 46.69%
— International routes 5,196.12 2,900.78 79.13%
— Regional routes 516.23 313.22 64.81%
RPK (revenue passenger — kilometres) (millions) 93,152.76 60,942.09 52.85%
— Domestic routes 66,309.84 44,375.70 49.43%
— International routes 22,769.29 13,993.70 62.71%
— Regional routes 4,073.63 2,572.69 58.34%
RFTK (revenue freight tonne - kilometres) (millions) 4,308.47 2,474.19 74.14%
— Domestic routes 980.43 733.13 33.73%
— International routes 3,172.67 1,656.19 91.56%
— Regional routes 155.37 84.88 83.05%
Number of passengers carried (thousands) 64,930.43 44,042.99 47.43%
— Domestic routes 55,456.27 37,984.73 46.00%
— International routes 6,600.72 4,173.07 58.17%
— Regional routes 2,873.45 1,885.19 52.42%
Weight of freight carried (kg) (millions) 1,464.91 943.89 55.20%
— Domestic routes 729.01 530.15 37.51%
— International routes 617.12 347.76 77.46%
— Regional routes 118.79 65.97 80.07%

06 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited



Selected Operating Data

For the period

For the period

of 1 January of 1 January
2010 to 2009 to
31 December 31 December
2010 2009 Change
Load factors
Overall load factor (%) 70.44 63.24 7.20 pts
— Domestic routes 72.19 66.12 6.07 pts
— International routes 68.98 59.86 9.12 pts
— Regional routes 63.33 56.06 7.27 pts
Passenger load factor (%) 77.98 72.16 5.82 pts
— Domestic routes 79.49 74.91 4.58 pts
— International routes 74.77 65.43 9.34 pts
— Regional routes 73.05 67.08 5.97 pts
Freight load factor (%) 60.37 50.45 9.92 pts
— Domestic routes 48.27 41.43 6.84 pts
— International routes 66.20 56.69 9.51 pts
— Regional routes 49.59 39.74 9.85 pts
Yields and costs
Revenue tonne - kilometres yield (RMB) 5.35 4.67 14.56%
— Domestic routes 6.30 5.30 18.87%
— International routes 3.87 3.47 11.53%
— Regional routes 7.52 6.32 18.99%
Passenger - kilometres yield (RMB) 0.63 0.54 16.67%
— Domestic routes 0.64 0.54 18.52%
— International routes 0.60 0.51 17.65%
— Regional routes 0.78 0.63 23.81%
Freight tonne - kilometres yield (RMB) 1.95 1.67 16.77%
— Domestic routes 1.28 1.13 13.27%
— International routes 2.04 1.78 14.61%
— Regional routes 4.54 4.13 9.93%

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited
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Milestones

January 2010

12th A capital increase agreement in respect of CEA
Jiangsu, a subsidiary of the Company, was
signed between the Company and Jiangsu
Provincial Government.

15th Successful trial flying of A330-300 aircraft on
the second runway of Honggiao Airport.

22nd A basket of programme of service security

provided to World Expo was launched by the | On 27 December, Ma Xulun, a Director and the President of the Company
Company (middle), who was back with honour from Beijing, was welcomed by Liu

’ Shaoyong, the chairman (left), and Li Jun, the vice chairman (right), at Honggiao
Airport for the top-class recognisation of the Company as an “Advanced
® February 2010 Conglomerate in Shanghai World Expo” (_E/&ttHiEe o E£E2) by the Central

Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council of China.

b

8th Convention of a conclusive meeting in respect
of the merger of the Company with Shanghai
Airlines.

March 2010 ¢

2nd Delivery of the first B777 cargo aircraft of
China Cargo Airlines.

08 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited
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April 2010

6th A strategic cooperation framework agreement was signed with
China Airlines of Taiwan.

16th The Group announced its intention to join Skyteam.

22nd Launch of “Mobile E” Mobile phone ticketing product.

26th Establishment of Sichuan branch of the Company in Chengdu.

29th Successful testing of China’s first batch of cargo under electronic cargo
carriage arrangement by China Cargo Airlines.

May 2010

28th A new operation qualification certificate was awarded by CAAC to &z
AR A 7] (Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd.).

July 2010

6th The Company signed an arrangement to become a global cooperation
partner of Xi'an World Gardening Expo 2011.

28th Inauguration ceremony of Eastern Airlines Yunnan Limited Corporation (“CEA
Yunnan”) was held in Kunming.

August 2010

The Company was granted the “Flying Safety Four-star Award” (FR7T%
200 #% ) by CAAC

September 2010

@ sth A strategic cooperation framework agreement was signed between the
Company and Shanghai Airport.

October 2010

Commencement of the inter-transfer arrangement for credits of frequent
flyer cards between the Company and _E/8 /22 B R /2 & (Shanghai Airlines
Co., Ltd.).

December 2010

The purchase by China Cargo Airlines of relevant cargo air transportation
assets of Shanghai Airlines and Great Wall Airlines, upon which the new
China Cargo Airlines became the largest cargo air transportation company in
the PRC.

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 09
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

| am pleased to present the report on the operating results of
China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2010. On behalf of all the staff of
the Group, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to the
shareholders for their support of the Group.

With the slow recovery of the global economy and the
continued strong growth of the Chinese economy, the global
civil aviation industry gradually emerged from the financial crisis
and resumed a steady uptrend in 2010. The strong growth in
demand for aviation services in China made the country the
fastest growing market in the global aviation industry during
the year 2010. The year 2010 was also an extremely important
year in the course of development of the Group. As a result
of industry wide improved performance and rapid growth,
the opportunities and synergies arising from the absorption of
Shanghai Airlines, and the benefits of the Shanghai World Expo,
the Group achieved record-level results compared with past
years.

In terms of passenger traffic, the Group (i) strengthened
and optimized transportation capacity; (ii) strengthened
management over transportation price rates and controls over
seating arrangements; (iii) enhanced services, by continuing
to upgrade service products such as pre-sale, transfer service,
business class experience, direct sale via our official website
and ticketing via mobile phones, so as to increase sales driven
by these products; and taking the opportunities brought by
the Shanghai World Expo to actively promote series specialty
products for the Shanghai World Expo so as to implement

our plan to boost revenue during the Shanghai World Expo;
(iv) strengthened channel management by staying close to
target customers and extending its marketing network to cover
each market segment; (v) strengthened strategic marketing of
frequent flyers and corporate customers by launching various
e-commerce services including payment by credit card for major
customers and sales of transfer service via our official website,
in order to increase direct sales; (vi) strengthened data analysis
to understand the rhythm of the market and promote precise
marketing.

In 2010, the Group strenuously fostered the construction of
its hub network. As of the end of 2010, the “three-in-three-
out” flight frequency, namely morning, afternoon and evening,
had been initially established by the Group at Pudong Airport,
achieving bilateral connection of flights for over 25 domestic
cities.

As of the end of 2010, Eastern Miles, the frequent flyer program
of the Group, had approximately 11.88 million members and
established co-operative relationships with global partners from
the aviation, hotel, banking, car rental, catering, magazine and
travel industries.

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 11



In terms of freight transport, the Group made an effort to
improve daily utilization rate, freight load factor and on-time
arrival rate of our aircraft. By taking innovative marketing
measures, the Group kicked off its whole year pre-sale and
online direct sale, and worked out a system of bundled sale for
inbound and outbound flights in response to the fluctuation
of demand between peak and low seasons for freight
transportation. A number of truck flights had been added
to expand our marketing network. The Group also operated
in association with speed-post agencies. In addition, the
integration of the operation and management of the freight
businesses of the Group and Shanghai Airlines was completed.
Integration with KM EER A A (Great Wall Airlines)

("Great Wall Airlines”) made steady progress.

In terms of costs, the Group actively adjusted its debt structure
to control the scale of its loans and seek favorable interest
rates. In addition, centralized procurement management was
reinforced, maintenance costs were strictly controlled, route
structure was continually optimised and fuel saving measures
were generally implemented. By creating synergies from the
integration with Shanghai Airlines, strictly managing budget
and implementing process control, the Group controlled costs

at full-scale level and in all aspects.

In terms of brand building, the Group focused on service quality
to build up its brand image. In conjunction with serving the
Shanghai World Expo, the Group launched a World Expo series
of products and enhanced its capability and quality of full-range
services. The Group also organized promotional activities for
better brand recognition in a systematic and comprehensive
way. It also participated in charitable activities in order to
further promote its brand image. The Group rolled out its large-
scale charitable activities named “Love at Eastern Airlines”,
which fully exemplified the Group’s image of upholding social

responsibilities.

12 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

In terms of information technology, the Group optimised its
infrastructure and communication network for production
operation needs. Through its e-commerce website, flight control
system and passenger self-service system, the Group provided
better support for marketing and passenger service, and
enhanced its operating efficiency and management capability.

The Group's social responsibilities cover economic, social and
environmental aspects. The Group actively participated in
disaster-relief actions and provided urgent transportation in
disasters such as the Yushu earthquake, Zhouqu debris flow
disaster, drought fighting in southwestern China, and flood
fighting in Gandong, to discharge its social responsibilities.
The Group strictly complied with and implemented relevant
regulation governing environmental protection and energy
conservation and emission reduction, and will strengthen
its energy management, foster energy savings and emission
reduction as its key approaches to enhancing core competence,
advocate the concept of “green flying” in an attempt to
create a resources-conservative and environmentally-friendly
enterprise and effectively press ahead the healthy development
of the Group.

OUTLOOK FOR 2011

The Group would like to caution readers of this report that
the operations of the Company as an air transport enterprise
that performs public service functions is linked closely to the
development of the political and economic situations, both
internationally and locally. As such, the operation of the Group
and of the whole sector is, to a significant extent, subject
to the risks associated with geopolitics and the incidence of
unexpected events.

The 2010 annual results announcement of the Group includes
(but is not limited to) certain forward-looking statements, such
as those on the economies of the world including the PRC,
and the aviation market. Such forward-looking statements are
subject to many uncertainties and risks.



Chairman’s Statement

In 2011, the global economy is expected to maintain its slow
recovery with a weak foundation. The overall economic situation
of China is still very complicated and both opportunities and
challenges for China’s economic development exist. In 2011,
the key target of China’s economic and social development
is expected to be a gross domestic product growth of about
8%. Rapid and stable economic growth will create a favorable
operating environment for the Group. The aviation industry of
the PRC has entered a new upward cycle. For a certain period
of time, the aviation industry of the PRC will continue to benefit
from the favorable factors under the robust demand. From the
perspective of the Group, the upward cycle of the civil aviation
industry and the continual growth of household income in
the PRC will drive up consumption level and upgrade demand
for aviation. Additionally, the integration of the Yangtze River
Delta, the expedition of the progress of the development of
western China, the strategic positioning of Shanghai as an
international financial centre and an international shipping
centre, the increasingly enriched tourist resources in Shanghai
and local governments’ support for and development of the
aviation industry will also contribute to favorable conditions for
the development of the Group. In 2011, the operating targets
of the Group are to achieve total traffic volume of 13,880
million tonne-kilometres, number of passenger carried of
70.862 million and weight of freight to be transported of 1.627
million tonnes.

In 2011, the Group will also face a series of challenges: the
impact of the “four-vertical and four-horizontal” express
passenger railway network on the Group’s domestic routes;
the competition arising from the trend towards oligopoly and
forging of alliances on the international market which will
have impact on the Group’s international routes; the potential
shortage of air-space resources in the PRC and the pressure
created by high oil prices, high inflation and economic and
trade disputes.

Based on the initial formulation of its overall strategic planning
for the next five years, in line with its strategic targets for 2011
and by implementing such strategies, the Group has clearly
defined its focus on the following aspects in 2011:

1. Refine its safety system and enhance the quality of safety;
2. Enhance competitiveness and improve profitability;

3. Intensify the structural adjustment in respect of four areas
including its fleet, resources allocation, route network and
assets and liabilities, and strengthen its cost control;

4. Upgrade service quality and brand image, which will
include making of client-oriented “precise” services,
delivery of “fine” services through increased investment
into fixed assets and provision of “detailed” services
under a quality service system;

5. Solidify reform and restructuring and motivate all staff
members;

6. Establish its product system and build up competitive
advantage.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”), | would like to express my gratitude to all of the
shareholders.

Liu Shaoyong
Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
30 March 2011

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 13
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Ma Xulun | Director and President
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Review of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In 2010, the Group completed (i) the purchase and finance-
lease of a total of 25 aircraft, including fourteen A320
aircraft, three A321 aircraft, five B737-700 and three B737-
800 aircraft; (ii) the operating-lease of fourteen aircraft,
including ten B737-800 aircraft and four B777F aircraft; (iii)
the disposal of fifteen aircraft, including surrender of the
lease of two A320 aircraft, one B737-300 aircraft and three
MD11F aircraft, and sale of nine MD90 aircraft. As at 31
December 2010, the Group operated a fleet of 355 aircraft,
including 337 passenger aircraft and 18 freighters.

In 2010, the Group operated approximately 9,600 scheduled
flights per week, to a total of 30 countries and regions serving
182 domestic and foreign cities. In addition, the Group was
able to provide more comprehensive air transportation services
to major markets around the world through international
cooperation efforts, such as code sharing and special prorate
agreements, or SPA, etc.. According to statistics of the Civil
Aviation Administration of China (“CAAC"), the on-time arrival
rate of the Group’s flights was approximately 79.04% in the
year, ranking the Group No. 1 among the civil aviation operators
in the PRC for three consecutive years.

The Group is based in Shanghai. In 2010, the Group accounted
for 54% and 39.2% of the market share at Honggiao Airport
and Pudong Airport, respectively, in terms of flight take-off
and landing statistics, and accounted for 52.2% and 37.9%
of the market share at Honggiao Airport and Pudong Airport,
respectively, in terms of passenger throughput. In 2010,
the Group’s daily average utilization rate of aircraft was 9.7
hours, representing an increase of 0.3 hours compared to the
corresponding period in 2009.

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 15



REVIEW OF OPERATING RESULTS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together
with our audited financial statements and the accompanying
notes prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS") that are included elsewhere in
this annual report. The financial data presented in this section
are derived from our audited financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS.

Operational Revenues

In 2010, the Group's revenue was RMB73,804 million,
representing an increase of 89.29% from the same period in the
previous year. Transportation revenue amounted to RMB67,391
million, representing an increase of 82.51% from the same
period in the previous year. In 2010, the Group’s total traffic
volume was 12,599 million tonne-kilometres, representing an
increase of 59.31% from the same period in the previous year.
The increase was mainly due to the slow recovery of the global
economy and robust demand for aviation services as a result
of the rapid growth of the Chinese economy, the substantial
increase in the Group's scale of operation subsequent to the
absorption of Shanghai Airlines, the impetus created by the
Shanghai World Expo and the enhancement of our marketing
capabilities.

The Group’s passenger revenues amounted to RMB58,968
million in 2010, representing an increase of 79.78% over the
same period in the previous year, and accounting for 87.5% of
the Group's traffic revenues in 2010. The volume of passenger
traffic was 93,153 million passenger-kilometres, representing a
52.85% increase compared to the same period in the previous
year. The increase was primarily due to the robust demand in
the aviation market, the marketing activities launched by the
Company to closely reflect market demand, and the increase in

16 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

the passenger load factor and ticket price levels as a result of

the absorption of Shanghai Airlines.

The Group’s domestic passenger traffic volume was 66,310
million passenger-kilometres, representing a 49.43% increase
compared to the same period in the previous year. Compared
to the same period in the previous year, revenues increased by
75.32% to RMB42,143 million, accounting for 71.47% of the
Group's passenger revenues.

The passenger traffic volume on the Group’s international
routes was 22,769 million passenger kilometres, representing
a 62.71% increase compared to the same period in the
previous year. Compared to the same period in the previous
year, revenues increased by 91.36% to RMB13,650 million,
accounting for 23.15% of the Group’s passenger revenues.

The passenger traffic volume on the Group’s regional routes
was 4,074 million passenger-kilometres, representing a 58.34%
increase compared to the same period in the previous year.
Compared to the same period in the previous year, revenues
increased by 94.83% to RMB3,176 million, accounting for
5.39% of the Group's passenger revenues.

In 2010, the Group’s cargo and mail traffic revenues increased
by 104.24% to RMB8,423 million compared to the same period
in the previous year, accounting for 12.50% of the Group's
traffic revenues in 2010. The cargo and mail traffic volume was
4,308 million tonne-kilometres, representing a 74.14% increase
compared to the same period in the previous year. The increase
was mainly due to the continued growth for import and export
trade, the Company’s enhanced capability in understanding
market trends through market analysis, the enhanced operating
efficiency of the Company, and the active development and
improvement of its business cooperation with third parties.



Review of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Operating expenses

In 2010, the Group's total operating costs was RMB68,765
million, representing an increase of 78.81% from the same
period in the previous year. This was mainly attributable to
the expansion in the operating scale of the Company upon
the absorption of Shanghai Airlines, and the growth in costs
resulting from the substantial increase in aviation fuel prices.

In 2010, the Group recorded substantial increases in aircraft
take-off and landing fees, depreciation and amortization,
wages, salaries and benefit expenses, maintenance costs, aircraft
operating lease expenses and other operating lease expenses,
which were primarily due to the expansion of the Company’s
scale upon the absorption of Shanghai Airlines.

Analysis of the changes in other items under operating costs of
the Group is set out as follows:

Expenditure on aviation fuel was RMB21,606 million,
representing an increase of 76.3% compared to the same period
in the previous year. This was mainly due to the expansion of the
Company’s scale and an increase of 20% in the average price
of aviation fuel compared to the same period in the previous
year. The Group's total aviation fuel consumption in 2010 was
approximately 3.85 million tonnes, representing an increase of
46.39% compared to the same period in the previous year. In
2010, aviation fuel expenditures accounted for 31.42% of the
Group's total operating costs.

Office, administration and other operating expenses were
RMB7,284 million, representing an increase of 94.14% over the
same period in the previous year, primarily due to an increase
in non-aviation transportation expenses upon the absorption of
Shanghai Airlines.

Impairment losses for assets amounted to RMB405 million,
representing an increase of 271.56% over the same period
in the previous year. This was primarily due to impairment

provisions made in respect of certain aircraft and relevant assets
held for sale.

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB3,324 million,
representing an increase of 68.05% over the same period in the
previous year. This was mainly due to increases in sales volume
and selling prices, which increased handling fees of sales agents.

Food and beverage expenses were RMB1,596 million,
representing an increase of 32.89% compared to the same
period in the previous year. This was primarily due to the growth
in passenger volumes and increases in food-related price levels.
However, as a result of the Company’s stringent controls over
its procurement costs for food and beverage items and other
supplies, the change in the unit cost of food and beverage items
and other supplies was not significant in 2010 and the increase
in such costs was lower than the increase in revenue.

The amount of civil aviation infrastructure levies payable to
CAAC amounted to RMB1,296 million, representing an increase
of 45.62% compared to the same period in the previous year,
which was primarily due to the growth in take-offs and landings
as a result of the increase in transportation capacity.

Ground services and other charges were RMB440 million,
representing an increase of 51.72% over the same period in the
previous year, which was primarily due to the substantial growth
in passenger and freight traffic volumes.

Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments
was RMB833 million, compared to RMB3,775 million during
the same period in the previous year. It was mainly due to the
reversal of the fair value of crude oil option contracts resulting
from the surge of international crude oil prices in 2009, whereas
international oil prices in 2010 were relatively stable and the
magnitude of reversal of fair value of crude oil option contract
were less significant. In 2010, the net gain on change in fair
value of crude oil option contracts (inclusive of the factor of cash
outflow upon settlement) was approximately RMB800 million.

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010 17



)

Other operating income

The Group’'s other operating income primarily includes
government subsidies. Other operating income decreased
from RMB1,288 million in 2009 to RMB659 million in 2010,
primarily due to the refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies
of approximately RMB832 million in 2009.

Finance income/costs

In 2010, the Group's finance income was RMB1,155 million,
primarily due to the increase in exchange gain resulting from
the appreciation of Renminbi against US dollars. Finance costs
were RMB1,502 million, and the decrease was mainly due to
improvement of asset structure and the reduction in LIBOR rate.

Profit

As a result of the above, the Group’s profit attributable
to owners of the parent in 2010 was RMB4,958 million,
representing a 2,833.73% increase as compared to the Group's
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profit attributable to owners of the parent of RMB169 million for
the same period in the previous year.

Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group generally finances its working capital requirements
through its business operations and short-term bank loans. As
of 31 December 2009 and 2010, the Group's cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB1,735 million and RMB3,078
million respectively. In 2009 and 2010, the net cash generated
from the Group's operating activities amounted to RMB3,429
million and RMB10,641 million, respectively. In 2010, the
basic cash requirements of the Group other than for operating
costs were for the purchase and upgrade of aircraft and flight
equipment, and for payment of related indebtedness. In 2009
and 2010, net cash used in the Group’s investing activities were
RMB7,236 million and RMB8,633 million. The net cash inflow
from the Group’s financing activities in 2009 was RMB2,086
million, mainly from bank loans and the issuance of new shares.
The net cash outflow from the Group’s financing activities in
2010 was RMB652 million.




Review of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The Group generally operates with net current liabilities. As at
31 December 2010, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by RMB27,184 million. The Group has been and
believes it will continue to be capable of financing its working
capital by obtaining borrowings from domestic and foreign
banks.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of its gearing ratio,
which is calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. As
at 31 December 2010, the gearing ratio was 0.84.

As of 31 December 2009 and 2010, the total amount of
the Group's short-term loans were RMB8,407 million and
RMB11,193 million respectively, and the Group’s long-term
loans were RMB16,928 million and RMB27,373 million,
respectively. As of 31 December 2009, the Group’s long-term
loans payable within two years, from three to five years and
beyond five years were RMB6,637 million, RMB6,166 million
and RMB4,125 million, respectively, as compared to RMB12,180
million, RMB8,672 million and RMB6,521 million respectively, as
of 31 December 2010.

The Group's obligations under finance leases as of 31 December
2009 and 2010 were RMB19,370 million and RMB19,208
million, respectively. As of 31 December 2009, the Group’s
lease obligations payable within two years, from three to five
years and beyond five years were RMB4,219 million, RMB6,785
million and RMB8&,366 million, respectively, as compared to
RMB4,381 million, RMB6,889 million and RMB7,939 miillion, as
of 31 December 2010.

The Group generally finances its purchase of aircraft through
finance leases and bank loans secured by its assets. As of 31
December 2010, the total value of the Group’s mortgaged
assets under certain loan agreements amounted to RMB20,800
million, representing an increase of 52.07% from RMB13,678
million as at the end of 2009.

As of 31 December 2010, the Group's loans comprised USD-
denominated loans of USD3,333 million, and RMB-denominated
loans of RMB16,494 million. Fixed-rate loans accounted for
16.80% of the total loans, and floating-rate loans account
for 83.2% of the total loans. As of 31 December 2009, the
Group'’s loans comprised USD-denominated loans of USD1,927
million, Euro-denominated loans of Euro12 million and RMB-
denominated loans of RMB12,064 million. Fixed-rate loans
accounted for 10% of the total loans, and floating-rate loans
account for 90% of the total loans.

As of 31 December 2010, the Group's obligations under finance
leases comprised USD-denominated obligations of USD2,534
million, RMB-denominated obligations of RMB1,435 million
and Singapore dollar-denominated obligations of 194 million
Singapore dollars. The Group's finance leases are floating-rate
obligations. As of 31 December 2009, the Group's obligations
under finance leases comprised USD-denominated obligations of
UsD2,578 million, RMB-denominated obligations of RMB1,765
million. Fixed-rate obligations accounted for 0.7% of the total
obligations under finance leases, and floating-rate obligations
accounted for 99.3% of the total obligations under finance
leases.

Details of the acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies in 2010 are set out in item 1 in the
session headed “Significant Events” in the Report of Directors.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

According to the contracted agreements, as at 31 December
2010, we expect our capital expenditures for aircraft, engines
and related equipment to be in aggregate approximately
RMB96,263 million, including RMB16,671 million in 2011 and
RMB21,733 million in 2012, in each case subject to contractually
stipulated increase or any increase relating to inflation. We plan
to finance our capital commitments through a combination
of funds generated from operation, existing credit facilities,
bank loans, leasing arrangements and other external financing
arrangement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are
reflective of significant judgments and uncertainties and
potentially result in materially different results under different
assumptions and conditions.

Our audited consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS. Our principal accounting
policies are set forth in Note 2 to our audited consolidated
financial statements. IFRS requires that we adopt the accounting
policies and make estimates that our Directors believe are most
appropriate in the circumstances for the purposes of giving a
true and fair view of our results and financial position. However,
different policies, estimates and assumptions in critical areas
could lead to materially different results. The critical accounting
policies adopted and estimates made in the preparation of these
financial statements are identified are set forth in Note 4 to our
audited consolidated financial statements.

RISK ANALYSIS
e Interest rate fluctuation risk

The Group's total interest-bearing liabilities (including long-
term and short-term loans and finance leases payable) as
of 31 December 2009 and 2010 were RMB44,705 million
and RMB57,774 million, respectively, of which short-term
liabilities accounted for 32.34% and 30.03% respectively,
and part of the long-term interest-bearing liabilities were
liabilities with variable interest rates. Both were affected by
the fluctuation in current market interest rates.

The Group's interest-bearing liabilities were mainly
denominated in US dollars and Renminbi. As of 31
December 2009 and 2010, the Group’s liabilities
denominated in US dollars accounted for 68.81% and
67.18% of the total liabilities respectively, while the
liabilities denominated in Renminbi accounted for 30.94%
and 31.03% of the total liabilities respectively. The
fluctuations in the US dollar and the Renminbi interest
rates affected the Group’s finance costs to a greater
extent.
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Exchange rate fluctuation risk

Since 21 July 2005, the Chinese government reformed
the Renminbi exchange rate system and established a
floating exchange rate system in which the exchange
rate would be adjusted and managed based on market
supply and demand with reference to a basket of foreign
currencies. The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is
affected by the domestic and international economy, the
political situation and the currency supply and demand
of the currency, and thus the Renminbi exchange rate in
the future may therefore be different from the current
exchange rate to a greater extent.

The Group operates its business in many countries and
territories. The Group generates its revenue in different
currencies, and its foreign currency liabilities at the end of
the period are much higher than its foreign currency assets.
The Group’s major liability item (purchases or leases of
aircraft) is mainly priced and settled in currencies such as
US dollars. In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates will
affect the Group’s costs incurred from foreign purchases
such as aircraft, flight equipment and aviation fuel, and
take-off and landing charges in foreign airports. As of
31 December 2010, the Group’s total interest-bearing
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies converted to
Renminbi amounted to RMB39,845 million, of which the
US dollar liabilities accounted for 97.41%. Therefore, in
circumstances with large fluctuations in exchange rates,
the exchange loss arising on the translation of foreign
currency denominated liabilities will be greater, which
in turn affects the profitability and development of the
Group. The Group usually uses hedging contracts for
foreign currencies to reduce the risks in exchange rates for
foreign currency revenue from ticket sales and expenses
which are to be paid in foreign currencies. Foreign
currency hedging mainly involves the sales of Japanese
Yen or the purchase of US dollars at fixed exchange rates.
As of 31 December 2010, the foreign currency hedging
contracts held by the Group which are still open amounted
to a notional amount of US$48 million (31 December
2009: US$82 million), which will expire between 2011 and
2017.

The Group recorded an increase in net exchange gains
during the reporting period. As of 31 December 2009
and 2010, the Group’s exchange gains were RMB95
million and RMB1,075 million, respectively. Due to the
large value of existing net foreign currency liabilities,
the Group's results will be adversely affected if the
Renminbi depreciates against the US dollar or the rate
of appreciation of the Renminbi against the US dollar
decreases in the future.



Review of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

e Risk associated with the fluctuation of fuel
prices

Aviation fuel is one of the Group’s major costs of
operations. The Group’s results of operations are to a
great extent affected by the fluctuation of fuel prices.
International fuel prices are mainly affected by the supply
and demand in the global market, and domestic fuel prices
are under supervision by such authorities as the National
Development and Reform Commission and CAAC. The
Group generally alleviates the pressure from the rise in
operating costs arising from the increase in aviation fuel by
imposing fuel surcharges.

In order to control fuel costs, the Group entered into fuel
hedging transactions using financial derivative products
linked to the price of underlying assets such as United
States WTI crude oil and Singapore jet fuel during previous
years. The Group can therefore limit its costs within a price
range by selecting suitable instruments. However, in case
of sharp fluctuation in aviation fuel prices, which exceeds
the pre-determined price range, it will give rise to loss in
reality as well as on books.

As of 31 December 2010, if the price of crude oil
increases by 5% as compared to the closing price on 31
December 2010, the fair value gain in respect of crude
oil option contracts on 31 December 2010 will increase
by approximately RMB24 million; if the price of crude oil
decreases by 5% as compared to the closing price on 31
December 2010, the fair value gain in respect of crude oil
option contracts on 31 December 2010 will decrease by
approximately RMB88 million.

In 2009 and 2010, the actual settlement volumes in
respect of hedging as a proportion to fuel consumption
in the whole year were 52.59% and 28.2% respectively.
In 2010, the Group did not enter into any new crude oil
option contracts. Those already signed in past years will be
settled by 31 December 2011.

POLICY IMPACT

On 13 April 2010, CAAC and the National Development and
Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of China (“NDRC")
jointly issued the (BIRARMBIAMGIESMS - AHEREESR
FARIREA)@AN) (Notice Regarding Prices for First-class Tickets
and Business Class Tickets on Domestic Civil Aviation Routes)
(hereinafter referred to as the (“Notice”). Pursuant to the
Notice, with effect from 1 June 2010, market-adjusted pricing
would be applied for first-class and business class tickets on
domestic civil aviation routes, the exact prices of which will
be determined by the respective carriers. On 2 July 2010, the
Group officially announced the new pricing proposal in respect
of its first-class and business class tickets on its domestic routes.
In future, the Group will also fine-tune the prices for its first and
business classes on a reasonable, appropriate and timely basis,
in accordance with market demand, nature of routes, price
sensitivity and competitive environment.

On 23 April 2010, the Ministry of Finance of China and the State
Administration of Taxation issued the (BERBIREHLEE
IE2EFI RSB (Notice Regarding Exemption from Business
Tax for International Transportation and Services). Since the
passenger and freight transportation businesses of the Group
on international routes are within the applicable scope of such
notice, the revenue from the Group’s passengers and freight
transportation business on international routes are exempt from
business tax with effect from 1 January 2010.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2010, the Group had 57,096 employees,
the majority of whom worked in the PRC. The Group's
employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary
and performance-based bonus. There were no material labor
disputes between the Group and its employees and the Group
did not experience a significant loss of employees or encounter
any major difficulties in recruiting new employees.

TAXATION

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 22%
(2009: 20%). Our effective tax rate, however, may be higher
than the rate of 22% because some of our subsidiaries were
incorporated in jurisdictions where the applicable income tax
rate is 25% rather than 22%. We had carried forward tax losses
of approximately RMB9,855 million as of 31 December 2010
(2009: RMB 16,223 million), which can be used to set off against
future taxable income between 2011 and 2014.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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The Board is pleased to present the audited financial report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

GROUP ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS

The Company is one of the three largest air carriers in the PRC based on tonnekilometres
and number of passengers carried in 2010 and is the important local-based airlines
serving Shanghai, the “International Financial Centre” and the “International Shipping
Centre" of the PRC. The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
and the financial position of the Company and the Group as at that date, prepared
in accordance with IFRS and PRC Accounting Standards, are set out in the financial
statements.

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements of the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The geographical analysis of the Group's revenue from its business is as follows:

EEeRREAEHBE_ZT—ZTFE+_A
=T —RLEFE  KERZPBHRE -

EL ESVISES

BRE-_Z-ZFWMRAEHEBRIERT A
H ARARPE=ZFREAMZERAZ— A
HRRBN LS BEESF SO I F[ B ATE S
D ERNBEEMMZENRF - AEBIZERIK
BEERHEARAMBSAERRRZBE
—E-TFEA _A=FT—HUEFEFRE kAR
RIEAREBNZ B ZMBIN - F2HBERE -

BRARRZEEMBARZFHE  F2HAE
BIRE B A T R RIR B BA TS R AR 22 ©

TRINBAEEZ R EERA

PRC Accounting

Standards IFRS
rhEE A REFE 3] PR B 7
xR wELER
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFIT AR%TT
Domestic M A 51,060,489 49,692,210
Regional (Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan) S (RS ) 3,900,952 3,900,952
International B R 19,996,667 20,210,497
Total 4=t 74,958,108 73,803,659

DIVIDENDS BRE

According to the financial statements prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting
Standards, the Company recorded a net profit of RMB5,380 million for the year 2010,
and the total accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 December 2010 amounted
to RMB11,352 million. The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2010, the share capital structure of the Company is set out as
follows:

BIE A EE AR LA B & 51 228 4R BLA B 75 TR -
RAR ZT—TFEFHEAARES3.80ET -
HE-_T-—ZTF+_A=1+—0 ZHEEAA
RE13521BT - EFEREBTREHEZE-_Z—F
F+-A=+—BILHNEERE -

RAELGE

HE T -ZF+ _A=+t—"HEARAREKEE
LU

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares shareholding (%)
% 17 4R 2 #4h B R L 51(%)

1. Ashares AR%
(a) Listed shares with trading moratorium (@) BREEEtRBR 5,120,263,860 45.41
(b) Listed shares without trading moratorium ~ (b) PR & {547 AR 2,661,950,000 23.60
2. Hshares H A% 3,494,325,000 30.99
3. Total number of shares &7 48 RE 11,276,538,860 100.00
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NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2010, the total number of registered shareholders of the Company
was 270,738, of which 270,041 are holders of A shares and 697 are holders of H
shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are aware, each of the
following persons, not being a Director, chief executive, supervisor of the Company
or member of the Company's senior management, had, as at 31 December 2010, an
interest and/or short position in the Company’s shares or underlying shares (as the case
may be) which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), or was otherwise, as
at 31 December 2010, interested in 5% or more of any class of the then issued share
capital of the Company, or was otherwise, as at 31 December 2010, a substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) of the Company:

Percentage of

RERABE

R-ZB—FF+_R=+—08 ' ARAZETEM
HBCR 8 80/5270,738 5 » A ARRALER270,0415
HAR A 3R697F o

FERR

BARRESZ((EE DM U TRLIEARF
B THAH BEEREMEEAR MR-
E-ZFEF A=+ HEARARMH KA
Befn (R FIE R M E ) 5 A R IR R 7 RS 5B
([BERBEGESG ) EXVEE 2R3N FARAR
ARERMERIAERAR([BRA ) RER
RARB MR R SABMAL  SHEMR
Z—TE+ - A=+ —HEARAERKE[ER
BETRAFFAS%HIA LEEH AL  HARE
RZE-ZF+ A=+ HANHEMBTERRCE
BEREEMERIMERATFESF MR £
wmARR)) :

Percentage of Percentage of

shareholding in shareholding in shareholding in
the Company’s the Company’s the Company’s

Nature of Number of total issued total issued total issued
Name of shareholders shares held shares held  share capital A shares H shares Short position
ERTERET CRITAREH CRITHREH
RERER vgrikball Pk RE 9 B E L 51 9 B RE L 51 9 B RE L 51 wRE
China Eastern Air Holding Company A shares 4,831,375,000 42.84% 62.08% - -
("CEA Holding")
PER A MZEEE AR A%
(IRAEE])
CEA Holding (Note 1) H shares 1,927,375,000 17.09% - 55.16% -
R (FraE1) HA%
HKSCC Nominees Limited H shares 3,474,568,399 30.81% - 99.43% -
(Notes 2 to 3)
BEPREE(REBA)ERAA HAxX
(HizF223)
Notes: Wizt -

REEFR —F—FF+ = A=+ —AHEEOLH (B
IR EE BRI S AAT L AR ERL) RIBE A R
—F-FFIAZFA

Based on the information available to the Directors as at 31 December 2010 (including such
information as was available on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and so far as they
are aware of and understand, as at 31 December 2010:

ZFEHIR R B R EIBR R (B8 ) B IR 2 5] ([ R
BB U B BEBANG GI5H  MRMEELE
BRABIE100% 155 -

1. Such H shares were held by AR BB 2% (BE) B R 22 7] (CES Global Holdings (Hong 1.
Kong) Limited) (“CES Global”), in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was
100% held by CEA Holding.

BEEFREE(REAN)BERAAFEHN
3,474,568,399 & HEE . + 1,927,375,000 88 HAR (15 7K 2
A& E BITHAR 4B 80 4955.16% ) Fi R AT BT X A &
B BABGNIFE MRS E ARG A EIER
100%# 7= °

2. Among the 3,474,568,399 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited, 1,927,375,000 H 2.
shares (representing approximately 55.16% of the Company’s then total issued H shares)
were held by CES Global in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was owned as to
100% by CEA Holding.
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3 Among the 3,474,568,399 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited, JPMorgan Chase
& Co. had, through controlled corporations, an interest in an aggregate of 211,087,976 H
shares (representing approximately 6.04% of the Company’s then total issued H shares).
JPMorgan Chase & Co. had interest in the aforesaid 211,087,976 H shares of the Company
in manner as follows:

(@) 233,976 H shares (representing approximately 0.01% of the Company’s then total
issued H shares) were held by J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. in the capacity of beneficial
owner, which in turn was 98.95% held by J.P. Morgan Chase International Holdings,
which in turn was 100% J.P. Morgan Chase (UK) Holdings Limited, which in turn
was 100% held by J.P. Morgan Capital Holdings Limited, which in turn was 100%
held by J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited, which in turn was 100% held by
Bank One International Holdings Corporation, which in turn was 100% held by J.P.
Morgan International Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase & Co.;

(b) 60,732,000 H shares (representing approximately 1.74% of the Company’s then
total issued H shares) were held by JF Asset Management Limited in the capacity of
investment manager, which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Asset Management
(Asia) Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings
Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase & Co.;

(c) 98,500,000 H shares (representing approximately 2.82% of the Company’s then
total issued H shares) were held by JPMorgan Asset Management (Singapore) Limited
in the capacity of investment manager, which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan
Asset Management (Asia) Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Asset
Management Holdings Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase & Co.;
and

(d) 51,622,000 H shares (representing approximately 1.48% of the Company’s then
total issued H shares) were held in lending pool by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. in
the capacity of approved lending agent, which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan
Chase & Co..

4. Among the 3,474,568,399 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited, JPMorgan Chase
& Co. also had, through controlled corporations, a short position in an aggregate of
233,976 H shares (representing approximately 0.01% of the Company’s then total issued
H shares). Such short position of 233,976 H shares were held by J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd.
in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was 98.95% held by J.P. Morgan Chase
International Holdings, which in turn was 100% J.P. Morgan Chase (UK) Holdings Limited,
which in turn was 100% held by J.P. Morgan Capital Holdings Limited, which in turn was
100% held by J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited, which in turn was 100% held by
Bank One International Holdings Corporation, which in turn was 100% held by J.P. Morgan
International Inc., which in turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., which in
turn was 100% held by JPMorgan Chase & Co..

Save as disclosed above, based on the information available to the Directors and so far
as they are aware, as at 31 December 2010, among the 3,474,568,399 H shares held
by HKSCC Nominees Limited, no other person had any interest or short position in the
Company's shares or underlying shares (as the case may be) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

3. HEEBPRGE(REAN)BRRAFAH

3,474,568, 399RHEZH + JPMorgan Chase & Co. 3B 15
FEEFEE A #£211,087,976 8 HAR (1HE RA R Al &
5B %1 THAR A28 #76.04% ) ° JPMorgan Chase & Co.#%
T3 A A 211,087,976 BRHAR HE 25 -

(@)  233976/KHIR (1HE KA L 7] 2 i B #FITHAR
ABE1470.01% ) F1.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. LA &
wEBAGGFE - & #).P. Morgan Chase
International Holdingst$7%98.95% * 1% & HiJ.P.
Morgan Chase (UK) Holdings Limited#$ & 100% -
%2 H).P. Morgan Capital Holdings Limitedf&%
100% - 744 £3).P. Morgan International Finance
Limited#5 7 100% * 1% F1Bank One International
Holdings Corporation# & 100% - 4 & HiJ.P.
Morgan International Inc.#% 4 100% - 1 & /£
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.F55100% @ #£% &
JPMorgan Chase & Co.757 100%;

(b)  60,732,000f%HAR (FEE AR A E I E #7TH
JRAAZ(#71.74% ) H1JF Asset Management Limited
LR EAIE G (775 F - 184 HJPMorgan Asset
Management (Asia) Inc. 7 /& 100% ~ # & f#
JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc.#5%4
100% - 7% F3)PMorgan Chase & Co.#575 100%,

() 98500,00082HAR (1AE AL B E I E ETTH
fRAB21#92.82% ) F1)PMorgan Asset Management
(Singapore) Limited A& E4AETE G 17157 + &
Z H1JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc.3%
H100% * 1% H1JPMorgan Asset Management
Holdings Inc.757% 100% * 17 HJPMorgan Chase
& Co.#5H100% : K

(d)  51,622,00002HER (1HE AR A E 5 E #77H
FRAB21%471.48% ) 1JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.LX
BREEAREG B EABELRG - £
H1JPMorgan Chase & Co.#5 5 100% °

4. HEEBPTRGE(REAN)BERRAFAFH

3,474,568,39988HAZ  + JPMorgan Chase & Co.i5i8%
B HEE R B KB E 233,976 RHAR (1 E RA R
A& IS B B ITHIRABARA10.01% ) ° 3% 5K B 233,976
JRHAZH).P. Morgan Securities Ltd. A Bz #E A A 5 17
#575 + & H1).P. Morgan Chase International Holdings
F5498.95% * #£7 H).P. Morgan Chase (UK) Holdings
Limited#5B100% * %2 H1).P. Morgan Capital Holdings
Limited# 7 100% - &4 .J.P. Morgan International
Finance Limited#%7 100% * 742 HBank One International
Holdings Corporation#5% 100% * &% 1J.P. Morgan
International Inc.#575100% * # Z H1JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A.#$5100% %2 F3JPMorgan Chase & Co.7%
£100% °

B EMFTEZEIN  REESESNERRRES
- RZE—ZF+-_RA=+—0  &&F 5+
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According to the relevant disclosure requirements laid down by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (“CSRC"), as at the end of the reporting period, the 10 largest
registered shareholders and the 10 largest registered listed stock shareholders on the
register of members the Company and their respective shareholdings are as follows:

The 10 largest registered shareholders of the Company and their respective

shareholdings:

RIEH BESE
BRBERTE  ®E

EERZEE((hERER )Y
WEEF - ADABERRES

TiFA11048 504 AR 3R K2 AT 1044 RE B it B A 1) PR SR #55 AR

AT

ARRABNOB B BRRFFIFTR -

Increase/
(Decrease) in  Shareholding Charged or
shareholding ~ atthe end of  Percentage locked-up  Nature of
Name of shareholders in the year the year (%)  Type of shares shares  shares held
B
FR 41]] REER
BRRERE FERNER KREE (%) BRGER ROBE ROMES
1 CEA Holding 0  4,831,375,000 42.84  Listed (all subject to Nil A shares (subject to
HERE moratorium) i3 moratorium)
B (2 AR ARR(FRE)
(9
2 HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 3,498,360 3,474,568,399 30.81  Listed (1,437,375,000 Unknown  H shares (1,437,375,000
(including CES Global) shares held by CES R shares held by CES
HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED Global are subject to Global are subject to
(EEMBEE) moratorium) moratorium)
B (KRR e
B A ) B A
1,437,375,000% 1,437,375,0008% &
RRER) REMR)
3 Shanghai Alliance Investment 427,085,429 427,085,429 3.79  Listed Unknown A shares
Limited EnE RE AR
EEBNEERRAR
4 China National Aviation Fuel 0 421,052,632 3.73  Listed Unknown A shares
Holding Co. 2 KA AR
Bz R E A A
5 Jin Jiang International Holdings 400,334,918 400,334,918 3.55  Listed (288,888,860 Unknown A shares
Company Limited shares are subject to KA AR
T ERR (EE)ERAF moratorium)
BB (HEp
288,888,860
RRER)
6 Aerospace Capital Holding 111,437,735 99,088,580 0.88  Listed Unknown A shares
Co. Ltd. B RE AR
MAREZERERAR
7 Sinotrans Air Transportation 0 83,157,894 0.74  Listed Unknown A shares
Development Co. Ltd. B KA AR
FINEZEER R KD
BRARF
8 BoseralBEEREH 60,000,000 60,000,000 0.53  Listed Unknown A shares
REES [EYiok RE AR
BREEEREFREES
9 Industrial and Commercial Bank of 27,753,888 27,753,888 0.25  Listed Unknown A shares
China Limited —Harvest= & B RE AR
e IR RELE 5
REES
B TR TR
BRAR-—REXEH
HIRRREFREES
10 Bank of China Group Investment 21,997,755 21,997,755 0.2 Listed Unknown A shares
Limited B R AR
FIREBREGRAA

Description of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest
shareholders: the Company is not aware of any related party or concert party

relationship among the above shareholders.
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THE 10 LARGEST REGISTERED LISTED STOCK SHAREHOLDERS OF AT BRERBRBRRERER
THE COMPANY AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDINGS

Shareholding
of listed stocks
at the end Nature of
Name of shareholders of the year shares held
FREFH
RER A RBROHE B
1. HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED (including CES Global) 2,037,193,399 H shares
EEPREH(RIBA)BRAR (B RAMERE) HA%
2. Shanghai Alliance Investment Limited 427,085,429 A shares
IR E AR AR ARZ
3. China National Aviation Fuel Holding Co. 421,052,632 A shares
Rz R E A AR
4. lin Jiang International Ho|d|ngs Company Limited 111,446,058 A shares
HITEE(ERARA AR
5. Aerospace Capital Holdlng Co. Ltd. 99,088,580 A shares
MRIEEIERER A ARZ
6. Sinotrans Air Transportaﬂon Development Co. Ltd. 83,157,894 A shares
RINEZEEE RN BR AT AR
7. BoseraBEEEREFICEES 60,000,000 A shares
BEREEEREFREES ARZ
8. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited —Harvest== 23T &) 1] I =AU FE 5 27,753,888 A shares
REES
PRI TERITRNEBERRR] —SETEND HIRELIFREES AR
9. Bank of China Group Investment Limited 21,997,755 A shares
RIREEHREGRAT ARR
10.  China Construction Bank—Bosera{BEIZ KRG EFIREES 21,899,824 A shares
PR IRT - BREEERAGESREES ARZ
Description of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest listed AT10 4’% R AR R B R B R VAR AR RIRA L
stock shareholders: the Company is not aware of any related party or concert party iU AR AR R 2 I B R (R ek — B TE AR o

relationship among the above listed stock shareholders.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER ERBRERBERNE

There has been no change in the Company's controlling shareholder in the year. R R R E AN E AR A &

CEA Holding is the parent company of the Company and its registered capital amounts EMEERARQRNTAR - AMELRBARE
to RMB11,780,365,000. Mr. Liu Shaoyong is the legal representative of CEA Holding. 11,780,365,0007C ' JEERKRABBGBEGLE &
CEA Holding's scope of business includes the management of all state-owned assets EEHE: CEEEQARREBRECETABERE
and state-owned equity of its group and its investment enterprises which are formed BEKHNEBRAEEENEGRE HE-_T—
by state investment. As at 31 December 2010, no share of the Company held by CEA TF+_A=+—H ZRAEELRARNKE
Holding was pledged. REERER
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Save as otherwise disclosed, during the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed
securities (“securities” having the meaning ascribed thereto under paragraph 1
of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules), without taking into account any issue of new
securities.

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY AND THE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES REQUIRED TO BE
FOLLOWED BY U.S. COMPANIES UNDER THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE'S LISTING STANDARDS

As a company incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE"),
the Company is subject to not only applicable PRC laws and regulations, including
the PRC Company Law, the PRC Securities Law, the Corporate Governance Standards
for Listed Companies and Guidance Opinions regarding the Establishment of the
Independent Director System in Listed Companies (the “Independent Director
Guidance”), but also Hong Kong laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules,
the Companies Ordinance and the SFO, as well as applicable U.S. Federal securities
laws and regulations, including the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Based on NYSE's listing standards, the NYSE
imposes a series of corporate governance standards for companies listed on the
NYSE. However, the NYSE permits foreign private issuers to follow their respective
“home country” practices and grants waivers for compliance with certain corporate
governance standards. One of the conditions for such waiver is for the foreign private
issuer to disclose in its annual report how the corporate governance practices in its
“home country” differ from those required of U.S. companies under the NYSE listing
standards.

In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.11 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual, the following is a summary of the significant differences between the
Company's corporate governance practices and those required to be followed by U.S.
companies under the NYSE's listing standards.

Section 303A.01 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a majority of independent Directors. As a company listed in the PRC, the
Company is subject to the requirement under the Independent Director Guidance that at
least one-third of the Board be independent as determined thereunder. As a company
listed in Hong Kong, the Company is also subject to the requirement under the Listing
Rules that at least three members of the Board shall be independent, and at least one
of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company currently has four independent Directors
out of a total of nine Directors. The standards for establishing independence set forth
under either the Independent Director Guidance or the Listing Rules differ from those set
forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

46 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

BA - HEIWMEES

BRRBS  R-F-FET-A=T-ALE
BN ARARKEFHBA VRSB « e
SWEEMHE LB (%] —ANRER L
AR —ER) CRA 3RS -

FAREXERBEREXE QA RAEEREN
BAREXRZHETRAGELEXER
ENETEER

ER—RETPERIN RBELEIESFRS
T BEBMRXAMANREZZA((AARS
Frl) ERE AR ARBNMEREB O BEDE
RERNOR  BRE(FEQEE) (PEES
E) (ETRBVREERNARCEARE LT A A
BYBVERGENESEAN(BYESESE
BERY))  BRIFBRERERNOR - B (L
TR AN (R FUEGDFCE B B HFEE1EH]) -
RIfs IR AR BB E S AREARNOR - 8
FEEBKEZRZZE(—N=ZMF)) (2 HIER) M
(BERER(ZZEZT-F)) - BORHAREZR
SR EMRAUGE T — R LM AR MAEST
WERERER - A - AHORZ AL A FFINE
BOTATERFEINHERER  YRATEL
NECEERENNFHRL - i TRROREZ
— B HMNE BTN B MRS R S R E
A H T EMRRNR R EE AR R 7
B IMERERREAHESR -

RIBCRKIZ Z P T A R T )E303A115RET AR
E o ARBERERNERAXE AR EEER
RO S EMRANEERENEREZRNT

(AR 5 P £ TR B 1l )55303A.01 5K E K £
REEEGRHBNKBMARBEIES - A7
ER—FKFELTRA  BETKBYERREEE
M EREL=p7 —MNEEENERBIYES
WRE - ARAHER—KRBEE LT AR - BEE
SKETRADFEREEGREFRIE=2E
VEZ VHRIHEF - ZEAGRHENERE
RE SRR EREEMNBNRE - AR
AR AESTANERBYES - Z5 - (8
VEEHRBER)SIK ETRADMREN BT IR
B BRAZ S LR R F MR E SR



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERES

Section 303A.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must schedule regular executive sessions in which non-management directors meet
without management participation. The Company is not required, under either the
applicable PRC law or the applicable Hong Kong law, to hold such executive sessions.

Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a nominating/corporate governance committee composed entirely of
independent directors. The establishment of the Nomination Committee was considered
and resolved and its charter was passed at the third regular meeting of the fifth session
of the board of the Company held on 28 April 2009. The merging of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session
of the Board of the Company held on 19 March 2010 and the “Working Rules of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee” was passed. The Nomination and
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, two of which are independent
non-executive Directors of the Company. Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual also provides that the nominating/corporate governance committee of a listed
company must have a written charter that addresses the committee’s purpose and
responsibilities, which include, among others, the development and recommendation of
corporate governance guidelines to the listed company's board of directors. The Board is
directly responsible for developing the Company's corporate governance guidelines.

Section 303A.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must have a compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors.
Under the Listing Rules, a majority of the members of the remuneration committee must
be independent non-executive directors. The merging of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of
the Company held on 19 March 2010. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
of the Company is composed of two independent non-executive Directors and one
Director.

Section 303A.10 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies
must adopt and disclose a code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers
and employees. As required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company has
adopted a code of ethics that is applicable to the Company’s Directors, Supervisors,
President, Chief Financial Officer and other senior managers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the articles of association of the Company and the PRC laws, no pre-emptive
rights exists, which require the Company to offer new shares to its existing shareholders
on a pro rata basis.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report, the Directors believe that the Company has at all times during the year
ended 31 December 2010 maintained the relevant applicable minimum percentage of
listed securities as prescribed by Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Names, relevant information of and shares held by the Directors, the Supervisors and
members of senior management of the Company as at 31 December 2010 are as
follows:

Number of listed

EE EEREREEAREKRBR

ARBBE_Z-—ZTF+_A=+—HEF &
ENEREBABMRS  FEEHRFRERN

™

A shares of Capacity in
the Company which the
held — personal A shares Effective date and expiry
Name Position Age interest were held date of appointment
FIEARBIREAR
A B FHR RE—EAEzR FREAR & 15 EHAE L B3R
Liu Shaoyong Chairman 52 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
21EE BER
Li Jun Vice Chairman 58 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
F B BEER
Ma Xulun Director, President 47 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
B EE K
Luo Chaogeng Director 61 6,600 (Note 1) Beneficial Owner 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
ZEFARR BE (i #E1) BERERA
Luo Zhuping Director, Company 58 11,616 (Note 2) ~ Beneficial Owner 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
T Secretary (itH2) E=mEAA
BE  QRRwE
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu  Independent non-executive ~ 63 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
255 Director
BUIEATES
Wu Xiaogen Independent non-executive 45 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
REER Director
BYFHTES
Ji Weidong Independent non-executive 54 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
== Director
BUIEATES
Shao Ruiging Independent non-executive 54 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
IR Director
BYFHTES
Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supervisory 61 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
BT Committee
EEQTFE
Xu Zhao Supervisor 42 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
= EE
Yan Taisheng Supervisor 57 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
Feng Jinxiong Supervisor 49 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
Vikiai3 S
Liu Jiashun Supervisor 54 3,960 (Note 3)  Beneficial Owner 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
2IxIE E=E (3t723) EmfEEA
Zhang Jianzhong Vice President 56 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
SR Bliasee
Li Yangmin Vice President 48 3,960 (Note 3)  Beneficial Owner 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
FER Bliasge (it #3) BEREAA
Zhao Jinyu Vice President 54 0 - 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
HER BliassrE
Tang Bing Vice President 44 0 = 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
E ElpERsE
Wu Yongliang Chief Financial Officer 48 3,696 (Note 4)  Beneficial Owner 2010-6-28 — 2013-6-28
RKR gt (it #4) BEnEA A
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Note 1:  representing approximately 0.000059% of the Company’s total issued shares as at 31
December 2010

Note 2:  representing approximately 0.0001% of the Company’s total issued shares as at 31
December 2010

Note 3:  representing approximately 0.000035% of the Company’s total issued shares as at 31
December 2010

Note 4:  representing approximately 0.000033% of the Company’s total issued shares as at 31
December 2010

As at the date of this report and in 2010, brief biographical details in respect of each
of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management officers of the Company are as
follows:

Mr. Liu Shaoyong is currently the Chairman of the Company and Deputy Party Secretary
and General Manager of CEA Holding. Since Mr. Liu joined the civil aviation industry in
1978, he has been appointed the Deputy General Manager of China General Aviation
Corporation, Deputy Director of Shanxi Provincial Civil Aviation Administration, General
Manager of the Shanxi Branch of the Company, and Chief of the Flying Model Division
of the Civil Aviation Administration of China (the “CAAC"). Mr. Liu served as General
Manager of the Company from December 2000 to October 2002, Vice Minister of the
CAAC from October 2002 to August 2004, General Manager of China Southern Air
Holding Company from August 2004 to December 2008, Chairman of directors of China
Southern Airlines Co., Ltd (H share stock code: 1055) from November 2004 to December
2008. Since December 2008, Mr. Liu has been appointed Deputy Party Secretary and the
General Manager of CEA Holding, and has just become the Chairman of the Company
since 3 February 2009. Mr. Liu graduated from the China Civil Aviation Flight College
and achieved an EMBA degree of Tsinghua University in 2005. Mr. Liu holds the title of
First Class Pilot. He is currently the Director General of China Air Transport Association,
the Director of International Air Transport Association and the Director of Association for
Relations Across the Taiwan Straits.

Mr. Li Jun is currently the Vice Chairman of the Company and the deputy general
manager and the party secretary of CEA Holding. Mr. Li joined the civil aviation industry
in 1972. Since 1977, Mr. Li served as officer in the Political Department and office
secretary of CAAC. Mr. Li served as person-in-charge of Policy Research Department
in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1984, deputy director of Policy Research Department in
the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1986, deputy manager of Planning Department in CAAC
in 1989, manager of Planning Department in CAAC in 1994, director of the General
Office in CAAC in 1996, manager of Personnel Education Department in CAAC in 2000,
and deputy head and party committee member of CAAC in 2001. Since 2006, Mr. Li
has served as the deputy general manager and the party secretary of CEA holding and
has served as Vice Chairman of the Company since June 2007. Mr. Li graduated from
the Party School of the Central Committee of the C.P.C. and holds a bachelor degree of
Economic Management and is a qualified senior political work instructor and Economist.

2 HARRER=F—FF+-—A=+—HEZTR
17 48 2{490.000059%
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Mr. Ma Xulun is currently a Director, the President and the Deputy Party Secretary
of the Company, the Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding. Mr. Ma joined the civil
aviation industry since 1997. He has been appointed Deputy General Manager of China
Commodities Storing and Transportation Corporation, Deputy Director General of
Finance Department of the CAAC, Vice President of Air China International Corporation
Limited. In 2002, after the restructuring of civil aviation industry he was appointed the
Vice President of the general affairs of Air China International Corporation Limited. Later
on, Mr. Ma served as President and Deputy Party Secretary of Air China International
Corporation Limited (stock code: 753) from September 2004 to January 2007. Mr. Ma
became a Party member of China National Aviation Holding Company from December
2004 to December 2008, and Deputy General Manager of China National Aviation
Holding Company from January 2007 to December 2008. Since December 2008, Mr.
Ma started working as General Manager and Deputy Party Secretary of the Company
and Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding. Since 3 February 2009, Mr. Ma has become
a Director of the Company. Mr. Ma Xulun became a director of #F Bl & & fin 2=
[2 /2 &) (China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.) (a subsidiary of the Company) with effect
from 4 January 2009 and became the chairman of such company with effect from 5
January 2009. Mr. Ma is also a director and the chairman of /&M Z=H R AR
(Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd.) (a subsidiary of the Company). Mr. Ma graduated from
Shanxi University of Finance and Economics and Huazhong University of Science and
Technology. Mr. Ma holds a master degree and is a qualified accountant.

Mr. Luo Chaogeng is currently a Director and the party constitution member and deputy
general manager of CEA Holding. Mr. Luo joined the civil aviation industry in 1970.
Mr. Luo was a flight mechanic of the instructing team of the Lanzhou Civil Aviation
Administration Bureau from August 1970 to August 1972. From August 1972 to March
1989, he was the flight mechanic and vice instructor of the 8th Civil Aviation Flight
Team. From March 1989 to August 1994, he was the deputy commissar, commissar and
party secretary of the Xi‘an Flight Team of China Northwest Airlines. From August 1994
to October 1996, he was the party secretary of the aircraft maintenance plant of China
Northwest Airlines. From October 1996 to March 1997, he was the party secretary and
deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Northwest Airlines.
From March 1997 to December 2000, he was the deputy director of the Civil Aviation
Administration Bureau of China Northwest Airlines. From December 2000 to November
2001, Mr. Luo was the general manager of Yunnan Airlines and the director and deputy
party secretary of Civil Aviation Administration Bureau of Yunnan. From November 2001
to September 2002, he was the general manager and deputy party secretary of Yunnan
Airlines. From September 2002 to present, he has been the party constitution member
and vice president of CEA Holding. From September 2002 to September 2004, he has
also served concurrently as the general manager of Yunnan Airlines of CEA Holding.
From September 2004 to the present, he has been the party constitution member and
the deputy general manager of CEA Holding, and from September 2004 to October
2006 was President and deputy party secretary of China Eastern Airlines Corporation
Limited. Mr. Luo serves as a non-executive directors of TravelSky Technology Limited (H
share stock code: 696) from 3 March 2009. From September 1998 to June 2001, Mr
Luo attended the postgraduate course in economics and management for incumbent
leading cadres of Shaanxi Province at the Central Party School. Mr. Luo has first class
competency in flight mechanics.
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Mr. Luo Zhuping is currently a Director and the Company Secretary. Mr. Luo joined
CEA in 1988. He was deputy chief and then chief of the enterprise management
department and deputy head of the share system office of China Eastern Airlines from
1992 to 1997. In 1997, he became the secretary of the board of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited and, from 1997 to 2008, also served as the head of the secretariat
of the board of the Company. He became a Director of the Company in June 2004.
Mr. Luo graduated from the Faculty of Philosophy and the Faculty of Law of Anhui
University in 1979 and 1985, respectively. In 1994, Mr. Luo received a Master degree
from the Economics Department of Eastern China Normal University, majoring in global
economics. In 1998, he participated in the training programme for senior managers of
large state-owned enterprises organised in the U.S.A. by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and Morgan Stanley. Mr. Luo has been responsible for joint-stock reform
and capital management of the Company since 1993.

Mr. Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in June 2009. Mr. Liu joined the civil aviation industry in Taiwan since 1969.
He has served in China Airlines (& /&R #7125 /2 7)) as Airport Manager in Honolulu
Airport, Marketing Director for the Americas, General Manager for Hawaii District,
Regional Director for Europe, Director of Corporate Planning and Director of Marketing
Planning respectively in its Corporate Office Taiwan. He also served as Vice President for
Market and Sales in 1993 and Executive Vice President for Commercial since 1996, and
was promoted to President in 1998. Additionally, Mr. Liu had served as Board Director
in Taiwan Mandarin Airlines (& /& #5{=#22), Taiwan Far Eastern Air Transport (& /&
R EZE), Taiwan China Pacific Catering Service (& 2 £ 25 &), Taiwan Taoyuan
International Airport Service Company (& &k E M) AR 7 A ) and the Chairman
of the Board of Taiwan Air Cargo Terminal (& /ZZE {7477 2 8). In 2001, he moved
to Hong Kong to join Expeditors International of Washington, Inc. a global logistics
company as the Chief Operating Officer for Asia Region. Mr. Liu graduated from Taipei's
Shih-Shin University (& /&tt3#7KX£2) and attended advanced study program in
Stanford University in the United States in 1990 and 1993 respectively.

Mr. Wu Xiaogen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2010. Mr. Wu was the assistant to general manager and the deputy
general manager of the securities business department of China Jingu International
Trust Investment Company Limited (42 B & 2B (= +E1% & AR & LA 7)) from
April 1998 to March 1999, the deputy general manager of the securities management
department and the general manager of the institutional management department of
China Technology International Trust Investment Company (FR B & BB Z 5E3%
& /nal) from March 1999 to July 2000, the head of the audit teaching and research
unit and the vice president of the School of Accountancy of Central University of Finance
and Economics (FR 9k BA4E K E2) from July 2000 to November 2004. He has been the
chief accountant of China First Heavy Industries (AP 5 55 — & AU # 47 £ ] /A 7)) since
November 2004. He has been professional director for central enterprises since June
2010 and holds the title of researcher. Mr. Wu is also a director of Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of the moral code committee of Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, with effect from 18 May 2010. Mr. Wu graduated from the Department
of Economics and Management of Central University of Finance and Economics (752
BA#& K E2) in 1997 and obtained a doctoral degree in Economics.
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Mr. Ji Weidong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2010. Mr. Ji graduated from the Department of Law of Peking
University (At 50 AZ2) in 1983 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in law. Mr. Ji
completed his master’s and doctoral degree courses at the graduate school of Kyoto
University, Japan from April 1985 to March 1990. From September 1991 to July
1992, he was a visiting scholar at Stanford Law School, the USA. He obtained his
doctoral degree in law from Kyoto University, Japan in January 1993. From April 1990
to September 1996, Mr. Ji was an associate professor at the School of Law of Kobe
University, Japan. From October 1996 to March 2009, he was a professor at the School
of Law of Kobe University, Japan. Since 2008, he has been the dean and professor
of Koguan Law School of Shanghai Jiaotong University. He is currently an honorary
professor at Kobe University, Japan.

Mr. Shao Ruiging is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company,
the deputy head of the Shanghai Lixin University of Commerce (/837 (5 &5 £2
B) and a professor in accounting, and also a professor and a mentor to doctoral
students in Shanghai Maritime University (/&85 KE3). He taught at Shanghai
Maritime University and has been deputy dean and dean of the School of Economics
and Management. For the period from March 2004 to date, he has been deputy dean
in Shanghai Lixin University of Commerce. Mr. Shao graduated from Shanghai Maritime
University, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (=881 48 A £2) and Tongj
i University ([5]725A£2) obtaining his bachelor's degree in economics, master’s degree
and doctoral degree in management. Mr. Shao has engaged in the teaching, research
and practice of the accounting profession for a long time, and has spent two and a
half years studying and being senior visiting scholar in the U.K. and Australia. He is
well-versed with internal control, IFRS and standards for risk management for foreign
enterprises. Mr. Shao is an independent director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited
and external supervisor of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Mr. Shao was awarded
special allowance by the State Council of the PRC in 1995. He is currently a consultative
committee member of the Ministry of Communications of the PRC, as an expert in
finance and accounting.

Ms. Liu Jiangbo is currently the chairman of the supervisory committee of the Company
(the “Supervisory Committee”), and a party member, deputy general manager,
and the head of disciplinary inspection group of CEA Holding. Ms. Liu Jiangbo joined
the civil aviation industry in 1979. Since then, Ms. Liu had been an officer in the
Beijing Administrative Bureau of Civil Aviation of China and the deputy secretary of the
committee of C.P.C. of the transportation business division. Ms. Liu served as secretary
of the committee of the Communist Youth League of the National Civil Aviation from
1985 to 1987, deputy director of the personnel department of the Traffic Control
Bureau of the Aviation of China from 1987 to 1990, supervisor to the Civil Aviation
Administration of China appointed by the Supervisory Bureau of China from 1990
to 1994, deputy director of the transportation division of CAAC from 1994 to 2000,
secretary of the committee of C.P.C. and vice president of Yunnan Airlines Corporation
Limited from 2000 to 2002, and the party member, deputy general manager and has
been serving as the head of the disciplinary examination committee of CEA Holding
since 2002. Ms. Liu graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences, majoring in business management of industrial economics, having the
qualification of post-graduate and senior political work instructor.
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Mr. Xu Zhao is currently a Supervisor of the Company, and the chief accountant of CEA
Holding. Mr. Xu joined the civil aviation industry in the end of 2006. Mr. Xu served as
engineer and accountant in Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited in 1991 and 1997
respectively, Mr. Xu joined Shanghai Yanhua High Technology Limited Company as a
manager in finance department in 2000, and joined Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile
Co. Limited as a chief financial officer in 2002. Since November 2006, Mr. Xu has
served as the chief accountant in CEA Holding. Mr Xu was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited (Stock code: 2168), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 12 September 2009. Mr. Xu
graduated from Chongxing University, majoring in moulding, and The Chinese University
of Hong Kong, majoring in accounting, and holds a master degree. Mr. Xu is qualified as
an engineer and an accountant, and is a certified public accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Yan Taisheng is currently a Supervisor and the Vice Chairman of the Labour Union
of the Company. Mr. Yan joined the civil aviation industry in 1973, and has served in
the Command Centre and the General Office of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration
Bureau. From 1990 to 1993, he served as the Chief of the Secretarial Section in the
General Office of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served as the Manager of
Shanghai Civil Aviation Dong Da Industry Company (/& RME K E 32 7)) from
1993 to 1998 and was the Deputy Director of General Office of the Labour Union of the
Company from 1998 to 2002. From 2002 to 2005, he served as the Director of General
Office of Labour Union of the Company. He has been the Vice Chairman of the Labour
Union and the Director of the General Office of the Labour Union of the Company since
2005. He has been a supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Mr. Yan graduated
from East China Normal University.

Mr. Feng Jinxiong is currently a Supervisor and general manager of Audit Department
of the Company. Mr. Feng joined the civil aviation industry in 1982, and has served in
the Planning Department of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau as well as
the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served as the Deputy
Director of the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1992 to
1997, the Director of the Planning Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998, the
Director of the Finance Department of China Eastern Air Holding Company from 1998
to 2000. He was the Deputy Chief Accountant of China Eastern Air Holding Company
from 2000 to 2001, the Manager of the Human Resources Department of the Company
from 2001 to 2003, the Party Committee Secretary and Vice President of China Eastern
Air Jin Rong Company (B 722 7)) from 2003 to 2005, the Party Committee
Secretary and Deputy General Manager of the Shanghai Ground Service Department
of the Company from 2005 to 2007, as well as the President and the Deputy Party
Committee Secretary of the China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2009.
Since February 2009, he has been the General Manager of the Audit Department of
the Company. He has been a supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Mr. Feng
graduated from the Civil Aviation University of China and the Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, holding a master degree.
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Mr. Liu Jiashun has been a Supervisor of the Company since 2000. From 1993 to 1999
Mr. Liu was party secretary, deputy president and secretary of the disciplinary committee
of China Aviation Fuel Hainan Company, as well as chairman of the board and president
of Hainan Nanyang Air Transport Co., Ltd. From 1997 to 1999 he was also the chief
director in charge of fuel supply engineering at Haikou's Meilan Airport and served as
a director of Meilan Airport Co., Ltd. and the vice chairman of the board and president
of =T EZEABR/AF]. From 1999 to 2007 he was deputy party secretary, and
subsequently the secretary of the disciplinary committee of China Aviation Fuel East
China Company and he served as the general manager of & MA R A 7
from 2006 to March 2009. Since October 2009, Mr. Liu serves as the party secretary of
PR AR Ze Sl ZEER A &) (China Aircraft Fuel Huadong Company). Mr. Liu received
post-graduate education and is qualified as a senior political work instructor.

Mr. Zhang lianzhong is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined the civil
aviation industry in 1982. From April 1982 to December 1987, he was an assistant of
the CAAC Shanghai Planning Bureau. From December 1987 to April 1990, he was the
deputy director of the planning department of Shanghai Honggiao International Airport.
From April 1990 to January 1996, he was the director of the planning department of
China Eastern Airlines. From January 1996 to April 1999, he was the manager of the
sales and marketing department of the Company. From April 1999 to April 2003, he
was the assistant to the president of the Company. From September 2000 to December
2001, he served concurrently as the director of the office of strategic study of the
Company. From December 2001 to May 2003, he served concurrently as the general
manager of the computer information centre of the Company. From April 2003 to June
2004, he was the chief economist of the Company. From May 2003 to June 2004, he
served concurrently as the general manager of the sales and marketing department of
the Company. From June 2004 to present, he has been a vice president of the Company.
Mr. Zhang graduated from the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering of Zhejiang University
and also the Economics and Management of Fudan University from which he obtained a
master degree.

Mr. Li Yangmin is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Li joined the civil aviation
industry in 1985. From July 1985 to October 1996, he was the deputy head of the
aircraft maintenance workshop (FRA%4E (& MREERS), head of technology office and
secretary of the workshop branch of Northwest Company (Fadtfi 222 &]). From
October 1996 to June 2002, he was the deputy general manager of the aircraft
maintenance base and the manager of air route department (#4z3E) of Northwest
Company (Fadbfnz= /A 7). From June 2002 to March 2004, he was the general
manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Eastern Air Northwest Company.
From March 2004 to October 2005, he was the vice president and a member of the
standing committee to the party committee of China Eastern Air Northwest Company.
Since October 2005, he has been a vice president of the Company. Mr. Li graduated
from North Western Polytechnical University, holding a master degree. He is a qualified
senior engineer.
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Mr. Zhao Jinyu is the Company'’s Vice President. Mr. Zhao joined the civil aviation
industry in 1978. From November 1995 to March 1998, he was a deputy director and
director of the Flying Safety and Technology Department of China General Aviation
Corporation. From March 1998 to May 1999, he was the General Manager of the
Flying Aviation Department of the Shanxi Branch of the Company. From May 1999 to
January 2000, he was the Vice President of the Shanxi Branch of the Company. From
January 2000 to January 2004, he was the General Manager of the Hebei Branch of the
Company. From January 2004 to May 2008, he was the General Manager and Deputy
Party Secretary of the Anhui Branch of the Company. From May 2008 to July 2008, he
was the Managing Vice President and Deputy Party Secretary of the Yunnan Branch of
the Company. From July 2008 to December 2009, he has been the General Manager
and Deputy Party Secretary of the Yunnan Branch of the Company. Mr. Zhao graduated
from the China Civil Aviation Flight College for professional flying and holds the title of
Second Class Pilot (= & 71T 2 B 7E).

Mr. Tang Bing is the Company's Vice President. Mr. Tang joined the civil aviation
industry in 1993. From April 1997 to October 1999, he served as a deputy manager of
the Engineering Technology Division under the Aircraft Engineering Department of A1
A fnzE AR A 7 (China Southern Airlines Company Limited). From October 1999
to May 2003, he was the deputy director of the Business Development Department
of FEINTRIEHE(E TF2B R A=) (Guangzhou Aircraft Maintenance Engineering
Co., Ltd.), and the vice director of its Accessories Business Centre. From June 2003
to December 2005, he was vice president of ZK/EEE K F BN EIEBIR A ]
(MTU Maintenance Zhuhai Co., Ltd.). From December 2005 to March 2007, he served
as the office director of China South Airlines Holding Company. From March 2007 to
December 2007, he was the president and vice party secretary of & EEffiZ2 R A 7
(Chongging Airlines Company Limited). From December 2007 to May 2009, he served
as the chief engineer and general manager and a deputy party secretary of the Aircraft
Engineering Department of China South Airlines (H share stock code: 1055). From May
2009 to December 2009, he was appointed as a member of the Standing Committee
to the Party Committee of the Company, general manager and deputy party secretary
of the Beijing branch of the Company. Since December 2009, he has been served a
member of the Standing Committee to the Party Committee of the Company; he has
served as a Vice President of the Company since February 2010; he has been a director
and general manager of )& #12= 5 BR /2 & (Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd.) (a subsidiary
of the Company) since January 2010. Mr. Tang graduated from Fa S ZEf R oA 22
(Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics) majoring in electrical technology.
He obtained a master of business administration (MBA) degree from the Administration
Institute of A7 LJAE2 (Sun Yat-sen University) in 2003 and an executive master of
business administration (EMBA) degree from the School of Economics and Management
of JEE K £ (Tsinghua University) in 2008.

Mr. Wu Yongliang is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Wu
joined the civil aviation industry in 1984. He was the deputy director of the Finance
Department of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1993 to 1997, the deputy director
and subsequently the director of the Finance Department of the Company from 1997
to 1998, the director of Planning and Finance Department of the Company from 1998
to 2000, the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2000 to 2001, the
deputy chief accountant and the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from
2001 to March 2009. From April 2009 onwards, he services as the chief financial officer
of the Company. Mr. Wu graduated from the Economic Management Department
of Civil Aviation University of China, specializing in planning and finance. He also
graduated from Fudan University, specializing in business administration. Mr. Wu has
the qualification of postgraduate and holds the title of Accountant.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has issued a confirmation in respect
of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

RIBEEWRANE3 G BUFRTEZCREL
AR RIS 313 R B G BB L 1L R0 AR E AR
B o ARARIRBRBBIULIFNTEETHABBEILI -

ESSNEEEASZBER

PERSONNEL

Date of appointment/

Position
B

Name termination Approval organization

HAH BB BEBS RERE

Termination

BRI

Hu Honggao 19 March 2010 the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board
LERE T —T-ZTF=A+IE ERVE S RN

Zhou Ruijin 19 March 2010 the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board
EinE —E-ZF=A+NH FEREEFEFHERNE:

Wu Baiwang 28 June 2010 the 2nd regular meeting of the Board in 2010
REMH —T-ZTHERAZTN\R BT TFEEIRNIG

Xie Rong 28 June 2010 the 2nd regular meeting of the Board in 2010
FIES —E-ZFRA-TNH BEEg T ZFFRR0IE

Fan Ru 6 May 2010 the 37th meeting of the fifth session of the Board
BEE —T—TFRARA FEREEFEHEIINEG:

Appointment

B

Wu Xiaogen 19 March 2010 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010
REER —T-ZTF=A+AIH —E-EEFRERRRAS

Ji Weidong 19 March 2010 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010
FRR —ZE-ZF=A+NH —TTEERBERRREAE

Shao Ruiging 28 June 2010 the 2009 annual general meeting

AB3mE e S AV Iy AN “ETNFERRRE

Tang Bing 1 February 2010 the 35th meeting of the fifth session of the Board
B —T-TF_H—H FHEEFEEIRGE

Independent Non-executive Director
BIUIFATES
Independent Non-executive Director
BIYFNTES
Independent Non-executive Director
BYFHTES
Independent Non-executive Director

B IFITES
Vice President

Independent Non-executive Director
BUIEATES

Independent Non-executive Director
BYIFFMTES

Independent Non-executive Director
BYFHTEF

Vice President

BB

CHANGE OF PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

BIEETRAIE1351B (NVEZESRES

ARREEFBEER_ZTTNFNALAT AR

Mr. Xu Zhao, a Supervisor of the Company, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, with effect from 12 September 2009.

Mr. Wu Xiaogen, an independent non-executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 18 May 2010.

Mr. Ma Xulun, a Director of the Company, was appointed as a director and the chairman
of H/EMZERH BT (Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd) from January 2010 to
December 2010 and a director and the chairman of _E/&RZE B R A R] (Shanghai
Alirlines Co., Ltd), a subsidiary of the Company, with effect from September 2010.
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors, chief
executive, Supervisors or members of the Company's senior management and their
respective associates had any other interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and/or debentures (as the case may be) of the Company and/or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short
position which any of such Directors, chief executive, Supervisors or members of the
Company's senior management and their respective associates were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) and as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which was otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (which shall be deemed to apply
to the Supervisors to the same extent as it applied to the Directors).

In 2010 and as at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors, chief executive,
Supervisors, senior management of the Company and/or any of their spouses or children
under the age of eighteen were granted any right, and the Company had not made any
arrangement enabling any of them, to subscribe for equity securities or debt securities of
the Company.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

None of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into any service contract with the
Company, which is not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or Supervisors had a material interest directly or indirectly in any
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year (the term ‘contract of significance’ having the meaning ascribed thereto
in paragraph 15 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 57,096 employees, a majority of whom
worked in the PRC. Employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary and
performance-based bonus.
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MEDICAL INSURANCE

The majority of the Group’s PRC employees participate in the medical insurance schemes
organised by the municipal governments, under which the Group and its employees are
required to contribute to the schemes approximately 12% and 2%, respectively, of the
employee’s basic salaries. For those employees who participate in these schemes, the
Group has no other obligation for the payment of medical expense beyond the annual
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's medical insurance
contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB281 million (2009:
RMB132 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group as at
31 December 2010 are set out in note 32 to the financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS.

INTEREST CAPITALIZED

Interest capitalized by the Group as calculated in accordance with IFRS for the year
ended 31 December 2010 was RMB156 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year are summarized in note 19 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010 and profit appropriation by the Company are set out in note 41 to the
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

STATUTORY COMMON WELFARE FUND

Details in relation to the statutory common welfare fund, such as the nature and
application of and movements in the fund, and the basis of its calculation, including
the percentage used for calculating the amounts, are set out in note 41 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable purposes amounting to
approximately RMB8.5 million.

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Company's employee retirement scheme and post retirement benefits are
set out in note 36 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December 2010, the cost of aircraft and related materials from the Group's
largest and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 14.03% and 32.13%,
respectively, of the total purchases of the Group. The sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for 14.91% of the Group's total revenue in 2010.

None of the Directors, Supervisors or any of their respective associates nor any
shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, hold 5% or more of the
Company's share capital has any interest in any of the above mentioned suppliers and
customers.

GENERAL MEETINGS AND BOARD MEETINGS
GENERAL MEETINGS

The 2010 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 19 March
2010 at Shanghai International Hotel b EFE #3155 58, 2550 Hongqiao Road,
Shanghai. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19 March
2010.

The 2009 annual general meeting of the Company were held on 28 June 2010 at the
Meeting Centre, Shanghai International Hotel /&2 BFE #3555 &8, 2550 Honggiao
Road, Shanghai. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28
June 2010.

The 2010 second extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 15
December 2010 at Shanghai International Hotel _ & B% #3552 £8, 2550 Honggiao
Road, Shanghai. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 15
December 2010.
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BOARD MEETINGS EE
Date of

Session of Meeting Meeting Announced Resolutions  Unannounced Resolutions

BRER AFEEH EAERE RDERE

The 34th meeting of the fifth session of 12 January 2010 The resolution on the capital increase of CEA Jiangsu was
the Board 20106F1 A 12H considered and passed.

EREN N HiR RPN R IF A AL B ERIES

The 1st regular meeting of the fifth 20 January 2010 1. The financial budget report of the Company for 2010
session of the Board in 2010 201061 H20H was considered and passed. 2. The investment plan of

FREEEZEE010EF1X0E

The 35th meeting of the fifth session of
the Board

FEREEEEEIANER

The 36th meeting of the fifth session of
the Board

FEREEEEFE0NER

The 2nd regular meeting of the fifth
session of the Board in 2010

EREESF010F5E2R00E

The 37th meeting of the fifth session of
the Board

FHEEFSEITREH

1 February 2010

2010F2A1H

19 March 2010

20104F3 5198

17 April 2010

20105F4 5178

6 May 2010

201045 A6 H

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement
dated 2 February 2010.
HEFEAARRBHAR
20106F2 A28 RE

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement
dated 20 March 2010.
HEFEAARRBHAR
20106F3 H20H A S

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement
dated 20 April 2010.
HEFEAARRBHAR
20106F4 H20H A s

For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement
dated 7 May 2010.
HEFEAARRBHAR
20106F5 A7 R E

60 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

the Company for 2010 was considered and passed. 3.
Report of President for 2009 and the working plan for
2010 was considered and passed. 4. The resolution on the
additional investment in training building was considered
and passed. 5. The resolution on the sale of MD82
flight equipment was considered and passed. 6. The
resolution on the establishment of the aviation safety and
environment committee under the Board was considered
and passed.
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Session of Meeting
FRENX

Date of
Meeting
EFRBEH

Announced Resolutions
BAERE

Unannounced Resolutions
ROERZ

The 38th meeting of the fifth session of
the Board
FREEFEEBNEH

The 1st meeting of the sixth session of
the Board

=3

b1l

EAEEEERIRE

The 3rd reqular meeting of the sixth
session of the Board in 2010

BERNEEEE2010EEIRNE

The 2nd meeting of the sixth session of
the Board

FNEEFER2NEH

18 June 2010

20104F6 H 18 H

28 June 2010

20104F6 H28H

27 August 2010

201048 H27H

27 August 2010

201068 H27H

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement
dated 29 June 2010.
E3E g WANGIE=R-i b=}
20106 A29B M A%

For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement
dated 30 August 2010.

HEBAALFAHA
2010F8 A30H M A E

The resolution on matters related to the formation of joint
venture CEA Yunnan was considered and passed.
ERBRENSEEERMERRATEREENZ

-
£

1. The resolution on the transfer of equity interests
in KFMEREEHFRR AR (Dahang International
Transportation Co., Ltd.) was considered and passed. 2.
The resolution on the pre-sale of MD-11 flight equipment
of China Cargo Airlines was considered and passed. 3.
The resolution on the application for external payment for
the settlement losses of fuel hedging was considered and
passed. 4. The resolution on the day-to-day connected
transactions of the Company was considered and passed.
5. The resolution on the convention of extraordinary
general meeting was considered and passed.

1 BRBBENAMBEREERRARREEZ
BER 2 Fa@BHR T EMMD-1AMEES
ER 3 BERABENBEFHIINNMAERR
FIRAHER - 4 FRBOAFETHEBRIIN
B o5 BEnmBEN ARBRKRERAGHEE -

The resolution on the general mandate to issue shares by
China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited was considered
and passed.
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Session of Meeting
ERER

Date of
Meeting
AFRBEH

Announced Resolutions
ERERE

Unannounced Resolutions
RDERZ

The 4th regular meeting of the sixth
session of the Board in 2010

FRNEEEE2010F54K0|E

The 3rd meeting of the sixth session of
the Board

FREEFGEINEH

The 4th meeting of the sixth session of
the Board

28 October 2010

20104F10 A 28H

10 November 2010

2010611 A10H

15 December 2010  For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement
dated 16 December 2010.

20105612A15H #HBEBRARRBHR

2010F 12 16BN AE

62 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

1. The resolution on the third quarterly financial report of
the Company 2010 was considered and passed. 2. The
resolution on the third quarterly report of the Company
2010 was considered and passed. 3. The resolution on
the payment of land premium as per payment schedule
in respect of base project in Ningbo City of CEA Zhejiang
branch was considered and passed. 4. The resolution
on the introduction of 50 Airbus A320-series aircraft
was considered and passed. 5. The resolution on the
introduction of B737NG simulation aircraft was considered
and passed.
CBRABBAFNNFE=FEHHRENZ

CERBBRARNFEE=FERENH
03 BRABENENN I ARZERTAE
WIHE RAMHTIMHEENER -4 EZEB
FARBES0RERAR0RFIRMAZESR - 5 - Fa
IBRAR S HEBTITNGIRBIE A S -

o

o T

1. The resolution on the signing of a C919 Aircraft
Activation User Agreement (C919 FRHERIEN R F 177:%)
by H [ P 7R /A &) was considered and passed. 2. The
resolution on the proposed investment in respect of the
site of the former Shanghai Airlines” ancillary project of
Honggiao Airport Extension Project (Western District) was
considered and passed.

1 BFREBENEPBEEHRA RIZFEZ(CI19RMRR
BRPHZEINER 2 ERBATBKSEET
2 (AAR)R EAMRETE B AR E T REESR -

The resolution on the proposed swap plan in respect of
the purchase of B737NG simulation aircraft by /&5 75
TITEIFIABR A A (Shanghai Eastern Flight Training
Co., Ltd.) was considered and passed.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions between the Company and its connected persons or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) are governed by and conducted in compliance
with the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

(1)

On 28 July 2010, Shanghai Airlines and _t=J& i 2= B[ i (52 18] ) A PR A Al
(Shanghai Airlines Tours International (Group) Co., Ltd.) (“SA Travel”) entered
into an agreement with B 5 fiz= 3 H O AR A A (Eastern Aviation Import
& Export Company) (“CEA Import & Export”), pursuant to which Shanghai
Airlines agreed to sell and CEA Import & Export agreed to purchase 89.72% of the
entire issued share capital of -/&fnZeiE H QAR A A (Shanghai Aviation
Import & Export Co., Ltd.) (“SA Import & Export”), and SA Travel agreed to
sell and CEA Import & Export agreed to purchase 10.28% of the entire issued
share capital of SA Import & Export. As the consideration of this transaction, CEA
Import & Export agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB49,646,236.36 to Shanghai
Airlines and agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB5,688,400.69 to SA Travel,
subject to adjustment. After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement, CEA
Import & Export paid a sum of approximately RMB51.82 million to Shanghai
Airlines and paid a sum of approximately RMB5.94 million to SA Travel. (the “SA
Import & Export Disposal”)

On 28 July 2010, Shanghai Airlines and & _EAnE 3 AR A 7] (Shanghai
Airlines Industry Co., Ltd.) ("SA Industry”) entered into an agreement with
BhmaR miEE AR AT (Eastern Air Catering Investment Co. Ltd.)
("CEA Catering”), pursuant to which Shanghai Airlines agreed to sell and CEA
Catering agreed to purchase 50% of the entire issued share capital of /&1
Z= R Fh AR A 7 (Shanghai Air Catering Co., Ltd.) (“SA Catering”), and SA
Industry agreed to sell and CEA Catering agreed to purchase 20% of the entire
issued share capital of SA Catering. As the consideration of this transaction, CEA
Catering agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB15,348,504.99 to Shanghai Airlines
and agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB6,139,402 to SA Industry, subject to
adjustment. After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement, CEA Catering paid
a sum of approximately RMB17.19 million to Shanghai Airlines and paid a sum of
approximately RMB6.88 million to SA Industry. (the “SA Catering Disposal”)

On 28 July 2010, Shanghai Airlines and SA Travel entered into an agreement with
CEA Media, pursuant to which Shanghai Airlines agreed to sell and CEA Media
agreed to purchase 49% of the entire issued share capital of = /&fnZ={5 %
ABR A 7] (Shanghai Airlines Communication Co., Ltd.) (“SA Media”), and
SA Travel agreed to sell and CEA Media agreed to purchase 51% of the entire
issued share capital of SA Media. As the consideration of this transaction, CEA
Media agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB12,014,955.93 to Shanghai Airlines as
and agreed to pay in cash a sum of RMB12,505,361.87 to SA Travel, subject to
adjustment. After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement, CEA Media paid
a sum of approximately RMB13.36 million to Shanghai Airlines and paid a sum of
approximately RMB13.90 million to SA Travel. (the “SA Media Disposal”)
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After the absorption of Shanghai Airlines through share exchange by the
Company, the assets, liabilities, business, personnel, contracts and all other rights
and obligations have been vested with the Company, which lead to competition
with the existing business of our controlling shareholder, CEA Holding, in the
areas of aviation catering, import and export and media businesses. Therefore,
the main purpose of these transactions is to avoid competition within the same
industry. Each of CEA Import & Export, CEA Catering and CEA Media is interested
as to 55% by, and thus an associate of, CEA Holding, which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. As such, each of CEA Import & Export, CEA
Catering and CEA Media is a connected person of the Company and each of the
SA Import & Export Disposal, the SA Catering Disposal and the SA Media Disposal
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 28 July 2010.

On 20 December 2010, the Company, A B )¥ & 5 (5£ E) 422 7] (China
Ocean Shipping (Group) Company) (the “COSCO Group”), Concord Pacific
Limited and Singapore Airlines Cargo Pte Ltd. (“Singapore Cargo Airlines”)
entered into a capital increase agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to contribute RMB1.0455 billion, COSCO Group agreed to contribute
RMB348.5 million, Concord Pacific Limited agreed to contribute RMB328 million
and Singapore Cargo Airlines agreed to contribute RMB328 million to China
Cargo Airlines.

On 20 December 2010, China Cargo Airlines and /8B & &M ZE AR
72 @] (Shanghai Airlines Cargo International Co., Ltd.) (“Shanghai Cargo
Airlines”) entered into an asset acquisition agreement, pursuant to which the
core business of cargo air transportation and the related assets of Shanghai
Cargo Airlines shall be acquired by China Cargo Airlines. The preliminary transfer
price is RMB29.316 million (the final amount is subject to the filing of the assets
appraisal report with the state-owned assets authorities).

On 20 December 2010, China Cargo Airlines (as purchaser) and Great Wall
Airlines (as vendor) entered into an agreement for the acquisition of all valuable
business carried on by, and all valuable assets of, Great Wall Airlines, at a
consideration of RMB386,855,000 (the final amount is subject to the filing of
the assets appraisal report with the state-owned assets authorities). The main
purpose of this transaction was to enhance China Cargo Airlines capability for
sustainable development and avoid horizontal competition. Since CEA Holding
is the controlling shareholder of the Company, Great Wall Airlines, being a
subsidiary of CEA Holding, is a connected person of the Company for the purpose
of the Listing Rules. Hence, the transaction between China Cargo Airlines and
Great Wall Airlines constitutes a connected transaction of the Company as defined
under Rule 14A.13 of the Listing Rules. For details of the aforesaid agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 20
December 2010
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In order to better regulate the continuing business relationships between (i) the Group
and (i) CEA Holding and certain of its associates, and in compliance with the applicable
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company entered into various
renewed agreements with certain members of the CEA Holding in respect of various
continuing connected transactions. These agreements are as follows:

FEREXS

AR ED RO AR EEG)RAEE R EE T
BEAMSERGRG - JER EMRRAE4AE
MERRE  ARREERMEENETRER
RS EFERERXSDRRI LR HinE - %5
Whaman |

Agreements Counterparties and connected person relationship
Lk AIA T ERRE A T B

(1) Property Leasing Renewal Agreement CEA Holding
UE SRR RMEE

Financial Services Renewal Agreement

BT ARIS EA 1Hham

Import and Export Agency Renewal
Agreement

# O RORE i

Maintenance and Repair Services
Renewal Agreement

HE R EIRG B

Catering Services Renewal Agreement

fin 2= B IR 7% S ¥ hp e

Sales Agency Services Renewal
Agreements

HEHEREREE 5=

Advertising Services Renewal Agreement

EEREEFH

Media Resources Renewal Agreement

R ERE Hriphas

A E BT AR & 2 ) (Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited) (the “Eastern
Air Finance Company”), which is directly interested as to approximately 53.75% by, and
is thus an associate of, CEA Holding

EMEEVBEREEAR(RAMBELR L) - HA53.75% A RMER
BEES BT RHBEA

B AnZeE H OB R /A A (Eastern Aviation Import & Export Company) (the “Eastern
Aviation Import & Export Company”), which is directly interested as to 55% by, and is
thus an associate of, CEA Holding

RAMEEHOARAR(RAELOAT]) - Ho5%EmhRmEBEEE
B Eb TR AREEE A

BRI E % AR A7) (CEA Development Co.) (“CEA Development”), which is
directly interested as to 95% by, and is thus an associate of, CEA Holding

EEBRIMEBERERAR(TRNER]) - HoowEamh RMEBERES -
FSIE@IVEREN YN

Rz R Mm% & B R A T (Eastern Air Catering Investment Co. Ltd.) (the “Eastern
Air Catering Company”), which is directly interested as to 55% by, and is thus an
associate of, CEA Holding

RAMERMIGEBRAR(IRMBEAF ) + H55% AR s B E
B Bt AEEEA

ISRz A B A & (Shanghai Dongmei Aviation Tourism Co., Ltd.) (“Shanghai
Dongmei “), which is indirectly interested as to 72.84% by, and is thus an associate of,
CEA Holding

EEREMERESR AR LERE]) - H72.84%H 50 R M & B REE
B Bt AEEEA

B2 E AR A T (Eastern Aviation Advertising Company Limited) (the “CEA
Media"), which is directly interested as to 55% by, and is thus an associate of, CEA
Holding

RAMMEEHARAR([RMEELT]) - BE5%ERBHREMEEEERE -
E TR A EEE A

The CEA Media, which is directly interested as to 55% by, and is thus an associate of, CEA
Holding
HAEE AR - Hos%iEmm RS EERES - Bt nAEBEA
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Details of the continuing connected transactions are set out as follows:

1. PROPERTY LEASING RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, CEA Holding, CEA Northwest, CEA Yunnan and the Company
entered into a property leasing agreement, and such agreement was renewed on

29 April 2008. (the “Existing Property Leasing Agreement”)

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to
the renewal of the Existing Property Leasing Agreement with CEA Holding on
substantially the same terms, pursuant to which the Company will lease from CEA
Holding and its subsidiaries, for use by the Group in its daily airlines and other

business operations:

(@) a total number of up to 33 land properties owned by CEA Northwest,
covering an aggregate site area of approximately 692,539 square metres
primarily located in Xi‘an, Xianyang and Lanzhou together with a total
of 225 building properties and related construction, infrastructure and
facilities occupying an aggregate floor area of approximately 269,148

square metres;

(b) atotal number of up to 7 land properties owned by CEA Yunnan, covering
an aggregate site area of approximately 420,768 square metres primarily
located in Kunming, together with a total of 77 building properties and
related construction, infrastructure and facilities occupying an aggregate

floor area of approximately 452,949 square metres;

(0 building properties and related construction, infrastructure and
facilities owned by CEA Holding, occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 8,853 square metres located in Shijiazhuang;

(d)  building properties and related construction, infrastructure and
facilities owned by CEA Holding, occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 63,552 square metres located in Taiyuan;

(e)  atotal of 7 building properties and related construction, infrastructure and
facilities owned by CEA Holding, occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 13,195 square metres located in Shanghai;

() a total of 29 guest rooms and 2 suites in Eastern Hotel owned by CEA
Holding, occupying an aggregate floor area of approximately 1,500 square

metres located in Shanghai; and

(g)  other property facilities owned by CEA Holding and/or its subsidiaries
as may be leased to the Company from time to time due to the urgent

business requirements of the Company.
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FINANCIAL SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, Eastern Air Finance Company and the Company entered into a
financial services agreement, and such agreement was renewed on 29 April 2008
(the "Existing Financial Services Agreement”).

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to
the renewal of the Existing Financial Services Agreement with the Eastern Air
Finance Company, pursuant to which the Eastern Air Finance Company and its
subsidiaries will from time to time provide the Group with a range of financial
services including: (i) deposit services; (i) loan and financing services; and (iii)
other financial services such as the provision of trust loans, financial guarantees
and credit references (the scope of “other financial services” is not limited
and different services may be provided to the Group as and when they are
needed).

IMPORT AND EXPORT AGENCY RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, the Eastern Aviation Import & Export Company and the
Company entered into an import and export agency agreement, such agreement
was renewed on 29 April 2008 (the “Existing Import and Export Agency
Agreement”).

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
renewal of the Existing Import and Export Agency Agreement with the Eastern
Aviation Import & Export Company on substantially the same terms, pursuant
to which the Eastern Aviation Import & Export Company and its subsidiaries will
from time to time as its agent provide the Group with agency services for the
import and export of aircraft and related raw materials, accessories, machinery
and equipment required in the daily airlines operations and civil aviation business
of the Group.

MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, /&5 5 fnZe & A& HIiE 72 7 (Shanghai Eastern Aviation
Equipment Manufacturing Corporation) and the Company entered into a
maintenance services agreement, and such agreement was renewed on 29 April
2008 (the “Existing Maintenance Services Agreement”).

On 28 October 2008, CEA Development and the Company entered into an
automobile repairing services agreement (the “Existing Automobile Repairing
Services Agreement”).
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On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
consolidation and renewal of the Existing Maintenance Services Agreement
and the Existing Automobile Repairing Services Agreement on substantially the
same terms with CEA Development pursuant to which CEA Development and
its subsidiaries will from time to time provide certain services to the Company,
including: (a) maintenance and repair services to the Company’s automobiles that
are used in ground services and daily operations; (b) comprehensive services in
relation to maintenance, repair and overhaul of aircraft and aviation equipment,
and procurement of related equipment and materials required in the daily
operations of the Group; (c) various special vehicles and equipment for airline use,
such as air stairs, freight cars, luggage trailers, garbage truck, food cars, freight
containers, freight board; and (d) aircraft on-board supplies.

CATERING SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, the Company and a number of subsidiaries or associates
of CEA Holding entered into various catering services agreements, and such
agreements were consolidated and renewed on 29 April 2008 (the “Existing
Catering Services Agreement”).

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
renewal of the Existing Catering Services Agreement with the Eastern Air Catering
Company on substantially the same terms pursuant to which the Eastern Air
Catering Company and the subsidiaries of the Eastern Air Catering Company will
from time to time provide the Group with in-flight catering services (including
the supply of in-flight meals and beverages, cutlery and tableware) and related
storage and complementary services required in the daily airline operations and
civil aviation business of the Group. The Eastern Air Catering and its subsidiaries
provide their services in accordance with the specifications and schedules as from
time to time specified by the relevant member(s) of the Group to accommodate its
operation needs.

SALES AGENCY SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, the Company and a number of subsidiaries or associates of
CEA Holding entered into various sales agency service agreements, and such
agreements were renewed on 29 April 2008 (the “Existing Sales Agency
Services Agreements”).

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
renewal of the Existing Sales Agency Services Agreements with Shanghai Dongmei
on substantially the same terms, pursuant to which the Shanghai Dongmei and its
subsidiaries will from time to time provide the Group as its agents with services
for sale of air tickets and the provision of complementary services required in the
daily airline operations and civil aviation business of the Group.
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ADVERTISING SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005, the CEA Media and the Company enter into an advertising
services agreement, and such agreement was renewed on 29 April 2008.

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
renewal of the Existing Advertising Services Agreement with the CEA Media
on substantially the same terms, pursuant to which the CEA Media and its
subsidiaries will from time to time provide the Group with multi-media advertising
services in order to promote its business and to organise promotional functions
and campaigns to enhance its reputation in the civil aviation industry.

MEDIA RESOURCES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 24 March 2010, the Company and CEA Media entered into an agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant CEA Media exclusive rights to
operate the media resources of the Company (the “Existing Media Resources
Agreement”).

On 15 October 2010, the Company entered into an agreement relating to the
renewal of the Existing Media Resources Agreement with the CEA Media on
substantially the same terms, pursuant to which, the Company agreed to grant
the Eastern Aviation Advertising and its subsidiaries exclusive rights to operate
the media resources of the Company.

Pursuant to the Media Resources Renewal Agreement, the CEA Media and its
subsidiaries will have the following exclusive rights:

(i)  to distribute certain in-flight reading materials to the customers of the
Company;

(i)  to operate advertisements in the media resources of the Company, which
includes the folding tables, occipital plate to the seat, in-flight radios and
video entertainment programmes, advertisement system on airport shuttles,
website and mobile connection (mobile phones); and

(i)  to be commissioned to purchase in-flight entertainment programmes (which
may include the content of the advertisements) from independent third
parties or produce such programmes on its own.

For other exploitable media resources that are not included in the preceding
paragraphs, the Company has the right to invite public bidding. CEA Media and
its subsidiaries have the priority to develop and operate the aforementioned
exploitable media resources if in the bidding process such CEA Media and its
subsidiaries offer the same terms as the other bidders.
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The following table sets out (i) the annual caps for the continuing connected TREIIAEEERMEBKE QAT ZER
transactions between the Group and members of CEA Holding and (i) their actual —E-TEETIRBERERSGZ)FE L
amounts in 2010: R R(NVEEREITIER

Annual caps

for continuing
Incurred up to  connected transaction

Transactions 31 December 2010 conducted in 2010
BE_Z—BF BN —2—2F
Ehall tTZA=+—HNBLER 2ERAGRZEELR
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR¥) (NEH)
Financial services (balance of deposit) 1,137 2,500
SRR (T R eREE) 137{87T 2587T
Catering services 544.49 621.49
i z= AL B AR 75 54,4498 7T 62,1498 7T
Import and export agency services 59.64 69.5
ORI AR 5,964 7T 6,950 7T
Maintenance services 2.97 27.8
R IR 2978 7T 2,780& 7T
Property leasing 55.14 60
YEHE 55148 7T 6,0008 7T
Advertising agency services 20.21 26
EERERS 2,02187T 2,600% 7T
Media resources operation services 12 30
BRERER 1,20087T 3,0008 7T
Sales agency services (agency fee) 18.8 46.25
SRR (KER) 1,880& 7T 46258 7T
Automobile repairing services 39.8 58.3
ISR RS 3,980 7T 5,830& 7T
Details of the Group's continuing connected transactions with the Company's connected AEERE-—T-—TE+-_A=+—QFEHR
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2010 are ARTWEEALT(ESE FHEE)ETHE
set out in note 46 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. BB 557 NI B BB I8 R4 B R Bl i
BT R P 46
The Company's independent non-executive Directors have reviewed such continuing AAT By EHTEEDENBE—_S—TF
connected transactions during the year 2010 and confirmed that: WEREES S - WD
(@)  the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual () ZEXRSENEBE—RIELESHENT
course of its business; 7 §
(b)  the transactions have been entered into either (i) on normal commercial terms or (i) b) ZEXSEIER()—IEESIESETRG) (1
(where there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are GIE:: J:I:fﬁ’]’x%TELA P\ S 35 B W IR 2R
on normal commercial terms) on terms no less favourable to the Company than EL—BEEES)IEAARTMES @ 2%
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and X EHIES BN BS £ = e EE s iR 4t

(RBAIERME)BIER : &

()  the transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant O ZEXSEBEEERSNBBIETET
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the MRSIEHATESTE - W AZFAAAFRE
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. HYEREBE 2% o
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the auditors of the Company
have carried out procedures on the above connected transactions disclosed herein for
the year ended 31 December 2010 in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagement Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and reported that, in respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions:

a.  nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Company’s
board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company.

¢.  nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions.

d.  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected
transactions, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the maximum
aggregate annual value disclosed in the previous announcements dated 29 April
2008, 15 April 2009, 24 March 2010, 15 October 2010 made by the Company in
respect of each of the disclosed continuing connected transactions.

In respect of each continuing connected transaction disclosed in note 46 to the financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Company confirms that it has
complied with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the other related party transactions entered by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2010 are set out in note 46 to the financial statements prepared
in accordance with IFRS. These transactions do not constitute connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.
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Number of aircraft as at 31 December 2010
BE-_Z-ZF+-A=1+—H#E=E

No.  Model Self-owned and under finance lease ~ Under operating lease ~ Subtotal
HE HE BENBEHEE REHE NaEE
1 A340-600 5 5
2 A340-300 5 5
3 A330-300 8 7 15
4 A330-200 2 3 5
5 A320 71 24 95
6 A319 5 10 15
7 A321 20 20
8 B737-300 16 16
9 B737-700 33 19 52
10 B737-800 15 46 61
" B757-200 5 5 10
12 B767-300 9 1 10
13 A300-600R (passenger aircraft) (4 ) 7 7
14 CRJ-200 8 2 10
15 EMB—-145LR 10 10
16 Hawker800 1 1
17 MD-11F 7 7
18 A300-600R (cargo aircraft) (E#) 3 3
19 B747-400ER 2 2
20 B757-200F 2 2
21 B777F 4 4
Total 225 130 355
ast

Proportion 63.38% 36.62% 100%
e i
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In relation to future deliveries of aircraft, as at 31 December 2010, the following are ARERNENRE R_T-—ZTF+_A
details of aircrafts on order which are scheduled to be delivered: =+—B  ARRRRMENREFHEDT -
Model Number of aircraft Year of delivery
TR REE A FTEFH
A320 17 2011
A321 2 2011
A330 2 2011
B737-700 2 2011
B737-800 2 2011
A319 7 2012
A320 10 2012
A321 5 2012
A330 4 2012
B737-700 2 2012
B737-800 3 2012
A319 3 2013
A320 3 2013
A321 6 2013
A330 6 2013
B737-700 5 2013
B737-800 7 2013
A319 4 2014
A320 6 2014
A321 6 2014
A330 4 2014
B737-700 7 2014
B737-800 7 2014
A319 2 2015
A320 8 2015
A321 6 2015
B737-700 6 2015
B737-800 8 2015
As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any aircraft which is subject HEAFERESNEHY  BARAESEHMM &£
to options exercisable during a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December —E-ZEFT A=+ —HBFTIRTZEAN
2010. HEA - NRFDRE A TATEE AR -
STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS B TEEmMAL

Details of the Group's staff housing benefits are set out in note 37 to the financial AEEBRTEEHUFER2HAREREEER
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. B R AR A AR B2 BA TS IR T RE3T
MATERIAL LITIGATION BARD

As at 31 December 2010,the Company was not involved in any litigation of material HEZ-ZF+_A=+—H AAREEX
importance. A ©

FEIRGMERBERAF | 2010 F8R 73



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERES

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS EAREH

The Company wishes to highlight the following information: RATHRAMATAR

On 10 July 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with Shanghai
Airlines in relation to the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by way of the issuance
of new A shares of the Company in exchange for the existing issued shares of
Shanghai Airlines on the basis of 1.3 A shares of the Company for each existing
issued share of Shanghai Airlines. The exchange of A shares was completed on
28 January 2010. On 28 January 2010, 1,694,838,860 new A shares of the
Company were issued. As of 28 January 2010, the identifiable net liabilities of
Shanghai Airlines assumed by the Company had a book value of approximately
RMB776 million and a fair value of approximately RMB2,151 million. Details are
set out in the announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 10 July
2009, 10 August 2009, 10 September 2009, 9 October 2009, 7 January 2010, 1
January 2010, 13 January 2010, 18 January 2010, 26 January 2010, 28 January
2010, 26 February 2010, 30 March 2010, 30 April 2010, 31 May 2010, 30 June
2010 and 30 July 2010, 30 August 2010, 29 September 2010, 29 October 2010
30 November 2010 and 4 January 2011 and the circular of the Company dated
25 August 2009.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 9 October 2009,
the Board was authorized by the shareholders of the Company to make such
appropriate and necessary amendments to the Company's articles of association
as the Board thinks fit to reflect such increases in the registered capital and
change of shareholding of the Company as a result of the completion of the
exchange of A shares mentioned above. With completion of the exchange of A
shares on 28 January 2010 and the listing of the issued A shares of the Company
as a result of the said exchange of A shares commencing on 2 February 2010
the corresponding amendments made to certain articles of association of the
Company as a result of the completion of the said absorption became effective on
2 February 2010. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
issued in Hong Kong dated 2 February 2010.

On 12 January 2010, the Company, T & BREEEEEEEAR A
&) (Jiangsu Guoxin Investment Group Limited), JT#£ 32 @ #2EA% A 7] (Jiangsu
Communication Holding Limited) (formerly known as JT#i M= EFEEEE
[R & (T2 7] (Jiangsu Aviation Industry Group Company Limited) and g
Rmi& & A7) (Nanjing Investment Company) (together referred to as the
“Shareholders”) entered into the CEA Jiangsu Joint Venture Capital Increase
Agreement, pursuant to which the Shareholders unanimously agreed to increase
the share capital of R EIER J7#i 2=/ T &k A BR A &) (China Eastern Airlines
Jiangsu Co., Ltd.) (“CEA Jiangsu") according to the existing proportion of their
respective shareholding interests in CEA Jiangsu, and the registered capital of
CEA Jiangsu shall be increased from RMB880 million to RMB2,000 million. For
details, please refer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company
issued in Hong Kong dated 12 January 2010
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On 26 July 2010, the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Yunnan Province (“Yunnan
SASAC") and the Company entered into an agreement, pursuant to which
Yunnan SASAC and the Company agreed to jointly establish B ;7 fnZ=EmM A
f 72 &) (Eastern Airlines Yunnan Limited Corporation) (the “Joint Venture").
Pursuant to this agreement, the registered capital of the Joint Venture shall be
contributed as to 65% by the Company and 35% by Yunnan SASAC, respectively.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong
Kong dated 26 July 2010.

The authorised representative in Hong Kong (for the purpose of Section 333
of the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of the
Company has been changed from Mr. Cheung Sau Ting to Mr. Zhang Youjun with
effect from 30 July 2010. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30 July 2010.

With effect from 10 August 2010 (Eastern Standard Time of the United States of
America), the ratio for its American Depository Shares (the “ADS") representing
H shares of the Company (“H Shares”) changed, from: one (1) ADS representing
one hundred (100) H Shares to one (1) ADS representing fifty (50) H Shares. For
details, please refer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company
issued in Hong Kong dated 6 August 2010.

On 29 October 2010, the Company entered into two agreements with CEA
Holding, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire 5% equity interests
in EERAMRITEIIARR AR (Shanghai Eastern Flight Training Co.,
Ltd.) (“Flight Training Company”) held by CEA Holding and 14.14% equity
interests in BRA AU JE B R A 7] (Eastern Airlines Hotel Co., Ltd.) (“Eastern
Airlines Hotel”) held by CEA Holding. Prior to these equity transfers, the
Company held 95% equity interests in Flight Training Company and 85.86%
equity interests in Eastern Airlines Hotel respectively. As CEA Holding directly
and indirectly holds approximately 59.94% equity interests in the Company, CEA
Holding is a connected person of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the said equity transfer agreements constitute connected transactions
of the Company pursuant to the H/&E5% S FTRYEE E 8 Al (Rules
Governing Listing of Securities on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). For details,
please refer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company issued in
Hong Kong dated 29 October 2010.

On 30 December 2010, the Company entered into an aircraft purchase agreement
with Airbus SAS in Shanghai regarding the purchase of fifty Airbus A320 series
aircraft. For details, please refer to the announcement and the circular of the
Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30 December 2010 and 25 February 2011
respectively.
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INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS' OPINION BUEEER

Independent Directors of the Company have performed auditing work and issued an NEBYEERBETEIESNEEARTE - U2
independent opinion on the guarantees the Company has provided, as required by the AIEINERIBERETTZE  UBERTHILE
relevant requirements of the CSRC. The Company has strictly observed relevant laws R RRABRRREREEERNARERNA
and regulations as well as its articles of association while it has also imposed strict E o OBRIEIEGIEIINEREE  BHEZT—ZTF
control on the guarantees provided. As at 31 December 2010, none of the Company TZRA=+—HBRARRAAE I ST WERAME
and its subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements has provided any RETFEAERRE REM@EES - AtIEx
guarantee to the Company’s controlling shareholder and other related parties, other AEB - (EAREEROBER

nonlegal person entity units and individuals.

AUDITORS B

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong and BEFXESHMEST(EERESHEN) LT

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company (registered accountants in E)BP ARSI ESAARAR (P REEMEET

the PRC) were the Company's international and domestic auditors in 2010, respectively. ) DR AARR ZT - FE B &+ EZH
Bl o

On behalf of the Board BEEGNRE

Liu Shaoyong 2B

Chairman EER

Shanghai, the PRC FE G

30 March 2011 —T—F=A=+H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has established a formal and appropriate corporate governance structure.
The Company has also placed emphasis on the corporate governance principle of having
transparency, accountability and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders.

The Directors believe that sound corporate governance is essential to the development
of the Company's operations. The Board regularly reviews our corporate governance
practices to ensure that the Company operates in accordance with the laws, regulations
and requirements of the listing jurisdictions, and that the Company continuously
implements corporate governance of a high efficiency.

The Company's corporate governance practices include but are not limited to the
following:

Articles of association, rules of meeting of general meetings, rules of meeting of
the Board, rules of meeting of the Supervisory Committee, working regulations of
independent directors, administrative documents of the audit and risk management
committee, administrative documents of the planning and development committee,
working rules of the nomination and remuneration committee, working rules of
the aviation safety and environment committee, working regulations of presidents,
management regulations of investor relationship, investor relationship management
detailed implementation regulation, management regulations of the connected
transactions, connected transaction detailed implementation rules, regulations on
external guarantee and the interim administrative regulations concerning hedging
businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2010 (the “Reporting Period”) and as at the date of
the announcement of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the relevant provisions
and corporate governance practices under the codes of corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company, and took the view that the Company's corporate governance
practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 met the requirements
under the code provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code"). In certain aspects, the code of corporate
governance adopted by the Company is more stringent than the provisions set out in the
Code. The following sets out aspects which are more stringent than the Code.

Major aspects which are more stringent than provisions set out in the Code:

—  all members of the audit and risk management are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

— 13 meetings of the Board were held during the financial year of 2010.

—  Other than the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee, the Company also established two specialized
committee, namely Planning and Development Committee and the Aviation
Safety and Environment Committee.
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The Company is managed by the Board. The Board is responsible for the leading
and control of the Company. The Directors are jointly responsible for implementing
businesses of the Company by directing and supervising the affairs of the Company.

DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2010, the Board consists of 9 Directors, including four Independent
Non-executive Directors. During the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 held on
19 March 2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of Mr. Wu
Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong as independent non-executive directors of the fifth session
of the Board, while Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou Ruijin were no longer independent
non-executive directors of the Company. During the 2009 annual general meeting held
on 28 June 2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of Mr.
Liu Shaoyong, Mr. Li Jun, Mr. Ma Xulun, Mr. Luo Chaogeng and Mr. Luo Zhuping as
directors of the sixth session of the Board, and Mr. Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu, Mr. Wu Xiaogen,
Mr. Ji Weidong and Mr. Shao Ruiging as Independent Non-executive Directors of the
sixth session of the Board, while Mr. Wu Baiwang and Mr. Xierong were no longer
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company.

All Directors shall retire in the third annual general meeting following their appointment,
but are eligible for re-election. Names, personal particulars and effective date of
appointment of the Directors are set out in page 48 to page 56 of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors of the Company shall possess specialised
knowledge and experience. They shall be able to play their roles of supervising and
balancing to the fullest extent to protect the interests of shareholders and the Company as
a whole. The Board considers that they shall be able to exercise independent judgment
effectively, which complies with guidelines on their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received the annual
confirmation letters from each of the independent non-executive Directors on their
independence.

All Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) are appointed for a term of
3 years. The formal appointment letters and the articles of association of the Company
have set out the terms and conditions of their appointment. Other than working
relationships, Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company do not
have any financial, business or family connection with one another.
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POWERS OF THE BOARD

On a periodic basis, the Board reviews the relevant performance against proposed
budgets and business objectives of each operating unit. It also exercises a number of
powers retained by the Board, including the following:

—  responsibility for convening general meetings and reporting to shareholders on its
work;

—  implementing resolutions passed in general meetings;
—  deciding on the operating plan and investment proposals of the Company;
—  formulating the annual preliminary and final budget proposals;

—  formulating the Company's profit distribution proposal and the proposal to offset
losses;

—  formulating the Company's proposals to increase or reduce the registered capital
and proposals to issue debt securities;

—  drawing up proposals for the Company's merger, demerger and dissolution;
—  deciding on the Company's internal management structure;

—  employing or dismissing the Company’s President and secretary to the Board;
appointment or dismissal of the Vice President and chief financial officer of the
Company on the nomination of the President, and the determination of their
remuneration;

—  formulating the management systems of the Company;
—  formulating proposals to amend the articles of association of the Company;
—  discharging any other powers and functions granted in general meetings.

The Board and the relevant specialized committees are also responsible for the
completeness of financial information of the Company and are responsible for
maintaining an effective internal control system and for risk management, as well as
preparing the financial statements. Setting the business objectives and overseeing the
daily operations are the responsibilities of the chief executive officer. The Company’s
articles of association specify the duties and functions of the Board and management.
The Board periodically reviews the duties and functions of the chief executive officer and
the powers delegated to him to ensure that such arrangements are appropriate.

In order to ensure the balance of powers and authorization, the roles of the Chairman
and the chief executive officer have been clearly defined. The Chairman of the Company
is Mr. Liu Shaoyong, and the chief executive officer is Mr. Ma Xulun, a Director and
the President. There are also other senior officers who are responsible for the daily
management within their scope of duties.
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MEETING OF THE BOARD

The Chairman leads the Board to ensure that the Board performs its various duties
effectively and he is responsible for drawing up the agenda of the meeting of the Board
and considering other matters other Directors propose to be included in the agenda. The
agenda together with documents of the Board should be, as far as practicable, circulated
at least 3 days prior to the meeting of the Board or its specialized committees. The
Chairman is also obliged to ensure that all the Directors are suitably briefed on matters
to be raised in the meeting of the Board. The Chairman ensures that the Directors
receive information that is accurate, timely and clear. Through on-the-job training of
Directors and continuous participation in meetings of the Board and of committees of
the Board and interviews with key persons in headquarters and other departments, the
Directors are encouraged to update their skills, knowledge and their understanding of
the Group.

The Company has established a special unit, i.e. the secretariat of the board, to work
for the Board. All the Directors can access to the service of the company secretary.
The company secretary periodically updates the Directors of the latest information on
governance and regulatory matters. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice through the Chairman for the purpose of performing their duties, with the cost
born by the Company. Specialized committees may also seek professional advice.

The company secretary is responsible for the records of the board meetings. These
minutes of meetings together with other related documents for the board meetings shall
be made available to all the Directors. Board meetings are meant to enable the Directors
to have open and frank discussions.

In order to ensure sound corporate governance, as at the date of the announcement of
this annual report, the Board had 4 committees in place: Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Planning and Development
Committee and Aviation Safety and Environment Committee with their terms of
reference drawn up in accordance with the principles set out in the Code. The company
secretary drafts the minutes of meetings for these committees, and the committees
report to the Board.
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The Board has held 13 meetings during the Reporting Period. The following tables
show the attendance rate of each Director at shareholders’ general meetings and board

EENAREHABH T 13
EENIREHALERREAS - EFGZHFHB -

REH - TRERE

meetings:
Board Meetings General Meetings
Attendance/ Attendance/
Eligibility Eligibility
Directors of meetings of meetings
g RERXE
HERE HERE
= FE IR FE IR B
Liu Shaoyong 13/13 33
2R 5E
Li Jun 13/13 313
FE
Ma Xulun 13/13 313
HAm
Luo Chaogeng 13/13 213
EHBR
Luo Zhuping 13/13 3/3
BT
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu 13/13 33
2% E
Wu Xiaogen (appointed on 19 March 2010) 10/10 22
REBR(RZZ—ZF=F T+ NAEZEE)
Ji Weidong (appointed on 19 March 2010) 10/10 1/2
FHR(N=ZZ—ZF=ATLBEZME)
Shao Ruiging (appointed on 28 June 2010) 6/6 11
BmE(R=E—EF A+ N\BEZE)
Hu Honggao (terminated on 19 March 2010) 3/3 01
HER(RNZE—ZF=A T HEET)
Zhou Ruijin (terminated on 19 March 2010) 3/3 0/1
Eine (R —FF=A TN BHE)
Wu Baiwang (terminated on 28 June 2010) 717 12
RAE(RZZ—ZTFAZ+/\BEEE)
Xie Rong (terminated on 28 June 2010) 717 1/2

RN T -TFE XA+ /\BEHE)
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

All the Directors shall declare to the Board upon their first appointment their capacities
as Directors and any other positions held in other institutions, the declaration of which
shall be renewed once a year. When the Board discusses any motion or transaction
and considers any Director has any conflict of interest, the Director shall declare his
interest and abstain from voting, and will excuse himself as appropriate. The Company
shall, pursuant to the guidelines, request from Directors their confirmation if they or
their associates are connected with any transactions entered into by the Company or
its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period. Material transactions which have been
confirmed as having been entered into with any connected person have been disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS of this annual
report.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code of Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
as the securities transactions code for the Directors. Each of the Directors and the
Supervisars of the Company has been issued with a copy of the Model Code upon their
appointment.

All the Directors and the Supervisors of the Company have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code in 2010.

The Company has also adopted the related provisions set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, and has established its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Employees of the Company according to its own situation and with reference to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The aforesaid Code of
Conduct shall apply to the conduct of dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

In addition, pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules for Shares of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, the shares of the Company transferred by each of the Directors, the
Supervisors and senior management of the Company every year are not allowed to
exceed 25% of the total number of shares held by each of them, and they are not
allowed to purchase the shares of the Company within 6 months after they have
sold their shares. They are also not allowed to sell the shares of the Company within
6 months after they have bought the shares of the Company. Additionally, within 6
months after they have left their appointment, they are not allowed to transfer their
shares of the Company held by them.

All the employees who may have unpublished price-sensitive information related to the
Group are also required to comply with the Model Code. During the Reporting Period,
the Company is not aware of any breach of laws and regulations.
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group.

The Auditor's report made by the Company's auditors in respect of the financial
statements is set out on page 99 to page 100 of this annual report.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2010, the Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises Mr.
Shao Ruiging, Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong, all of whom are Independent
Non-executive Directors. Mr. Shao Ruiging, the chairman, possesses professional
qualifications in accounting. The first extraordinary general meeting in 2010 was held
on 19 March 2010, during which Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong were appointed
as Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company while Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr.
Zhou Ruijin are no longer Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. The
36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company was held on the
same day, during which the resolution on the appointment of members of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee was considered and passed, agreed that Mr. Hu Honggao
and Mr. Zhou Ruijin ceased to be the members of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, while Mr. Wu Xiaogen and Mr. Ji Weidong were appointed to serve as the
members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. On the 2009 annual general
meeting, Mr. Shao Ruiging was elected as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company. The 1st ordinary meeting of the sixth session of the Board of the Company
was held on the same day, during which Mr. Shao Ruiging was elected as the chairman
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is a specialized committee under the Board.
It is responsible for checking and monitoring the financial reports and internal control of
the Company, checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company, in
particular the risk management and risk control policy for material decision, significant
events and major business and overseeing their implementation.

(1) INTERNAL CONTROL
Internal control system

The Board shall be responsible for the overall internal control system of the
Company/Group and periodically reviews the effectiveness of the internal control
system through the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The internal control
system is essential to risk management which, in turn, is important in ensuring
that operational objectives can be achieved. Internal control procedures are
designed to prevent assets from unauthorized use or disposal, to ensure the
maintenance of appropriate accounting records and to provide reliable financial
information either for internal use or for dissemination externally. However, the
control procedures aim at reasonably (but not absolutely) assuring that there will
not be material misrepresentation, loss or misconduct. The internal control system
is prepared in accordance with the relevant laws, supplementary regulations and
constitutional documents.
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The Company reviews the effectiveness of its internal control annually, which
includes control over finance, operations, compliance with laws and regulations as
well as the monitoring of risk management. The results of the review have been
reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board.

The Board confirms that the Company has systems and procedures in place to
identify, manage and report material risks in the course of achieving its strategic
objectives. The Board continue to monitor risks with the support of the specialised
committees and senior management.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company's internal audit department is responsible for conducting an
independent audit of whether or not the internal control system is sufficient
and effective. The auditing plan is prepared using a risk based approach and is
discussed and finalized by the Audit and Risk Management Committee annually.
Other than the pre-determined scope of work for each year, the department is
also required to conduct other specific audits.

The Group's internal audit department reports to the President; it may also report
directly to the chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. All the
internal audit reports are delivered to the Chairman of the Board, the President,
chief financial officer, the management of the audit department and related
departments. The outcome of each audit, in summary, will also be discussed
with the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Board and the Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company actively monitor the number and
seriousness of the inspection result by the internal audit department, and the
relevant corrective measures taken by the relevant department.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company is responsible
for checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company and
overseeing their implementation; checking and evaluating the risk management
and risk control policy and duties on developing fuels, foreign exchange and
interest rate hedging and overseeing their implementation.

The internal audit department has undertaken related risk management duties
and reports to the audit and risk management committee periodically. It is
responsible for coordinating the implementation of appropriate procedures to
manage operational risks.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee held five meetings in 2010. In each
meeting, senior management and external as well as internal auditors were
invited to attend. Based on the reports of the external and internal auditors,
according to the accounting principles and practices, and internal controls
adopted by the Group with a view to comply with the requirements of the
Listing Rules, the committee conducted reviews of audits, internal control, risk
management and financial statements. The Group's first quarterly results, interim
results and third quarterly results for 2010 and the final results for 2010 had been
discussed in the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s meetings before they
were submitted to the Board for approval.

Attendance of members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings is
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hREH BREFIRFEREEEAS
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my A

BLRBHEEANEREEZEESENE

as follows: SHEENT

Attendance/

Eligibility of
Directors Meetings Attendance

HERE

-2 FE IR HE=
Xie Rong (resigned on 28 June 2010) 2/2 100%
WE(ZE—TF AT N\BEEE)
Hu Honggao (resigned on 19 March 2010) 171 100%
tAEE(ZE—ZF=A T L H&E)
Zhou Ruijin (resigned on 19 March 2010) 171 100%
Eine (Z2—2F =+ N HBHE)
Shao Ruiging (appointed on 28 June 2010) 33 100%
BImE(ZZ2—FF AT N\BFHE)
Wu Xiaogen (appointed on 19 March 2010) 4/4 100%
RER(ZE—ZF=A+ L AE)
Ji Weidong (appointed on 19 March 2010) 4/4 100%

FHR(CE-TF=A+AARE)

Additionally, the Audit and Risk Management Committee has also conducted
other compliance work to comply with PRC and US reporting requirements in
2010, including guiding and overseeing of the construction of internal control,
hearing and reviewing the overall plan for risk management, implementing
risk management work in accordance with the requirements of the regulatory
authorities and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act; and specifically to consider the work undertaken by the management,
including managements’ assessment to ensure the Company's compliance with
the internal control regulation (Section 404) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The constitutional document of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is
posted on the website of the Company.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

For the Reporting Period, the annual audit fees payable to the external auditors (both
international and domestic auditors) is estimated to be RMB16.68 million for the regular
annual audit of the Group's 2010 financial statements prepared under IFRS and PRC
Accounting Standards and the other relevant documents applicable for the purpose of
20-F filing. In addition, RMB1.5 million is payable to the external auditors in connection
with the proposed restructuring of the Group's cargo airline business during the
Reporting Period. A service fee of RMB1 million is also payable to the external auditors
for approved non-audit services rendered during the Reporting Period. The auditors’
remuneration are determined by the Audit and Risk Management Committee and
approved by the Board.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee obtained an overall understanding of the
non-audit services and its scope and was satisfied that the non-audit services (in respect
of the nature of service and the total cost for non-regular audit services compared to
regular audit service fee) had not affected the independence of the accounting firm.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

As of 31 December 2010, the Planning and Development Committee of the Company
comprises of three members: Mr. Luo Chaogeng, Mr. Luo Zhuping and Mr. Shao
Ruiging. Mr. Luo Chaogeng, a Director, is the chairman of the committee.

The Planning and Development Committee is a specialized committee under the Board.
It is responsible for studying, considering and making plans or recommendation in
regard to the long term development plans and material investment decision of the
Company and overseeing their implementation.

Attendance of members of the Planning and Development Committee meetings is as
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follows:

Attendance/

Eligibility of
Members Meetings Attendance

HERE

E3- FEH IR B HE=
Luo Chaogeng 8/8 100%
ZEEAR
Luo Zhuping 8/8 100%
BT
Shao Ruiging (appointed on 28 June 2010) 4/4 100%
ImE(R_T—ZTF A+ /\BEEE)
Wu Baiwang (terminated on 28 June 2010) 4/4 100%

REE(R-_T-TF A+ /\BHEE)

The constitutional document of the Planning and Development Committee is posted on
the website of the company.
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board comprises of three members:
Zhou Ruijin, Luo Chaogeng and Wu Baiwang. Zhou Ruijin is the chairman of the
committee, while Zhou Ruijin and Wu Baiwang are Independent Non-executive
Directors. On 5 March 2010, during the first meeting of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee of the Board in 2010, the remuneration for the year 2009 of salaried
directors, supervisors and senior management was considered and passed, and was
disclosed in the annual report of the Company for the year 2009 as required.

On 19 March 2010, the Board passed a resolution of merging the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee originally under the Board
into the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board comprises of three
members: Liu Shaoyong, Sandy, Ke-Yaw Liu and Ji Weidong. Liu Shaoyong is the
chairman of the committee, while both of Sandy, Ke-Yaw Liu and Ji Weidong are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

In 2010, under the leadership of the Board, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee of the Board conscientiously performed duties and functions in completing
the work pursuant to the Corporate Governance Standards for Listed Companies,
the Articles of Association of the Company, the rules of meeting of the Board and
the powers and obligations bestowed upon it by the Board. The Nomination and
Remuneration Committee held three meetings in total during 2010, at which the
following were considered and passed:

During the first meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the fifth
session of the Board on 2 April 2010, Liu Shaoyong, Li Jun, Ma Xulun, Luo Chaogeng
and Luo Zhuping were nominated as candidates for Directors for the sixth session of
the Board, and Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu, Wu Xiaogen, Ji Weidong and Shao Ruiging were
nominated as candidates for Independent Non-executive Directors for the sixth session
of the Board, and such nominations were agreed to be submitted at the second regular
meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company in 2010 for consideration.

During the second meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the fifth
session of the Board on 23 June 2010, Liu Shaoyong was nominated as the Chairman
of the Company, Li Jun was nominated as the Vice Chairman of the Company, the
composition of each of the specialized committee under the Board was nominated, Ma
Xulun was nominated as the President of the Company, Zhang Jianzhong, Li Yangmin,
Zhao Jinyu and Tang Bing were nominated as the Vice President of Company, Wu
Yongliang was nominated as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, and Luo
Zhuping was nominated as the Company Secretary, and such nominations were agreed
to be submitted at the first meeting of the sixth session of the Board of the Company for
consideration.

During the first meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the sixth
session of the Board on 27 August 2010, the Committee members expressed their
views and recommendations, and proposed specific work requirements after taking into
consideration of the contemplation and preliminary proposal on work positions and the
remuneration adjustment reform reported by the human resources department of the
Company.
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Attendance of members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee is as follows: BELREHFHFMEEZEZESSRNEHFERAT
Attendance/
Eligibility of
Members Meeting Attendance
HERE
%8 & R HEE
Zhou Ruijin 11 100%
[Eim®
Luo Chaogeng 11 100%
EEAR
Wu Baiwang 171 100%
RAMH
Attendance of members of the nomination and remuneration committee is as follows: ELREHFREEFMEZESSHNEFERIT ¢
Attendance/
Eligibility of
Members Meeting Attendance
HERE
%8 JE R B HEE
Liu Shaoyong 3/3 100%
2735
Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu 3/3 100%
252
Ji Weidong 3/3 100%
=

The “Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee” is
posted on the website of the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY OF DIRECTORS

Directors generally do not receive remuneration from the Company except Independent
Non-executive Directors who received a fixed remuneration. However, Directors who
served as other administrative positions will receive salary with regard to those positions
separately.

Certain Directors received emoluments from CEA Holding, the parent company, part of
which were in respect of their services to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Generally, the policy regarding the remuneration packages of Directors are aimed
primarily at linking the remuneration of Directors to their performance which helps to
encourage their performance and their remaining in office. Pursuant to the policy, the
Directors are not allowed to approve their own remuneration.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company mainly comprises basic salary and
bonus.

BASIC SALARY

The Directors review the basic salary of each Director on an annual basis pursuant to
the remuneration policy of the Company. In 2010, pursuant to the service contracts
entered into between the Company and each of the Directors, the Directors are entitled
to receive a fixed basic salary.

BONUS

Bonuses are calculated based on the measurable performance and contribution of the
operating units for which the Directors are responsible.

88 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

REEFHE B S TIFAREN AR AL -

EECHMEERR

BB IEMITESRMEEME A - EE R
TRADBERME - BE - AR RAEEEAM
TTHRBH N EE A F TR S 1T R -

BOEEEARRLENBRAREEESARE
BS  HERARRMEBREREMNSE -

BE BEOMNSHESER  TEREARRE
=2l N EREEAT BIRHE - A BN
EENITHERRREBE - REZBEK E2TH
HERFBE -

AAREEMNE 2 T BEEANBIEERFHERS -

EX 5

EEEFHERBARFZMEBRBRTRES
ZEEHHW - —T—FTFE - REARFTEES
ZEFRIMZ RIS E#H) - ERHREEREEEAR
o

®E

BB EHEEMEIEZRBAMIZABER
BMERAERE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

ANE " X2 N2
= B /A

REMUNERATION POLICY OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Allowances (before tax) received by the Company's Independent Non-executive Directors
in 2010 were as follows:

Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu

25T E

Wu Xiaogen (appointed on 19 March 2010)
RER(KR_Z—ZF=A+NLBEZE)
Ji Weidong (appointed on 19 March 2010)
EHR(MNZZE—ZTF=ATNBEEME)
Shao Ruiging (appointed on 28 June 2010)
BHE(RZE—TF A+ /\BEET)
Hu Honggao (terminated on 19 March 2010)
HEER(RZE—F=A TN BEE)
Zhou Ruijin (terminated on 19 March 2010)
Ame(R=Z2—ZF=A T HEET)
Wu Baiwang (terminated on 28 June 2010)
RAFE(RZZ—ZTF A +/\BEEE)
Xie Rong (terminated on 28 June 2010)
HE(R=ZT—ZF A= 1+/\BEHE)

AVIATION SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE

The first regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2010 was held on 20
January 2010, during which the establishment of the Aviation Safety and Environment
Committee was agreed and the “Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and
Environment Committee” was passed. The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session
of the Board of the Company was held on 19 March 2010, during which it was agreed
that the aviation safety and environment committee of the Company comprises Mr.
Ma Xulun, Mr. Luo Chaogeng and Mr. Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu, and Ma Xulun serves as the
Chairman of the Committee.

The Aviation Safety and Environment Committee is a specialized committee under the
Board. It is responsible for consistent implementation of the relevant laws or regulatory
of national aviation safety and environmental protection, examining and overseeing
the aviation safety management of the Company, studying, considering and making
recommendation in regard to the aviation safety duty plans and major issues of the
related safety duties and overseeing their implementation, studying, considering
and making recommendation about the major issues of environmental protection
on the domestic, international and aviation carbon emission and overseeing their
implementation.

The Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee was posted on
the website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company undertakes that the disclosure it makes is fair and the reports it provides
are comprehensive and transparent. The ultimate responsibility of the Chairman of the
Board is to ensure effective communication with investors and to ensure that the Board is
aware of the views of substantial shareholders. Accordingly, the Chairman is required to
meet the shareholders in this regard and the routine communication of the Board with
the substantial shareholders is conducted through the company secretary.

The Company has drawn up and implemented an Information Disclosure and
Management System and has further improved the information disclosure system in
order to ensure the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to
public; the Company has also established an information disclosure office for which the
company secretary is responsible. The information disclosure office is mainly responsible
for the collection, collation and compilation of basic information for disclosure, and is
also responsible for drawing up the rules and systems for information disclosure and
related internal control and procedures. It is responsible for monitoring the correct
implementation of the various control measures.
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The Company has also implemented an Investor Relationship Management System and
Investor Relationship Management Detailed Implementation Rules, which specifies the
basic principles and the institutional structure of the investor relationship management,
as well as the duties and responsibilities of investor relationship work, so as to further
foster corporate integrity and discipline, and to realize standardized operation, with
the ultimate aim of maximizing the corporate value and shareholders" interests, and
ensuring that benefits of investors are protected.

The Company has released information in relation to its quarterly results. In the latest
annual general meeting held on 28 June 2010 in Shanghai, the meeting was open to
all the shareholders and the media. A total of 31 shareholders attended in person or by
proxy.

In the annual general meeting, each matter was proposed as an individual resolution
and voted by poll.

Investors and the public may access our website and download related documents
briefings. The website also sets out details of each of the Group’s operations.
Announcements, notices or other documents issued by the Company may also be
downloaded from the website of the Company.

In 2010, the company secretary and manager of the capital investment market
department held 2 specialized meetings with securities analysts in respect of 2010
annual financial results and interim financial results, 2 press conference with financial
media and organized 50 one-to-one roadshows.

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, at least 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company is held by
the public. As at 31 December 2010, there were a total of 270,738 shareholders on the
Company'’s register of members.

For any enquiries of the Board, shareholders may use the contact number 8621-
62686268, e-mail at ir@ceair.com to contact the company secretary, or they may
put forward their questions in the annual general meeting or extraordinary general
meetings. In respect of the procedures for shareholders to convene annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meetings, they may make enquiries of the company
secretary through the aforesaid channels.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong
Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
30 March 2011
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

ESEREE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2010, the members of the Supervisory Committee, basing themselves on the powers
bestowed upon them by the PRC Company Law and the Articles of Association of the
Company and their sense of responsibility toward all the shareholders, actively carried
out their tasks, faithfully performed their supervisory duties and protected the legitimate
rights and interests of the Company and of all the shareholders.

I Meetings Convened by the Supervisory Committee:

1. On 17 April 2010, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, at which it adopted
the Report of the Supervisory Committee for the year 2009, and resolved that it
would be put forward to the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company for
consideration; the Committee considered the financial report of the Company
for the year 2009 truly reflected the financial position and operating results of
the Company which was objective and fair, and resolved that it would be put
forward to the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company for consideration;
the Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the annual report for 2009
prepared by the Company and expressed a written audit opinion. Meanwhile, the
Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the 2010 first quarterly report
and expressed a written audit opinion;

2. On 28 June 2010, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, at which it was
resolved that Ms. Liu Jiangbo would become the chairman of the sixth session of
the Supervisory Committee;

3. On 27 August 2010, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, at which it
reviewed the full text and summary of the Company’s interim report for 2010 and
expressed a written audit opinion;

4. On 28 October 2010, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting, at which It
reviewed the full text and summary of the Company’s 2010 third quarterly report
and expressed a written audit opinion.
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ESEREE

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Independent Opinion of the Supervisory Committee:

Legality of the Operation of the Company

— EEgBVER:
In 2010, the Supervisory Committee monitored the procedures of convening the

1 RAMCEEERR
general meetings and Board meetings of the Company and their resolutions,
execution of the resolutions passed in the general meetings by the Board, and
execution of the resolutions passed in the Board meetings by the management.
It is of the view that the Company has strictly complied with the Company Law,
the Securities Law, the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the Company
and other regulations in drawing operational decisions, monitored its operations

0106 - EESURARRAE EFg
based on law, continuously optimized the internal control system and further

MARILE  REFHE  HEFENIRE
SRAMER - HE
MERETTEE R

HEEENTEZTERE
i /
enhanced its corporate governance standards. The Directors and the senior

AN
AR

R EAR R R(A
AUE) (EFE) (LBEFRFAREE
mERA) - (EBE
management of the Company were able to protect the general interests of the
shareholders and the Company and carry out their duties with dedication. The

prejudicial to the interests of the Company.
2.

Supervisory Committee did not discover any of their actions that in any way
violated laws, regulations, or the articles of association of the Company or were

ZAERARES L
MHRAD  (RRER)REMB B EAETT

REREK - ROERBEIE - TETEAN T
HIHE - REDREBKERE —FRIT - AA
EEREREEASREREERRRAA
BRANAEHE PDRE  EFFXR
BEREERERE EH - AREEIIES
NANEREER
Financial Position of the Company 2. REEMBER
The Supervisory Committee seriously reviewed the Company’s 2010 financial EEeREEZ T AR0I0FEMERE
reports, 2010 profit distribution proposal, 2010 annual report and the 2010 RER0I0FEANEAARLIER - 220105 F
financial audit report issued by PRC and international auditors expressing HEMARBERINEET RO A ERE B
unqualified opinions. The Supervisory Committee resolved that the Company's =3
2010 financial report truly reflected the financial position and operating results 2R
of the Company for the period. The Supervisory Committee agreed to the 2010
financial audit report issued by auditors and the 2010 profit distribution proposal.
3. Proceeds and Purchases or Sale of Assets of the Company

M2010FEHBRAMEEEMIH - B

A RERVFENNBHREAEERE

THREHRRBNFTBARRTE LR - &
The Supervisory Committee confirmed there was no fund raising during the

EEREFAMEENAR010FEHHEE

TR - RABAFRR00FEFEDEESR
NG
current year and conducted examination on the resolutions in respect of major

3 N
EEOR
acquisitions, asset disposals and connected transactions and did not discover any

NAIEEESRKE  HEEERBR

acts of insider trade, prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders or result in
turnover of the assets and prejudicial to the interests of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

ESEREE

4. Connected Transactions of the Company

The Supervisory Committee conducted examinations to all the connected
transactions of the Company in the current year, and believed that all the
contracts, agreements and other relevant documents related to the connected
transactions of the Company in the current year had complied with the legal
procedures and the terms of the transactions were fair and reasonable to the
Company and shareholders as a whole. The connected transactions were dealt
with under stringent principles of fairess, impartiality and transparency. The
Supervisory Committee did not discover any acts of insider trading or breach of
good faith by the Board of Directors in making decisions, signing of agreements
and information disclosure.

In the new year, the Supervisory Committee will, as in the past, conscientiously exercise
the powers bestowed upon it by the Articles of Association of the Company and perform
corresponding obligations, further strengthen its supervision of the Company's financial
affairs and ensure compliant business practices. It will continue to explore monitoring
and control mechanisms which are of benefit in protecting investors and promoting the
Company's development.

The Supervisory Committee is extremely grateful for the continuous support for its work
offered by all the shareholders, Board of Directors, staff and workers.

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee

Liu Jiangbo
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shanghai, the PRC
30 March 2011
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
HEEFE

The Company's concept of social responsibilities covers three areas namely economic
responsibilities, social responsibilities and environmental responsibilities.

It is the overall trend for corporate development to be committed to safe, clean,
intensive and green development in response to the call for a low-carbon environment.
Treating the construction of a harmonious corporation as an integral part of the
establishment of a harmonious society, harmonious environment and harmonious
community, the Company strengthens its energy management, advocates green flying,
adheres to rules of energy saving and emission reduction, shoulders the social obligation
as a corporate citizen, and seeks common development and progress with the society,
environment and community.

On the conference of International Air Transportation Association, the Chairman of the
Company, on behalf of the civil aviation industry of China, expressed his standpoint of
adhering to the principle of “joint but different responsibilities” in handling the
issue of climate change and control over greenhouse gas emission.

ENERGY MANAGEMENT
Detailed Benchmarks

Enhancing energy management and promoting energy saving and emission reduction.
Over 98% of energy consumption of CEA is the consumption of aviation fuel. The
Proposal for the Implementation of Energy Saving 2010 ( 20104 £ gE s BE T 1E
E i Z) ) has been formulated to break down the annual target under a dual-
benchmark appraisal system comprising aviation fuel consumption and regular energy

consumption.

In 2010, the combined energy consumption was 4.36 million tons of standard coal,
among which aviation oil consumption (not including Shanghai Airlines) was 2.92
million tons (equivalent to 4.3 million tons of standard coal) or 98.6% of the combined
consumption. Energy consumption was 0.776 tons of standard coal per RMB10,000
sales revenue for the year. Compared to 2009, 1.08 million tons of standard coal was
saved in total, calculated on the basis of consumption per RMB10,000 sales revenue for
the year.
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Data of Energy Consumption (excluding Shanghai Airlines) BEREBER(TE L)
Increase/
decrease
for the
2010 2009 same period % change
Items 1HE 20105 2009F (5 A 3Rk R
Energy consumption per hour of flight AT/ N\ FER
(tons/ hour) (W8 7]NBF ) 3.129 3.104 0.025 0.81%
Regular energy consumption (excluding EIREEFE (T ESHUM)
aviation fuel) (tons of standard coal) (WBIZYES ) 58,806 55,156 96,258 11.49%
Combined energy consumption RERERE(IZEELR)
(standard coal) 4,359,349 3,881,761 477,588 12.30%
Energy consumption per RMB10,000 BrERk AR
sales revenue (tons of standard coal/ (WEAZAERE & T)
RMB10,000) 0.776 0.970 -0.194 -20.00%

The increase for per-unit energy consumption was mainly attributable to the substantial
increase in weight carried in 2010.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
HERE

Measures for Saving Energy

57 items of energy saving and emission reduction were available for the full year. Such
items were for the refitting of engines for energy saving and environmental protection,
the upgrading R&D for aviation operating control system, and ground-level energy
saving etc.. Large-scale maintenance was carried out for the incoming water pipes
network at aircraft affairs area of Honggiao, under which leakage of water was reduced
to save water resources. Renovation works were done for saving energy at the central
air-conditioning system of flight equipment, resulting in cutting electricity charges
by RMB696,000 and effectively curbing and eliminating electricity pollution such as
harmonic waves.

With the theme of “Save Energy and Reduce Emission by Everybody”,
promotional campaigns were embarked upon to advocate the concept of environmental
protection and energy conservation. A series of energy saving and environmental
protection experience activities were conducted to promote and intensify the spirit of
green responsibilities, the awareness of energy conservation and recycling, and the
concept of low-carbon and environmental protection, via activities such as making up
the promotional manuals for environmental driving called “Energy Saving, Emission
Reduction, Low-carbon and Environmental Protection”, organizing vehicle
petrol saving competition, sharing experience on energy shortage and giving seminars
on environmental and energy issues.

ETS Projects

We completed relevant work for the Emission Trading System (“ETS") of the European
Union ("EU") and submitted our tonnekilometre surveillance proposal and emission
surveillance proposal to EU and obtained its approval. After preliminary research and
investigation, data extraction testing and data verification, we completed the procedures
of data extraction compilation and reporting for our tonnekilometre surveillance
proposal and emission surveillance proposal, which have been pre-verified by Bureau
Veritas S.A. in France.

LOW-CARBON FLYING

Adhering to the idea of dual focus on both energy conservation and development and
mutual coordination between development and saving, and with the target of lowering
resources and energy consumption, we advocate the concept of “low-carbon flying”.
We seek to form a production approach which consumes and emit less but perform
more, to foster organic and efficiency-oriented growth, and establish a resource-
conservative and environmental friendly enterprise.

“Low-carbon flying" is implemented via standardized and regulated management.
More than 90% of our flights undergo petrol-filling and flying in accordance with our
“low-carbon flying” scheme and reduce their fuel consumption and lower carbon
emission through approaches such as system restrictions, management enhancement
and technological innovation.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
tEEE

Optimization of Fleet

We ensure the mechanical functionality of our fleet by eliminating and surrendering
the lease of old aircraft and introducing newer aircraft on an annual basis, in addition
to repair and replacement of engines and daily maintenance works. In the year, we
surrendered the lease of 15 old aircraft, 9 out of which are MD90 aircraft of an average
fuel consumption of 2.9 tons per hour, replaced with A320 aircraft of the same grading
which consumes an average of 2.4 tons of fuel per hour. On a comparative basis, annual
saving of aviation fuel is in excess of 20,000 tons.

Technological Emission Reduction
Installation of Small Wings

The installation of additional small wings can improve the dynamic performance of the
aircraft in air and enhance the economic efficiency of fuel combustion as well as stability
of the aircraft. At the same time, it also reduces emission of greenhouse gases and the
noise distribution of taking-off and landing. The Company was a pioneer in installing
small wings on its B737NG series of aircraft. It is estimated that with the installation
of small wings, B737NG aircraft can deliver a fuel-saving rate of about 2.5%, which
makes a saving of 210 to 220 tons of aviation fuel per aircraft per annum, assuming an
average daily utilization of 10 hours.

RNP Application

The sophisticated navigation technology named Required Navigation Performance is
a new technology adopting to guide the landing and take-off of aircraft by using the
built-in navigation equipment of the aircraft with the global positioning system. The
installation of a sophisticated navigation system enables an aircraft to perform beyond
the existing weather standard for landing and take-off at airports and the restriction
of minimum landing altitude, remarkably reduces delays and returns due to weather
conditions, and maximizes transportation capability. The implementation of RNP
operations can save 5 to 10 minutes compared to conventional meter processes for
incoming and departing flights and it also reduces fuel consumption.

Currently, the RNP technology is applied in the company’s routes to Nyingchi, Lhasa,
Lijiang, Yushu, Xining, A-li and Huangshan. The promotion and use of the RNP project
represents a frontier for domestic civil aviation and enhances the flying safety level in
our flying operations at special and highland airports, reaping fruitful results in economic
efficiency, energy conservation and emission reduction.

Improvement of Performance

Through China Air Transportation Association, the Company has stated its requests as
to engine, aviation control, air conveyance for air-conditioning, fuel system, computer
system, aircraft weight etc. to aircraft manufacturers. Technological Emission Reduction
can thus be achieved by improving aircraft performance, optimizing flying operations
and reducing the wastage as a result of over-maintenance.

Temporary Routes

93 temporary direct-flight routes have been opened after active negotiation and
coordination with various parties including the Civil Aviation Administration of China
and Air Traffic Management Bureau. Temporary routes play a positive role in speeding
up air traffic flow, reducing flow control and fostering energy conservation and emission
reduction.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
HERE

APU Management and GPU Usage

The use of electricity-driven and gas-driven vehicles and ground facilities in place of
APU (auxiliary power unit) when aircraft is on airfield, and the minimized usage time for
APU and air deed of APU can achieve the purpose of energy conservation and emission
reduction. An APU Usage Management Rules ( {APUEFEIERE ) ) has been
formulated and is being gradually promoted to 18 domestic and foreign ports which
meet the criteria. At Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Pudong airports, the rate of use of GPU
(ground power unit), which reduces noise pollution and is highly environmental friendly,
as a replacement of APU has reached 90%. At present, we also act positively in support
of CAAC's promotion of ground bridge-connected equipment for replacing APU items.

Other Measures:

The formulation of flight plans with the use of computer systems to conduct dynamic
analysis, surveillance and control of and over aviation operations;

The optimization of aviation routes by reducing ground waiting time and flying time of
flights;

The implementation of weight reduction of aircraft by reducing volume of water-filling
and on-flight magazines;

The enhancement of cost control and management of direct operations and the
establishment of a long-lasting management mechanism by adjusting and publishing
the cost indices of different aircraft models from time to time;

The reduction of pollution by introducing on flights the use of one-off cups, cutleries and
trash bags made of naturally biodegradable materials such as corn starch.

Key Awards related to Social Responsibilities

On 27 December, Eastern Airlines World Expo Work Leadership Team is recognized as
an "Advanced Group in Shanghai World Expo” ()&t {E & Jo #E £252) by the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council of China;

On 27 December, Shanghai Passenger Cabinet Services Department of the Company
was recognized as an "Advanced Group in Shanghai World Expo” ( E/&tt & e
JeiE 52 58) by the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State
Council of Ching;

On 5 January 2011, the Company was granted a Gold Award in “Special
Contribution Award to Sponsors of Shanghai World Expo China 2010" (&
20106 EBtHES BB EERIE RIS 59);

On 19 August, the northwestern branch of the Company was recognized as a “National
Hero Group for Rescue Work in Earthquake" (%[BT 2= KUK S S £8);
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
HEEE

On 16 December, the Company was granted the award of “Outstanding Enterprises
with Good Corporate Social Responsibilities in China" (FE ¥t EE
1 3 48) by entities including the New China News Agency, and Mr. Liu
Shaoyong, our chairman, was recognized as an “Outstanding Person with Good
Corporate Responsibilities in China” (P B34 & F T4 AP L9);

In November, the Company was recognized as an “Outstanding Corporate Citizen
in China 2010" (2010 BI{E &% A R) by Corporate Citizenship Committee
under China Social Work Association;

In December, the Company was granted the award of “Golden Bee Leadership
Enterprise with Outstanding Corporate Social Responsibilities Report 2010"
(B H2010BF B FEL S B EHRE BHIK28) by WTO0 Guide KWTOAL 7
BT

On 15 October, the Company was recognized as a corporate “Future Star” (R 7 £)
by National Business Daily (£ B 4% 755 B ¥R 1L);

On 18 September, the Company was recognized as a “Low-carbon Pioneer
Enterprise 2010" (201058 A% 5t 51> %) by China Times (£ B B3R 41);

On 20 August, the Company was granted the “Flying Safety Four-star Award” (7%
1T& 22 5%) by CAAC.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

R GTE: e

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 101 to 220, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors consider necessary
to enable the preparation of these financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the
Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B EN R S

OTHER MATTERS
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for you, as a body,

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BOtERERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—FF+ - A =+—HIFFE

2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
T ARMFT ARMTFIT
Revenues WA 5 73,803,659 38,989,659
Other operating income Hih& WA 6 658,620 1,288,017
Operating expenses BETH
Aircraft fuel FepRR (21,605,611) (12,254,980)
Gain on fair value movements of derivatives PETARREE
financial instruments FE e 8 833,384 3,774,688
Take-off and landing charges TR HEFE B (7,454,637) (5,460,351)
Depreciation and amortisation WeERBHEER (6,757,837) (5,202,835)
Wages, salaries and benefits TE& - He k@A 9 (8,940,786) (5,148,877)
Aircraft maintenance Rz (4,614,093) (3,018,724)
Impairment losses BEMERLX 10 (405,391) (109,417)
Food and beverages Mg R ftrE (1,596,454) (1,201,023)
Aircraft operating lease rentals R et HERH S (3,975,557) (2,517,567)
Other operating lease rentals HEfpeea s HERS (601,742) (407,386)
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSER (3,323,830) (1,977,760)
Civil aviation infrastructure levies EMmERLEERES (1,295,612) (890,348)
Ground services and other charges o RS N b B (439,664) (289,993)
Transportation, accommodation and meals BB EEBNEER (1,303,974) =
Office, administrative and other expenses WA BEERHMER (7,283,529) (3,751,763)
Total operating expenses BEL BT (68,765,333) (38,456,336)
Operating profit RERE 11 5,696,946 1,821,340
Share of results of associates Al WNCIE 23 39,228 (46,602)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities IS NCIE S 24 28,154 23,803
Finance income BARS U 12 1,155,384 205,304
Finance costs B 13 (1,501,900) (1,754,640)
Profit before income tax BLATHIE 5,417,812 249,205
Income tax Bi1A 14 (133,491) (52,547)
Profit for the year FEFFHE 5,284,321 196,658
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EEHMEE (BR)
for the year Ug 2 :
Cash flow hedges, net of tax REREEH - HKRTHIE 38 (17,016) 57,914
Fair value movements of available-for-sale THEESREE
investments N BEE (534) -
Fair value movements of available-for-sale BRI AR E SR
investments held by associates BEZALBESR 23 1,543 (585)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEHZRE W 5,268,314 253,987
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BOtERERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ

2010 2009
—E-2F —EThF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR FT ARETFT
Profit attributable to: FEFFESER
Owners of the parent RNARERFEE 4,957,989 168,766
Non-controlling interests JEF RS 326,332 27,892
5,284,321 196,658
Total comprehensive income attributable to: FEAZRSWEHZER :
Owners of the parent RAREREEE 4,941,982 226,095
Non-controlling interests FEFE I 1R 2 326,332 27,892
5,268,314 253,987
Earnings per share attributable to Owners of FEXRATERISTEEREG
the parent during the year =6
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARREG(ARE) 17 0.44 0.03
The notes on page 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements. E1108 EZN0E AR SRR EEEE)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SHEERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %1)

As at 31 December 2010 R = E—FF+_-H=+—H
2010 2009
—B-=F ZETNF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
T ARMFT ARMFT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Intangible assets mRAE 18 11,333,376 69,622
Property, plant and equipment ME - WSS 19 68,822,273 56,703,560
Lease prepayments TERHEER 20 1,406,156 970,835
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft E S I 21 6,356,602 5,081,174
[nvestments in associates WE R E AR 23 807,669 723,022
Investments in jointly controlled entities REREE AR 24 406,170 372,793
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESEE 242,005 57,269
Other long-term assets HitREIEE 25 1,752,115 926,312
Deferred tax assets REFIEE 35 75,188 83,748
Derivative assets PTERE 38 52,081 =
91,253,635 64,988,335
Current assets REEE
Flight equipment spare parts TR R BT 1,286,898 932,260
Trade receivables FENBR R 26 2,127,446 1,370,871
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEN TR« FR R EAEIGR 27 5,157,004 2,370,495
Cash and cash equivalents e RRESZEEY 28 3,078,228 1,735,248
Derivative assets PTHEEE 38 18,970 3,490
Non-current assets held for sale HEFEIERBEE 42 411,535 450,693
12,080,081 6,863,057
Current liabilities nEEE
Sales in advance of carriage FHEER 2,577,855 1,420,183
Trade payables and notes payable S BR AN FEN iR 29 4,275,443 6,480,459
Other payables and accrued expenses Ht R R IERE A 30 14,536,168 11,517,204
Current portion of obligations under AEHEAENREIBS
finance leases 31 2,137,831 2,125,430
Current portion of borrowings ERERENER D 32 15,210,660 12,330,075
Income tax payable FERIFHIE 64,787 21,126
Current portion of provision for return condition AT E R R B ED
checks for aircraft under operating leases BEREEGENREET D 33 339,091 609,884
Derivative liabilities PTEARE 38 121,982 1,006,286
39,263,817 35,510,647
Net current liabilities BREBARS (27,183,736) (28,647,590)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABARS 64,069,899 36,340,745
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
SHEERRER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2)
As at 31 December 2010 R=E—FF+_-H=+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
T AR¥FTT ARBTFIT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Obligations under finance leases REHERE 31 17,070,502 17,244,805
Borrowings (= 32 23,354,997 13,004,874
Provision for return condition checks for KR THE R R B BMERTE
aircraft under operating leases = 33 2,475,412 1,237,871
Other long-term liabilities HiEHEE 34 1,804,862 1,203,423
Deferred tax liabilities FELEFIAR S 35 51,814 51,539
Post-retirement benefit obligations IRIKB BT 36(b) 2,556,001 1,798,707
Derivative liabilities PTEAE 38 194,425 123,345
47,508,013 34,664,564
Net assets BEE 16,561,886 1,676,181
Equity s
Capital and reserves attributable to BB EREEE
the owners of the parent AR AN K s
Share capital A% 40 11,276,539 9,581,700
Reserves FE | 3,994,748 (8,347,147)
15,271,287 1,234,553
Non-controlling interests JESR I RS 1,290,599 441,628
Total equity AR 16,561,886 1,676,181
Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
2B E BEfMm
Director Director
3 0
The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements. FN0EEN0EMHIEAES FHTSTRERAEREEID o
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COMPANY'’S BALANCE SHEET
AEEERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %1)
As at 31 December 2010 R = E—FF+_-H=+—H

2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
T ARMFT ARMTFIT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Intangible assets mRAE 18 11,323,299 66,990
Property, plant and equipment ME - WSS 19 51,777,767 47,948,792
Lease prepayments TERHEER 20 398,860 409,631
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft E S I 21 6,231,270 5,081,174
Investments in subsidiaries WENH B AT 22 4,083,117 2,523,715
Investments in associates KB REZ A a) 23 578,836 522,058
Investments in jointly controlled entities KEREZERNT] 24 323,238 301,802
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESREE 223,729 45,520
Other long-term assets HEMREEE 25 914,799 784,490
Derivative assets PTERE 38 52,081 =
75,906,996 57,684,172
Current assets REEE
Flight equipment spare parts R FABT 1 1,033,280 752,047
Trade receivables FENBR R 26 2,545,900 1,617,660
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEN TR« FR R EAEIGR 27 5,553,366 3,314,001
Cash and cash equivalents e RRESZEEY 28 851,283 1,118,230
Derivative assets PTHEEE 38 18,970 3,490
Non-current assets held for sale HEFEIERBEE 42 411,535 450,693
10,414,334 7,256,121
Current liabilities mENBE
Sales in advance of carriage FHEER 2,190,776 1,420,183
Trade payables and notes payable S BR AN FEN iR 29 4,701,951 6,293,548
Other payables and accrued expenses Ht R R IERE A 30 10,442,380 9,875,704
Current portion of obligations BMEAHEBENREDHD
under finance leases 31 1,796,739 1,915,815
Current portion of borrowings ERE R ENEE D 32 12,347,575 10,219,929
Current portion of provision for return condition KR T E TR IR BB
checks for aircraft under operating leases RS EERREN D 33 46,695 183,099
Derivative liabilities PTHEERE 38 121,982 1,006,286
31,648,098 30,914,564
Net current liabilities FREBARE (21,233,764) (23,658,443)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBARS 54,673,232 34,025,729
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COMPANY'S BALANCE SHEET

[AREEAER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2)

As at 31 December 2010 R=E—FF+_-H=+—H
2010 2009
—E-EF —EThF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
TR AR®FT AEETFT
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Obligations under finance leases REHERE 31 14,081,133 15,387,409
Borrowings (= 32 18,241,540 10,901,784
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft KB THE TR R BB
under operating leases RIS 33 1,470,376 1,099,303
Other long-term liabilities HiEHEE 34 1,498,255 1,121,408
Post-retirement benefit obligations RINERALEE 36(b) 1,891,483 1,596,549
Derivative liabilities PTEAE 38 194,425 123,345
37,377,212 30,229,798
Net assets BEE 17,296,020 3,795,931
Equity L
Capital and reserves attributable to FERRNARREERAE
the owners of the parent AR R {8
Share capital &N 40 11,276,539 9,581,700
Reserves e 41 6,019,481 (5,785,769)
Total equity RS 17,296,020 3,795,931
Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
2EE BEfm
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SHRERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - A=1+—HILF/Z

2010 2009
—B-=F —TENF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARETFT ARMFT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHRERE
Cash generated from operations KEEANRE 43(a) 10,739,839 3,507,690
Income tax paid B ATEH (98,591) (78,274)
Net cash inflow from operating activities RETHELENFRESRA 10,641,248 3,429,416
Cash flows from investing activities RETHNHRLHE
Additions of property, plant and equipment EEYE  #ESREE (6,522,951) (5,685,345)
Payments of short-term deposits with original S AHE R AR B A = {E A 19
maturity over three months RERTERR 27 (434,314) -
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft SR TE S R 21 (3,461,737) (1,927,252)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERTB R RFTER (9,730) -
Repayment of other payables (instalment payments — {&1& E-{th f& {<F 3%
for acquisition of an airline business) (CHURERAN 2= 2750 BT F0) - (30,000)
Investment in available-for-sale financial assets BEMHEESHEE (2,737) —
Net cash acquired through acquisition of Shanghai &6 &z ER A7
Airlines Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai Airlines") (T EMmBRS EUSE FRE 44 1,167,565 -
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets HERAFENIERE
held for sale BEMSNK 430,110 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEYE « WS NRE
equipment IEEE S 101,894 32,888
Interest received B UALE 64,359 109,925
Dividends received 2R A 30,443 53,725
Proceeds from disposal of interests in an associate HEREEAREEMFRE 4,405 210,000
Net cash outflow from investing activities REFDELENZRERE (8,632,693) (7,236,059)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
EHRERER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—ZF4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

2010 2009
—B-2F —EThF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
TR AR®FT AEETFT
Cash flows from financing activities METHNESRE
Proceeds from draw down of short-term B ARG H AR
bank loans 20,803,369 28,536,703
Proceeds from sales and leaseback of aircraft ERARREK R WIRE - 590,253
Repayments of short-term bank loans BB HER (21,942,900) (39,535,319)
Proceeds from draw down of long-term EARBER
bank loans 11,556,258 10,823,185
Repayments of long-term bank loans EBERIER (6,526,565) (9,522,385)
Principal repayments of finance lease obligations EEREHEEEAS (2,201,176) (2,005,264)
Receipts/(payments) of restricted bank deposits B,/ (S5 BIRR i 77 3k (1,174,066) 1,347,525
Interest paid BEAFE (1,644,924) (2,161,085)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest WA EZ JEEHIM
of subsidiaries EmRLE 519,300 =
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BATHR AT R B3R & - 14,056,167
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest of SN EYNGIE =2
subsidiaries s 2 BEF (41,738) (44,156)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing MEZBELEFRS(RE) AA
activities (652,442) 2,085,624
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERRESLEEYF
equivalents 0, G 4) 1,356,113 (1,721,019)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January —A—HMES RIESZEY 1,735,248 3,451,010
Exchange adjustments fERFR (13,133) 5,257
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December +TZA=+—HHRER
REEEY 28 3,078,228 1,735,248
The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements. FEN0EZ20E MMt RE I TSR e RS -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
S ERBER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+ - H =+

—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of parent

FNAREREEELESR
Share Other  Accumulated Non-controlling
capital reserves losses Subtotal interests  Total equity
S i 2EEE N EERMER Y 4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB'000 RIMB'000 RIMB'000 RIMB'000
AREFTT  ARETr  AREFr AREFr  ARETr  ARETx
Balance at 1 January 2009 ZZTNE-A—-B&& 4,866,950 17,911 (18,082,262) (13,097,401) 457,892 (12,639,509)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERBrANS - 57,329 168,766 226,095 27,892 253,987
= Profit for the year —EEFS - - 168,766 168,766 27892 196,658
~ Other comprehensive income —Efira e - 57,329 - 57,329 = 57,329
Other equity movement of an associate b A YNSREF Ea e - 49,692 - 49,692 - 49,692
Issuance of new shares (Note 40) BATHR (Hit40) 4,714,750 9,341,417 - 14,056,167 - 14,056,167
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests St AR RIFERHIME EZSREA
in subsidiaries - - - - (44,156) (44,156)
Balance at 31 December 2009 “EENGETA=T—RHEH 9,581,700 9,566,349 (17,913,49) 1,234,553 441,628 1,676,181
Balance at 1 January 2010 “E-ZE-f-HEH 9,581,700 9,566,349 (17,913,496) 1,234,553 441,628 1,676,181
Total comprehensive income for the year FEALZA W - (16,007) 4,957,989 4,941,982 326,332 5268314
- Profit for the year -EERE - - 4,957,989 4,957,989 326,332 5,284,321
- Other comprehensive loss - Hthiralas - (16,007) - (16,007) - (16,007)
Issuance of new shares for the AOERRGRT
acquisition of Shanghai Airlines R (H40)
(Note 40) 1,694,839 7,399,913 - 9,094,752 - 9,094,752
Non-controlling interests addition A6t LR E M
through the acquisition of FRFNEER (Hitaa)
Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) - - - - 53,920 53,920
Dividends paid to non-controlling B1) NI 2
interests in subsidiaries ERRA - - - - (41,738) (41,738)
Capital contribution by non-controlling B2 R 414
interests in subsidiaries ERLE - - - - 519,300 519,300
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - (8,843) (8,843)
Balance at 31 December 2010 “E-EEF-A=+-HA&H 11,276,539 16,950,255  (12,955,507) 15,271,287 1,290,599 16,561,886

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (the “Company”), a joint stock
company limited by shares was incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") on 14 April 1995. The address of the Company’s registered office is
66 Airport Street, Pudong International Airport, Shanghai, the PRC. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
operation of civil aviation, including the provision of passenger, cargo, and mail
delivery and other extended transportation services.

The Company is majority owned by China Eastern Air Holding Company (“CEA
Holding"), a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC.

The Company's shares are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
The New York Stock Exchange and The Shanghai Stock Exchange.

In January 2010, the Company issued 1,694,838,860 A Shares of the Company
to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Airlines”), a PRC
airlines company previously listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange, in exchange
for all issued shares of Shanghai Airlines. Thereafter, Shanghai Airlines was
delisted and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (details refer to
Note 44).

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Company's Board
of Directors (the “Board”) on 30 March 2011.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 ¥ R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+ - H =+

—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

In preparing the financial statements, the Board has given careful
consideration to the going concern status of the Group in the context of
the Group's current working capital deficit.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's accumulated losses were
approximately RMB12.96 billion and its current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately RMB27.18 billion.

Against this background, the Board has taken active steps to seek
additional sources of finance and improve the Group's liquidity position.
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total unutilised credit facilities
of approximately RMB30.72 billion from banks. The Board believes that,
based on experience to date, it is likely that these facilities will be rolled
over in future years if required.

With the credit facilities and based on the Group's history of obtaining
finance and its relationships with its bankers and creditors, the Board
considers that the Group will be able to obtain sufficient financing to
enable it to operate, as well as to meet its liabilities as and when they
become due, and the capital expenditure requirements. Accordingly, the
Board believes that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements
on a going concern basis without including any adjustments that would be
required should the Company and the Group fail to continue as a going
concern.

2.

EREREBEE)

(a)

mBRERE(H)
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TZA=+—B  AEBEERDHERAK
ERARITREREN/ARE307.2
BT - ARRIEZERELFRERE
EVREHIREAER 2R Al AERE AR F
E

ER ERRENRITEEEE - A&E
FEERE VRO SR IA I BB R ERTT M b
WRETHREAIERE  AARESR
SRA/NEE R SRR RE
KR - ARERE - EEHEBUAR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZFF+—-H =+

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following new standards and
amendments to existing standards which are relevant for the Group's
existed business and mandatory for the first time for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2010:

IFRS3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’, and consequential
amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’, IAS 28, 'Investments in associates’, and IAS
31, 'Interests in joint ventures’, are effective prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition
method to business combinations but with some significant
changes compared with IFRS 3. For example, all payments
to purchase a business are recorded at fair value at the
acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as
debt subsequently re-measured through the statement of
comprehensive income. There is a choice on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interests
(“NCI") in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
NCl's proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All
acquisition-related costs are expensed.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

As the Group has adopted IFRS 3 (revised), it is required
to adopt IAS 27 (revised), “consolidated and separate
financial statements”, at the same time. IAS 27 (revised)
requires the effects of all transactions with NCI to be recorded
in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions
will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The
standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost.
Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair
value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. IAS
27 (revised) also requires that total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the parent and to NCI even if
this results in the NCI having a deficit balance. The standard
requires prospective application of the amendment. The
Group has applied the new policy prospectively to transactions
occurring on or after 1 January 2010. As a consequence, no
adjustments were necessary to any of the amounts previously
recognised in the financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” clarifies
guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination and it permits the
grouping of intangible assets as a single asset if each asset
has similar useful economic lives. This amendment has no
impact on the fair value of the intangible assets acquired
in business combination as intangible assets acquired have
different useful economic lives.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—ZF4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESTERBEE)
(continued)
(@) Basis of preparation (continued) (@) wWPEE(E)
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued) ()  AEEEERPEFETREAEKE
ERI(E)

IAS 17 (Amendment) “Leases”, in the second improvement
project to IFRSs issued by the IASB in April 2009 ("“Second
Improvement Project”) deletes the specific guidance
regarding classification of leases of land, so as to eliminate
inconsistency with the general guidance on lease classification.
This amendment has no impact on the classifications of leases
of lands of the Group as all payments for lands of the Group
are regarded as operating lease prepayments.

IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The
amendment clarifies that the potential settlement of a liability
by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as
current or non-current. By amending the definition of current
liability, the amendment permits a liability to be classified as
non-current (provided that the entity has an unconditional
right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other
assets for at least 12 months after the accounting period)
notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required
by the counterparty to settle in shares at any time. This
amendment has no impact on the Group or the Company's
financial statements.

IAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’. The amendment
clarifies that the largest cash-generating unit (or group of
units) to which goodwill should be allocated for the purposes
of impairment testing is an operating segment, as defined
by paragraph 5 of IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (that is,
before the aggregation of segments with similar economic
characteristics). This amendment has no impact on the Group
or the Company's financial statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

New and amended standards, and interpretations mandatory for the

first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010 but not

currently relevant to the Group

IAS 1 (Amendment)
IFRS 1 (Revised)

IAS 1 (Amendment)

IAS 39 (Amendment)

IFRS 2 (Amendment)

IFRS 5 (Amendment)

IFRIC9

IFRIC 16

IFRIC 17

IFRIC 18

Presentation of Financial Statements
First-time Adoption of IFRSs

First-time Adoption of IFRSs — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Eligible hedge items

Share-based payments — Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transaction

Measurement of non-current assets
(or disposal groups) classified
as held for sale

Reassessment of embedded derivatives
and IAS 39, Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Transfer of assets from customers
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)~ New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards has been issued but not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2010 and which are relevant for the Group's
operations

The following standards and amendments to existing standards
have been published and are mandatory for the Group's accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 or later periods, but
the Group has not early adopted them:

. IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective from 1 January 2013).
The standard addresses classification and measurement
of financial assets, introducing the following changes:
(i) Introduces a single model that has only two classification
categories: amortised cost and fair value, which are driven
by the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual characteristics of the financial
assets. (i) Removes the requirement to separate embedded
derivatives from financial asset hosts, and requires a hybrid
contract to be classified in its entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value. (jii) Prohibits reclassifications except in rare
circumstances when the entity's business model changes
and the changes apply prospectively. (iv) Provides specific
guidance for contractually linked instruments that create
concentrations of credit risk, which is often the case with
investment tranches in a securitisation. (v) Indicates that all
equity investments should be measured at fair value. However,
management has an option to present in other comprehensive
income unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses on
equity investments that are not held for trading. (vi) Removes
the cost exemption for unquoted equities and derivatives on
unquoted equities but provides guidance on when cost may
be an appropriate estimate of fair value. The Group will apply
the standard from 1 January 2013 and it is not expected to
have material impact on the Group's or Company’s financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i)

New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards has been issued but not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2010 and which are relevant for the Group’s
operations (continued)

o IFRIC — Int 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments’, effective 1 July 2010. The interpretation clarifies
the accounting by an entity when the terms of a financial
liability are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing
equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish
all or part of the financial liability (debt for equity swap).
It requires a gain or loss to be recognised in profit or loss,
which is measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued. If the fair value of the equity instruments
issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments
should be measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The Group will apply the interpretation
from 1 January 2011. It is not expected to have material
impact on the Group's or Company'’s financial statements.

o Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (amendments
to IFRIC — Int 14). The amendments correct an unintended
consequence of IFRIC — Int 14, "IAS 19 — The limit on a
defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and
their interaction’. Without the amendments, entities are
not permitted to recognise as an asset some voluntary
prepayments for minimum funding contributions. This was
not intended when IFRIC — Int 14 was issued, and the
amendments correct this. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning 1 January 2011. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments should be applied retrospectively
to the earliest comparative period presented. The Group will
apply these amendments for the financial reporting period
commencing on 1 January 2011. It is not expected to have
material impact on the Group’s or Company's financial
statements.

2.

EREREBEE)

mBRERE(E)

DARERL - B RE F IR 25 B)
BRIER| - (B2 K A3 A ER
H)2RE ()

BRI RERERE e —
RN E19 s TAR
RepaE 8 -2-%
FEA—BRER - UtERE
BEBEBAENEIEE
B - (emBERREEE
RN TR TALRR A
BT ABRE D&
fROE - RSP RN
SERRAETER T AR
AnBEEASRAGREE
ZEZER - gz T A
ARBEREASETE
NemBENALEBEFE
R Z kR TANRAE
B AEEHH-_T——F
—A—HiERALLERE - 18
Mg H AR E AR AR
MBHRRBEMNEATE -

RIEE SR EHTENK(E
B EREREZE S —
EREAE14ENR) - B8
PR I BPR B IS 3RS R R
REC -MEAS1UNE
BRa st A9 — REZZE
E HEESHRERERE
BRIN—BEINMER - 10
RAMER - EBTRIM
RIKRE SHEM B FEMETEN
REEMTMELS  BRE
E - EEBMEREFES
Be BN E 145868
ETRESTA - FtaE
BERER - tEsuaAn
—ZT——F— A —HRKAY
FEHM  YRHFRFR
M o BN A B SRR
ERNZPLLEER - A&
B#ERn—ZE——F—H—H
B 1A /O 3 2 HA FE ARt 48
2N o TEHI RS Y AAREE
KRR EHREREEAE

= 40
N7

TRERAMZRHAERIA | 2010 FH

117
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to
31 December.

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct
attributable costs of investment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Consolidation (continued)

(1)

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The excess of the sum of (a) the consideration transferred, (b) the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and (c) the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill (Note (k)(i)). If this is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from
non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESTHEBEEGE)
(continued)
(b) Consolidation (continued) (b) EBtERAE ()
(i) Associates (i) BFELNA]

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

In the Company's balance sheet, the investments in associates are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses (Note 2(m)). The
results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &2 —F—FF+ - H=1+—HIFFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Consolidation (continued)
(iv)  Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has joint
control over its economic activity established under a contractual
arrangement. The Group's investments in jointly controlled entities
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified
on acquisition.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
by the equity method of accounting based on the audited financial
statements or management accounts of the jointly controlled entities.
The Group's share of its jointly controlled entities" post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements is adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of
losses in a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in
that entity, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.

The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of
assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is attributable to the
other venturers. The Group does not recognise its share of profits or
losses from the joint venture that result from the Group's purchase
of assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to an
independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net
realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in jointly controlled
entities are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses
(Note 2(m)). The results of jointly controlled entities are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM").
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the office of
the General Manager that makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—ZF4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements are presented in Chinese
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Company and the Group's entities.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying
net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and
cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement
within ‘finance income or cost'.

(e) Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
for the sale of goods and the provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of business and value-added
taxes, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to
be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been
resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics
of each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage
(continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Traffic revenues

Passenger, cargo and mail revenues are recognised as traffic
revenues when the transportation services are provided. The value of
sold but unused tickets is recognised as sales in advance of carriage
("SIAC").

Commission income

Commission income represents amounts earned from other carriers
in respect of sales made by the Group on their behalf, and is
recognised in the income statement upon ticket sales.

Ground service income

Revenues from the provision of ground services are recognised when
the services are rendered.

Tour operation revenues

Revenues from tour and travel services and other travel related
services are recognised when the services are rendered.

Other revenue

Revenues from other operating businesses, including income derived
from the provision of cargo handling services and freight forwarding
are recognised when the services are rendered.

Revenue from the sale of goods in connection with the import and
export business is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the customer and collectability
of the related receivables is reasonably assured. This is usually taken
as the time when the goods are delivered and the customer has
accepted the goods.

Rental income from subleases of aircraft is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Rental income from
leasing office premises and cargo warehouses is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—F4#+ - H =+

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is
a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included
in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.

Maintenance and overhaul costs

In respect of aircraft and engines under operating leases, the Group has
obligations to fulfill certain return conditions under the leases. Provision for
the estimated cost of these return condition checks is made on a straight
line basis over the term of the leases.

In respect of aircraft and engines owned by the Group or held under finance
leases, overhaul costs are capitalised as a component of property, plant
and equipment and are depreciated over the appropriate maintenance
cycles (Note 2(1)).

All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income
statement as and when incurred.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on
impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset,
including the interest attributable to loans for advance payments used to
finance the acquisition of aircraft, are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.
Other borrowing costs are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —F—ZF#F 1+ = =1

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is
recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
jurisdictions where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill and deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 & = —

2.

Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Intangible assets

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included
in “intangible assets”
and jointly controlled entities is included in “investments in

. Goodwill on acquisition of associates

associates” and "“investments in jointly controlled entities”
and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balances.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually or whenever there is an indication of impairment and
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units, according to the identified
operating segments, that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.

Sponsorship fees

Sponsorship fees paid and payable in relation to the 2010 Shanghai
Expo have been capitalised and are being amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the sponsorship program. The cost
of the intangible asset is calculated based on the expected cash
payment and the fair value of the services to be provided.

Computer software costs

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years. Costs associated with developing or
maintaining computer software programs are recognised as expense
when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & %= —

2.

Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost which
comprises purchase price, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
assets to the condition for their intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

When each major aircraft overhaul is performed, its cost is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment and
is depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles. Components
related to airframe overhaul cost, are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over 5 to 7.5 years. Components related to engine overhaul costs, are
depreciated between each overhaul period using the ratio of actual flying
hours and estimated flying hours between overhauls. Upon completion of
an overhaul, any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous
overhaul is derecognised and charged to the income statement.

Except for components related to overhaul costs, the depreciation method
of which has been described in the preceding paragraph, other depreciation
of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method to write down their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Owned and finance leased aircraft and engines 15 to 20 years
Fight equipment, including rotables 10 years
Buildings 15 to 45 years
Other property, plant and equipment 5 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset's carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the assets’ carrying amount and are recognised in the income
statement.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant
and equipment pending installation. This includes the costs of construction
or acquisition and interest capitalised. No depreciation is provided on
construction in progress until the asset is completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZFF+—-H =+

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates,

(n)

(o)

(p)

jointly controlled entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or which are not yet available for
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment at least
annually or whenever there is indication of impairment. Other assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet
date.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent acquisition costs of land use rights less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is provided over the lease period
of the land use rights on a straight-line basis.

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft represent payments to
aircraft manufacturers to secure deliveries of aircraft in future years,
including attributable finance costs, and are included in non-current assets.
The balance is transferred to property, plant and equipment upon delivery
of the aircraft.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & %= —

2.

Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Flight equipment spare parts

Flight equipment spare parts are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of flight equipment spare parts comprises the purchase price
(net of discounts), freight charges, duty and value added tax and other
miscellaneous charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
of the flight equipment in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision account for
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

—HIEFE

2.

EESTHBRBEHE)
(q) RERERH
FARBZ(HER AN A B RFHERE

(s)

t)

R BRIE & DI BR o AXAR IR A S 19 AT
B RERBETHORABEBEE
CIBIrHeFeE) - &8 - Bk - 181E
BN EMEIAME - AlERFERER
BEBGBIETRERETHENGEHEE
EFRBEENEEER -

FE WK BR X

FEMER A D A (EE VAR - HARA
BB SR « R EHAEHR R E
EEAE - WETER BRI EEEE
?ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬂﬂl*’vlﬁﬁ’]Eﬁlﬂ\%?ﬂ%%ﬂ&@ﬁ(
AR BIZAR IR AE R E%E

BB ABE EARM BN Uﬁﬂﬁ&?‘
PMIREA - HEBAREBITEERS
B - AR A AR A R E R
MR - BEEAEERESEEMGE
AR MEBIREBRF R HHRLIRER
EMENEZE - BENREEEBER
BIERPEIR - A B EREEEAIE

TU/F'EEWTJEH o AN — IR YRR A IR
" A IEWR B S SRR P o 2

%EW@%}’E’\J?XI@DE%W@ R ERR

MERA -

RERAEEEY

RekRSEEYEERS - RTEM

TR REEBAR=E A A THEM
EHRREIERE

FE S BRFX

ENERAERBRE BT EERM
X BRT%S T FE S T RO MBS © AN 3RS

TEBE—FIARDEEELE
BEIF - BIFTRRKRE) - BRSO ER
//\L@Jjé f&: Tﬁ'] \*EE';E//H:@ELE\ °©

FENBRFIAR R BESVIRIER
MR BRI LR HI AT E

Hig

TRERAMZRHAERIA | 2010 FH

129



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & = —

2.

FFE+—A=1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(v)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date in which case such borrowings are classified as
non-current liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount can be reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 & %= —

2.

Y

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Leases

(1)

A Group company is the lessee

Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases
of property, plant and equipment where the Group has acquired
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other short-term and other long-term
payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. Leased assets are depreciated using a straight-line basis
over their expected useful lives to residual values.

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in a finance lease,
differences between sales proceeds and net book values are deferred
and amortised over the minimum lease terms.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in an operating
lease, differences between sales proceeds and net book values are
recognised immediately in the income statement, except to the
extent that any profit or loss is compensated for by future lease
payments at above or below market value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & = —

2.

FFE+—A=1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w) Leases (continued)

(x)

(ii) A Group company is the lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property,
plant and equipment in the balance sheet. They are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar property,
plant and equipment. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
regarding pension and medical benefits for employees organised by the
municipal governments of the relevant provinces. The contributions to the
schemes are charged to the income statement as and when incurred.

In addition, the Group provides retirees with certain post-retirement
benefits including retirement subsidies, transportation subsidies, social
function activity subsidies as well as other welfare. The liability recognised
in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet
date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated annually using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined
by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess
of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined
benefit obligation are charged or credited to the income statement over the
employees’ expected average remaining working lives.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement,
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In
this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—FF+ - =+—HI-FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(continued)

EREREBEE)

(y) Derivative financial instruments (y) &®fTETH

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance
sheet at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The accounting for subsequent
changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used
in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are accounted for as trading instruments and any unrealised gains or
losses, being changes in fair value of the derivatives, are recognised in the
income statement immediately.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges and that are highly effective, are recorded in the income
statement, along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or
liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting and
which are designated as a specific hedge of the variability in cash flows of
a highly probable forecast transaction, are accounted for as follows:

(i) the effective portion of any change in fair value of the derivative
financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. Where the
forecast transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition
of an asset or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in
equity are included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset
or liability. Otherwise, the cumulative gain or loss on the derivative
financial instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement in the same period during which the hedged
forecast transaction affects net profit or loss.

(i) the ineffective portion of any change in fair value is recognised in the
income statement immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—F4#+ - H =+

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y)

(@)

(aa)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged items is more
than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are
classified as a current asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the
income statement when the committed or forecast transaction ultimately
occurs. When a committed or forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is
immediately transferred to the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments in securities other than subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities, being held for non-trading purposes, are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. At
each balance sheet date, the fair value is remeasured, with any resulting
gain or loss being recognised directly in equity, except for impairment
losses. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income
statement.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset is impaired. In the case of equity securities
classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the securities below its cost is considered an indicator that the
securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss
on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement, is
removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the income statement.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 ¥ R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZFF+—-H =+

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate
risk and fuel price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group's overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to
manage risk exposures whenever management consider necessary.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (the
“Group Treasury”) under policies approved by the Board. The Group
Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group's operating units. The Board provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial
instruments.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Since 21 July 2005, the PRC government reformed the Renminbi
exchange rate system and established a floating exchange rate
system in which the exchange rate would be adjusted and managed
based on market supply and demand with reference to a basket
of foreign currencies. The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is
affected by the domestic and international economy, the political
situation and the currency supply and demand of the currency, and
thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be very
different from the current exchange rate.

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories.
The Group generates its revenue in different currencies, and its
foreign currency liabilities at the end of the period are much higher
than its foreign currency assets. The Group’s major liability item
(purchases and leases of aircraft) is mainly priced and settled in
foreign currencies such as US dollars. In addition, fluctuations in
exchange rates will affect the Group’s costs incurred from foreign
purchases such as aircraft, flight equipment and aviation fuel, and
take-off and landing charges in foreign airports.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group also has exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of
net cash inflow denominated in Japanese Yen from ticket sales
in overseas branch office after payment of expenses. The Group
entered into certain foreign exchange forward option contracts to
manage this foreign currency risk. Details of foreign currency forward
contracts are disclosed in Note 38(b) to the financial statements.

The following table details the Group's and the Company's exposure
at the balance sheet date to major currency risk.

TREREE(H)

(a)

(i)

TRE R EE (R

SMNE Sz (4

A6 B th /R 70 B S0 3 5B B P AE EX
& B T AFIRR ST B IR R
FEIRE A MR AESNE R
@ o NEEBBRA] —EMSNE
2B HARE & 4 DA S 0 it S EE
@ - BRNEEHS NHFFAE
2 R TERER M E38(b) ©

TREE T EEB R A RERBR
&= A HINER K o

Group
£E
2010 2009
—E-ZF “TTNF

usD Euro JPY usb Euro JPY

EVH B BT £ BT A

RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARMTT AREFR AREFTT ARETT ARETT

Trade and other receivables FEUTBR TN 2 B A FE L 3R 1,778,205 84,424 134,822 1,306,616 56,663 93,778

Cash and cash equivalents HEREELZEY 263,051 30,592 12,705 253,776 43,519 30,889

Trade and other payables [ERBRF R B R (615,553) (678) (22,891) (416,288) (462) =

Obligations under finance leases  BEATREE & (16,740,266) - - (17,604,920) - =

Borrowings & (22,072,121) - - (13,157,341) (113,254) -
Currency derivatives at TETEEEAS

notional value 317,890 - - 559,402 - -

Net balance sheet exposure BEBERFE (37,068,794) 114,338 124,636 (29,058,755) (13,534) 124,667

Company
AT
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTHEF

UsD Euro JPY UsD Euro JPY

E B = E BT Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000

ARETFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFfr AREFT

Trade and other receivables O EL e 970,089 50,461 132,581 1,259,231 43,740 93,778

Cash and cash equivalents HERHELEEY 181,499 22,888 1,445 224,095 28,588 11,006

Trade and other payables BRI R E M BT R (457,595) - (20,046) (412,992) = =

Obligations under finance leases  REEREEE (13,448,836) - - (15,537,909) = =

Borrowings 3% (17,661,867) - - (11,962,124) (113,254) -
Currency derivatives at notional ~ T4 TEZHEAS

value 317,890 - - 559,402 - -

Net balance sheet exposure BEABREE (30,098,820) 73,349 119,980  (25,870,297) (40,926) 104,784
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - A=1+—HILF/Z

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. SRimBREE(E)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) £REPEREZE(E)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) () SMNERR(E)

TRETNEEREBERA - A
REEHHEAMGETE 1% - HARE
B A0 A R B RO A 1R 5 K A 2 Y
HAGMERER D R 2 -

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group's
profit and loss and other components of consolidated equity in
response to a 1% appreciation of the RMB against the following
major currencies at the balance sheet date.

Group
&8
2010 2009
e —ZENEF
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HEREAM HREREAM
HERNY WOMTE HIEEHTE a0y Z
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FT AR®F T AREFT AREFT
US dollars eI 365,365 8,346 297,829 41
Euro BT (1,143) - 135 =
Japanese Yen Hit (1,246) - (1,247) -
Company
AT
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEENF
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HREREAM it Hqth
HERNY WOMTE HIEENTE Homxe
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®F T ARETFT ARETFT
US dollars = 295,666 8,346 266,099 41
Euro BT (733) - 409 -
Japanese Yen Hit (1,200) - (1,048) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. SRAREE(E)
(@) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) =EEREZEE)
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FIERE R

The Group's interest-rate risk primarily arises from borrowings and
obligations under finance leases. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk.
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's borrowings
and obligations under finance leases at variable rates were
primarily denominated in US dollars. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of borrowings made to the Group and interest rate swaps
are disclosed in Notes 32 and 38(a) to the financial statements.

To hedge against the variability in the cash flows arising from a
change in market interest rates, the Group has entered into certain
interest rate swaps to swap variable rates into fixed rates.

The following table details the interest rate profiles of the Group's
and the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments at the
balance sheet date.

AREEH R @ g = 2R E AR
LBBEHERE - mEBHMERE
ARERSAEEERRSRE
MR E R o =B E M EE A B S
KL AREHEAZ DA ENEE
Bo-R—F—FF+-F=+—
B AEERFHNRMEANE
REBEHRERBEEIEZRET -
K~ LB S B R RFA R
M4 B BRI B 5 S 5 B P T
32HRNFEE38(a) ©

AT E R R T S R K& P
EMERESRES  AEEFEB—
ERN =S 0GB H R E
L RBBEERNZE -

TRERTEE KA BETBR
SHNEEERTANER -

Group Company
&8 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —TTNF —B-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®TFT ARETT ARBFT
Floating rate instruments SZE)F|RT A
Cash and cash equivalents & RIS ZEY 3,067,661 1,730,991 844,084 1,114,768
Borrowings (R (32,088,011) (22,477,854) (26,133,256) (18,790,618)
Obligation under finance leases B & & & & (19,208,333) (19,241,091) (15,877,872) (17,174,080)
Interest rate swaps at notional 7|2 5 #1449
amount BEAE 4,048,530 2,179,378 4,048,530 2,179,378
(44,180,153) (37,808,576) (37,118,514) (32,670,552)
Group Company
£ AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-EF —EThEF —E-BF —EThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AREFT ARETFT ARBFT
Fixed rate instruments EERERITAE
Borrowings (5 (6,477,646) (2,857,095) (4,455,859) (2,331,095)
Obligation under finance leases FI&EFE R & - (129,144) - (129,144)
Interest rate swaps at notional ~ F|RE 344
amount BERE 375,434 466,817 375,434 466,817
(6,102,212) (2,519,422) (4,080,425) (1,993,422)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 & %= —

Y

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

—HIEFE

3. EREAREE(E)

(a) EEEREZRR)

Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FE= b (F)
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group's TRERTEEMESRIFETE
profit and loss and other components of equity if interest rate had BIERT » BRI EASEE%E
been 25 basis points higher with all other variables held constant. FHEE RN AMIBEIARER
B E AR o
2009
— —TTNF
Effect Effect
Effect on other Effect on other
on profit components on profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HERHAM TR A
IR BoWTE HEGHTE HBomze
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMFIT ARMFT ARBEFT ARKEFT
Floating rate instruments FEFETR (110,424) (10,121) (94,441) (10,952)
Fuel price risk (i) AUBBE R
The Group's results of operations may be significantly affected by == ?%ZISEI—IE‘EE%L
fluctuations in fuel prices which is a significant expense component X A AEENEET S
for the Group. Aircraft fuel accounts for 31% of the Group's FfmER KRBT E - ﬁmﬂﬂi
operating expenses (2009: 32%). The Group has entered into certain PEEREETHNNR(ZF
financial derivatives to hedge against fuel price risk. Details of crude TNEF 1 32%) - AEE BB L
oil option contracts are disclosed in Note 38(c) to the financial S RHTE T B R E R ATBE R
statements. R o RUREIES AN FIBRER
BT S O P EE38(0)
For the year ended 31 December 2010, if fuel price had been 5% RZT—TF+=-A=+—HIt
higher/lower with all other variables held constant (excluding the FE CEMEERETENGE
impact of crude oil option contracts), the Group's fuel cost would AT (NEERBHAENTE) -
have been RMB1,081 million higher/lower. i B FHE MR ER EAREE
5% - AREEMUBK A EF B
EARKE10.81ETT -
Credit risk (iv) 1EEmEE

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to sales agents.
The Group has a credit policy in place to monitor the exposures to
these credit risks on an on-going basis.

AEENEERREIZENES
EREEEY  TESRTAE
FIRTT R EM S BB FHUA
RHERIBANERERR - A&
EEA - EEENEREBREE
EERBETRHENEE
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[E1# 51 75 #f & B4 2L )
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g% —E—FF+—H =+

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(iv)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of blank tickets
are only made available to sales agents with an appropriate credit
history. A major portion of sales are conducted through sales agents
and the majority of these agents are connected to various settlement
plans and/or clearing systems which impose requirements on the
credit standing.

A significant portion of the Group’s air tickets are sold by sales
agents participating in the Billing and Settlements Plan (“BSP"),
a clearing system between airlines and sales agents organised by
the International Air Transportation Association. The balance due
from BSP agents amounted to approximately RMB804 million as at
31 December 2010 (2009: approximately RMB560 million).

Except for the above, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with the exposure spreading over a number of
counterparties.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26.

The Group's cash management policy is to deposit cash and cash
equivalents mainly in state-owned banks and other banks, which are
highly rated by an international credit rating company. The Group
also deposits cash and cash equivalents in an associate financial
institution owned by its holding company (Note 46(c)(iii)). The
management does not expect any loss to arise from non-performance
by these banks and the financial institution.

Transactions in relation to derivative financial instruments are only
carried out with financial institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution. Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these banks.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBX 51 7% #f & 847 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—FF+ - H =+

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)

v)

Liquidity risk

The Group's primary cash requirements have been for additions
of and upgrades to aircraft, engines and flight equipment and
payments on related borrowings. The Group finances its working
capital requirements through a combination of funds generated from
operations and both short and long term bank loans. The Group
generally finances the acquisition of aircraft through long-term
finance leases and bank loans.

The Group operates with a working capital deficit. As at
31 December 2010, the Group's net current liabilities amounted
to RMB27,184 million (2009: RMB28,648 million). For the year
ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded a net cash inflow
from operating activities of RMB10,641 million (2009: inflow
RMB3,429 million), a net cash outflow from investing activities and
financing activities of RMB9,285 million (2009: outflow RMB5, 150
million), and an increase in cash and cash equivalents of RMB1,356
million (2009: decrease RMB1,721 million).

The Directors of the Company believe that cash from operations
and short and long term bank borrowings will be sufficient to
meet the Group's operating cash flow. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group's treasury policy aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available.
The Directors of the Company believe that the Group has obtained
sufficient general credit facilities from PRC banks for financing
future capital commitments and for working capital purposes
(see Note 2(a)).

—HIEFE

3.

ERAREE(H)
() =EEREEGE)

v)

BB AR

AEENTERSFRANR
- BPEERITRENTE X
HR REZEBEERNAE -
AEBEBBEEXRHRRITEH
RESREFAENESES M
REZEBESNTR - AEEE
EARBEEMRITERNTR
REBERE -

AEBEREFRBEBETLE -
RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—1H"
REBFRBABERARE
271.8412 70 (2009 = A R #5286.48
Bx) M-_ZE—ZTF+_A
=+—HIEFE AEEHBH
KETEES RS FRALNBARE
1064118 (ZTTNEF : ARKE
34.29187m) - RAFEH KA EE
B FIR S H A A AR KE92.85
BL(ZZETAE : RE AR
51501 87L)  BERRESEFEEY
EINHAREBS6ET(ZEE
NEF RO AREE17.2148TT) ©

ARREERRAEE R EE
B RIR1THE H B FRERG B S0
2EET  HARTENEEZ
B AEBEEBRECAENE
RS REENEELE -
AAREZREAEECAHE
BEARTESERNERRE -
RN ARER RS BT
2EMFEES (M)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)
(v)  Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity
reserves on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group's and the Company’s financial
liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

3. ERiEpkE
(a) =@
v)

B ()

B E = (&)

B E DA ()

ERERERARSRE - B
SERREE © FEEARFIRA -

TRETAEENI B E RN
FRALESENSBAE KR
HENEIHAER  REREER
EXRAZE KNI B ORI
ETDN - ERAKBHNSEE
BHMARMBRHREIRE - AR
MBEMFEIK - #ULE1218 A
MEIER A EREE N EARE(E -

Group
£8
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2andb5 years 5 years
1EUT 1226 R 2E5FR 5L E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AR®TFT AR¥TFT AR¥TFT
At 31 December 2010 =T—FTHF
+=A=+-8
Borrowings R 16,113,516 8,591,821 9,140,195 6,729,831
Derivative finandial SRITETA
instruments 61,857 4,920 131,903 117,727
Obligations under finance ~ AR EE &
leases 2,476,451 2,539,816 7,498,600 8,359,802
Trade and other payables  FEfHBRFX
KB A AT R 18,151,076 8,830 336,761 314,944
Total k) 36,802,900 11,145,387 17,107,459 15,522,304
At 31 December 2009 —ETRFE
—A=+—H
Borrowings &= 12,886,380 3,174,883 6,523,487 4,356,734
Derivative financial SRIPTETAR
instruments 1,006,286 12,095 6,364 104,886
Obligations under finance ~ BEHEE &
leases 2,466,415 2,388,362 7,405,048 8,752,687
Trade and other payables  FEfTBRFN K
Hfih BT X 17,311,295 9,104 313,092 364,172
Total #azE 33,670,376 5,584,444 14,247,991 13,578,479
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

3.

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. SRAMREE(E)
Financial risk factors (continued) (a) £REPEREZE(E)
Liquidity risk (continued) ) mBEDEEE
Company
AT
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2andb5 years 5 years
10T 122K 2E5F R S5FLE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR¥TFT AR¥TFT AR®FT
At 31 December 2010 =T—F4HF
+=—HA=+—H
Borrowings B 13,078,606 7,077,711 7,010,991 4,977,282
Derivative financial SRITETA
instruments 61,857 4,920 131,903 117,727
Obligations under finance ~ EEAREE &
leases 2,084,165 2,137,332 6,251,938 6,854,100
Trade and other payables  FEfFBR N &
H b FERK 14,552,006 8,830 268,526 314,944
Total B 29,776,634 9,228,793 13,663,358 12,264,053
At 31 December 2009 ZTTNF
+=—A=+—H
Borrowings fE&R 10,651,723 2,752,994 5,549,696 3,427,752
Derivative financial SRSTET R
instruments 1,006,286 12,095 6,364 104,886
Obligations under finance ~ FEHEE &
leases 2,213,131 2,130,374 6,600,565 7,802,646
Trade and other payables  FEfTBRFN K
EAbRE IR 15,563,933 9,104 232,043 364,172
Total Rk 29,435,073 4,904,567 12,388,668 11,699,456
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35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZF#F+—-H =+

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safequard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is
calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. The gearing ratios at
31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

—HILFE

3.

TREREE(H)
(b) EXEREE

REBNBEAREEIR - TRELER
HeEEE - ARBCRIZH AN A E A
RRFFAEREMNE - BRERFRED
BARERABEE AR -

TR R E NG - AEE AT
BRBN TREMNREEER - AR
DIRMEARRE  FTHRIHEEE
VORI &7 -

AEEFNREEABREREES - 1t
HRZREAERIAEEEAE - £
E—ZENR_FENFF_A=+—
B BEAEXRWT :

2010 2009

—E-EF —TENE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT ARET T

Total liabilities FEN=Rit 86,771,830 70,175,211
Total assets B E 103,333,716 71,851,392
Gearing ratio EEAMGBEX 0.84 0.98

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for
financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value,
this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following
fair value measurement hierarchy:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

—HIEFE

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

(continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009.

3. EREAREE(E)

(0 EMEENESEMEBENDAMBETMGE

(/&)

TRETNEBEEMAEE=-Z
ER_EEZAF+-_A=+—H:t=

ARMEE-

P

Group
£®
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E $2E $3E #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥FT AREFT AR%FT
At 31 December 2010 —E-FF
+=A=+-8
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments & @b#TAET A
— Crude oil option contracts — MRS L
(Note 38(c)) (H17£38(c)) - 18,970 - 18,970
— Interest rate swaps — FREBAEH
(Note 38(a)) (H17#38(a)) - 52,081 - 52,081
Available-for-sale financial At ESREE
assets 5,469 - 236,536 242,005
Total Pobi) 5,469 71,051 236,536 313,056
Liabilities =0
Derivative financial instruments & @i474 T A
— Crude oil option contracts — REEEE L
(Note 38(c)) (H17£38(c) - 48,612 - 48,612
— Interest rate swaps — FREHBEL
(Note 38(a)) (K17t38(a) - 191,247 - 191,247
— Forward foreign exchange — INERHIG L)
contracts (Note 38(b)) (K1z£38(b) - 76,548 - 76,548
Total g - 316,407 - 316,407
Group
£H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E EUE FEIE T
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFr ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 31 December 2009 —ZEETNE
+=-A=+—8”
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments & gb$TAE T A
— Crude oil option contracts — RhEES L
(Note 38(c)) (H3£38(c) - 3,490 - 3,490
Available-for-sale A ESREE
financial assets - = 57,269 57,269
Tl @ - 3,490 57,269 60,759
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instruments & gi4T4 T A
— Crude oil option contracts — REEREER
(Note 38(c)) (K13£38(c) - 897,744 - 897,744
— Interest rate swaps — FMEFBAEH
(Note 38(a)) (Kt538(a) - 154,871 = 154,871
— Forward foreign exchange — INERHIEH
contracts (Note 38(b)) (K1z#38(b) - 77,016 - 77,016
Total ok - 1,129,631 - 1,129,631
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. TRIAMEE(E)
(c) Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities (0 2REENERMAEENAAENM
(continued) (#&)
Company
AT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E H2UE H3E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR¥FT AR®FT AR®FT
At 31 December 2010 —E-—EF
+=A=+—H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments 4 g$74 T A
— Crude oil option contracts — FhRHES Y
(Note 38(c)) (Kta£38(c)) - 18,970 - 18,970
— Interest rate swaps — FEEBEH
(Note 38(a)) (Kf5t38(a)) - 52,081 - 52,081
Available-for-sale financial AHHESREE
assets 3,672 - 220,057 223,729
Total Fob L] 3,672 71,051 220,057 294,780
Liabilities =N
Derivative financial instruments & &i$T4 T A
— Crude oil option contracts ~ — BFUmEIEA 4
(Note 38(c) (H17£38(c) - 48,612 - 48,612
— Interest rate swaps — FIRBBEH
(Note 38(a)) (H17:£38(a) - 191,247 - 191,247
— Forward foreign exchange — INEERHIEH
contracts (Note 38(b)) (K17E38(b)) - 76,548 - 76,548
Total g - 316,407 - 316,407
Company
NG
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EY)= £3E fast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT ARMTFIT ARETFIT ARETT
At 31 December 2009 —TTNF
+=—A=+—8
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments & Fh$T74 T A
— Crude oil option contracts — FhRHES Y
(Note 38(c)) (H15%38(c)) - 3,490 - 3,490
Available-for-sale financial AR ESEE
assets - - 57,269 57,269
Total pate) - 3,490 57,269 60,759
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instruments 4 g4$74 T A
— Crude oil option contracts — RBEES L
(Note 38(c)) (B££38(0) - 897,744 - 897,744
— Interest rate swaps — MEFBEH
(Note 38(3)) (B15£38(2) - 154,871 - 154,871
— Forward foreign exchange — HNERHIEH
contracts (Note 38(b)) (K1a£38(b) - 77,016 - 77,016
Total pabe) - 1,129,631 - 1,129,631
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, these instruments are included in level 2 of the
above table.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

e The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present
value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, with the
resulting value discounted back to present value.

e Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

—HIEFE

3. EREAREE(E)

(c)

TRHEENESRABEN D RERNE
(%)

EERMSEENSRTANAREE
BREBEEBERANTSRENE -2
WEFARSNERARESFRZH 25
7 &4 FRAATL - EEREESRE
ERERS  MZFRERRRATR
SFEEETHERMERTISR
A ISR AER - ARERFENESE
BENTIZHREREHETRE -

BRAEEERMZEEN ST AP
BIMTET R R A EEMNAGER
MEEE  MERMTEENAIBETS
BB (A) - BEKBEIBNSER
e Mt E -SRI ANARBEMS
MFTEERBA SR BRESE - Ble
BT AJIASEE -

N—IARZIRE R AL IFARZ A #R52
Mm% - UZERTAIIAEIE -

A (E S B T A8 R E MERME
ECTE

s FBAETANTSEHREXARIH
E -

o MMM AR BEBIEAITEE
et R AR - ARSI
EmREFE -

o EHVINESRMAABENRE
EBREXRAHNEREREE -
mASEEREERHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial statements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2(m) to the financial statements. The recoverable amounts of cash
generating units have been determined based on fair value less cost to
sell and value-in-use calculations. Value-in-use calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management and
certain key assumptions, such as passenger-kilometres yield level, load
factor, aircraft utilisation rate and discount rates, etc.

(b) Fair value of non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale are stated the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2(n). The fair value of non-current assets has been
determined by reference to the estimated market value and/or available
price quotes provided by the potential buyers.

(c) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2(e) to the financial statements. Unused tickets are
recognised in traffic revenues based on current estimates. Management
annually evaluates the balance in the SIAC and records any adjustments,
which can be material, in the period the evaluation is completed.

These adjustments result from differences between the estimates of certain
revenue transactions and the timing of recognising revenue for any unused
air tickets and the related sales price, and are impacted by various factors,
including a complex pricing structure and interline agreements throughout
the industry, which affect the timing of revenue recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 & &

—E—FFL+ A=+

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Frequent flyer programme

The Group operates frequent flyer programmes that provide travel awards
to programme members based on accumulated miles. A portion of
passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent flyer benefits
is deferred and recognised when the miles have been redeemed or have
expired. The deferment of revenue is estimated based on historical trends
of redemptions, which is then used to project the expected utilisation of
these benefits, and estimated fair values of the unredeemed miles. Different
judgements or estimates could significantly affect the estimated provision
for frequent flyer programmes and the results of operations.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine overhaul
costs are based on the Group's historical experience with similar airframe
and engine models and taking into account anticipated overhauls costs,
timeframe between each overhaul, ratio of actual flying hours and estimated
flying hours between overhauls. Different judgments or estimates could
significantly affect the estimated depreciation charge and the results of
operations.

Except for components related to airframe and engine overhaul costs, other
property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated residual
value. The useful lives are based on the Group's historical experience with
similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological changes.
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if
there are significant changes from previous estimates.

Provision for costs of return condition checks for aircraft
and engines under operating leases

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft
and engines under operating leases is made based on the estimated
costs for such return condition checks and taking into account anticipated
flying hours, flying cycle and timeframe between each overhaul. These
judgments or estimates are based on historical experience on returning
similar airframe and engine models, actual costs incurred and aircraft and
engines status. Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect
the estimated provision for costs of return condition checks.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZF#F+—-H =+

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Retirement benefits

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans
which provide retirees with benefits including transportation subsidies,
social activity subsidies as well as other welfare. The cost of providing the
aforementioned benefits in the defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially
determined and recognised over the employees’ service period by utilising
various actuarial assumptions and using the projected unit credit method in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(x) to the financial
statements. These assumptions include, without limitation, the selection
of discount rate, annual rate of increase of per capita benefit payment and
employees’ turnover rate. The discount rate is based on management's
review of local high quality corporate bonds. The annual rate of increase
of benefit payments is based on the general local economic conditions.
The employees’ turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group.
Additional information regarding the retirement benefit plans is disclosed
in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j) to the financial
statements, the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing
prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. In the event that the Group's
estimates of projected future taxable income and benefits from available
tax strategies are changed, or changes in current tax regulations are
enacted that would impact the timing or extent of the Group's ability to
utilise the tax benefits of net operating loss carry forwards in the future,
adjustments to the recorded amount of net deferred tax assets and taxation
expense would be made.

Valuation of acquisition price

The Company issued its A shares to effect the acquisition of Shanghai
Airlines during the year ended 31 December 2010 (Note 44). The fair value
of the shares at the acquisition date is determined based on the quoted
market price of the Company's share issued as of the date closest to the
acquisition date with adjustments to reflect restrictions specific to certain
shares issued. Significant assumptions used when made adjustments for
the value of those restricted shares. Changes to these assumptions may
impact the initial recognised goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(continued)

()

Purchase price allocation for business combination

Accounting for business acquisitions require the Group to allocate the
cost of the acquisition to the specific assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
In connection with the acquisition of Shanghai Airlines, the Company
undertakes a process to identify all assets and liabilities acquired, including
any identified intangible assets where appropriate. The judgements made
in identifying all acquired assets, determining the estimated fair value
assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well
as assets useful lives, may materially impact the Group's financial position
and results of operation. In determining the fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, a valuation was conducted by an
independent valuer and estimated fair values are based on information
available near the acquisition date and on expectations and assumptions
that have been deemed reasonable by management.

There are several methods that can be used to determine the fair value
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The purchase accounting
adjustment relate primarily to the aircraft and engines and land use right
which is valued by using market value approach.

—HIEFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

5. REVENUES 5. WA
The Group is principally engaged in the operation of civil aviation, including the REFBTFTELERMED  BETE E
provision of passenger, cargo, mail delivery, tour operations and other extended B BB IREES R AT AERRT o

transportation services.

Group
58
2010 2009
—E-BF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT ARBFT
Traffic revenues PELETT N 67,390,909 36,924,830
— Passenger — BB 58,968,019 32,800,411
— Cargo and mail —EENRE 8,422,890 4,124,419
Ground service income o AR URA 1,957,610 974,732
Tour operations income i3 AT ON 1,932,510 -
Cargo handling income EYIEREEWRA 673,329 296,827
Commission income AU A 460,259 206,137
Others Hith 1,389,042 587,133
73,803,659 38,989,659
Note: TR
Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, the major elements of the ARIE A [ 5 12 & AR R RAFBIBIHLE - K E BB
Group’s traffic revenues, ground service income, tour operations income, cargo handling REBDEVEH WA - HETIRFUA - 1522 IR
income, commission income and other revenues are generally subject to business tax levied A BEYEIERA - R UA REMBA FIZ3%
at rates of 3% or 5%. S%ETEIP B E R -
Pursuant to the notice of exemption of business tax on the provision of international WRIEHEANRAFIEI S - BIR BB/ E
transportation services (Cai Shui [2010] No. 8) jointly issued by Ministry of Finance and the CRTEES « BIR B4 BRI B8 i 4 75 R &
State Administration of Taxation, the Group's revenues from the provision of international EHEEH) (AT (2010185509 #E - BE=F—F
transportation services are exempt from business tax from 1 January 2010. F—H—HE  FEEIEREEE SR E
ESA
The business tax incurred and set off against the above Group’s revenues for the year ended BE—F—FF_A=1—HIFE BEEHL
31 December 2010 amounted to approximately RMB1,463 million (2009: approximately MR EBPRA ) ERBHIRARKE14.6318T(=F
RMB1,019 million). EAF : ARK10.1987T) ©
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B 5 R R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ ZE —E—FF+ - A=+—HIFFF
6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME Hh XA
Group
£@
2010 2009
—B-2F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT ARMFIT
Other operating income Hp &2 A
— Refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies —REMERREERES
(Note (a)) RE (27 (a)) - 831,749
— Other government subsidies (Note (b)) — H BT AL (D) 658,620 456,268
658,620 1,288,017

Note: ATEE

(a)  Pursuant to Cai Jian (2009) No. 4 issued by Ministry of Finance and Civil Aviation (&) WRIBEAHERPERFMERR -EENE
Administration of China in 2009, the civil aviation infrastructure levies collected from A AT [2009] 45 X HIARTE - B =FEN
PRC domestic airlines for the period from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009 would be F+H—BEE_FTFENFAA=1H " F
refunded. The amount for the year ended 31 December 2009 represented the refunds 150 [ (A1 AL 25 2 B fE AN AR ) EC AL AR e AR e B 7R
of civil aviation infrastructure levies received by the Group in 2009. B ETHBEREE - —FENFERHEE

WA BAE R = FENFEWE R AERIE
W) R B R e ER 2 RE -

(b)  Other government subsidies represent (i) subsidies granted by local governments (b)  BEMEATRHEE B RS BT RAE
to the Group; and (ii) other subsidies granted by various local municipalities to BEIERL R (i) ST BT 43 5B A 5 AT
encourage the Group to operate certain routes to cities where these municipalities EEHMAR 4G T HIFERL ©
are located.

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION nEER
(@) CODM, office of the General Manager, reviews the (a) FEEEARE(BRKERNE)E

Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources.

The Group has one reportable operating segment, reported as “airline
operations”, which are structured and managed separately. The “airline
operations” comprises the provision of air passenger, air cargo services,
mail and ground logistics.

Other services including tour operations, aviation training, air catering and
other miscellaneous services are not included within the airline operations
segment, as their internal reports are separately provided to the CODM.
The results of these operations are included in the “other segments”
column.

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms
and conditions that would be available to unrelated third parties.

BEHNARENAIREATHE
RERARTEER

REBERFEEZEBDE - BIIMESE
KoM LEEBLEOFREE - iz
EBOMEREE  BE  BERCE
BR7%

HNEMRT - BRERERE - MZEE
Jl - MEERUREMEIAZER - AR
RAERERTELERREEROMZE
EBoEmET - A ARSZEELH
AFZEEBRE DL - ZEXEBNEE
BEATE B DR -

7> 82 A 32 55 12 B A ek 185 1 R 22
BB R RARIETT ©
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & = —

FFE+—A=1

—HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEER(GE)

(@) CODM, office of the General Manager, reviews the (a) ETEEERFE(BALERNE)E
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance BEMEAEENADREADME
and allocate resources. (continued) EERERDIEER - ()

In accordance with IFRS 8, segment disclosure has been presented in a BRI BB B 75 R 5 2RI B85 - D EfE
manner that is consistent with the information used by the Group’s CODM. FHRE M EE S A B RSB F ELL
The Group's CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable EARREERNER 5 - ZISEIE’JE
to each reportable segment based on financial results prepared under the B RARE AR B g AR
PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (the “PRC Accounting IR TS AR B %%a‘ﬁﬂﬁ%
Standards”), which differ from IFRS in certain aspects. The amount of B BENRBE  HERLHHEEER
each material reconciling items from the Group's reportable segment M mEEAMTE - BIHEAKE
revenue and profit or loss, arising from different accounting policies are set BN E SR TR AR E 5 S
out in Note 7(c) as below. KA AT HEEY EAREENIE B 25
270 °
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows: BE-_ZZE+_A=+—HIFE
mﬂﬁﬁ?mTWT
Airline Other
operations segments  Elimination  Unallocated* Total
MEXKIW HMEBAIH SPEESE KHIWEE* &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Reportable segment revenue from %i4h& 5 #R%
external customers DEUBA 72,029,550 2,928,558 - - 74,958,108
Inter-segment sales DRI 8 427,141 295,335 (722,476) - -
Reportable segment revenue HED WA 72,456,691 3,223,893 (722,476) - 74,958,108
Reportable segment profit WD EF AT
before income tax 5,633,323 88,407 - 119,363 5,841,093
Other segment information HithH &R
Depreciation and amortisation 37 & A 4% A 6,916,308 69,397 - - 6,985,705
Impairment losses BERMEERX 425,772 1,289 - - 421,061
Capital expenditure EAMLH 22,752,632 336,978 - - 23,089,610
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are as follows: HE_ZTNFT_A=1+—HIEFE
BV D B A T AR -
Airline Other
operations segments Elimination Unallocated* Total
MEEBHT HuEBHE  HHEESHE  KHOEEB* Aat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFTT AREFT
Reportable segment revenue from %i4h& B #HR%
external customers DEUBA 39,727,636 103,695 - - 39,831,331
Inter-segment sales o= EIEE% - 126,124 (126,124) = =
Reportable segment revenue WEDEA 39,727,636 229,819 (126,124) - 39,831,331
Reportable segment profit HEDHRAIFE
before income tax 644,307 18,563 - (22,749) 640,121
Other segment information Hith 5 E
Depreciation and amortisation ~ $r & F1# $5 % 5,278,242 54,494 - - 5,332,736
Impairment losses BERERK 118,022 202 - = 118,224
Capital expenditure BN 8,112,355 70,386 - - 8,182,741
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —F—ZF#F 1+ = =1

—HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEER(E)
(@) CoDM, office of the General Manager, reviews the () FEREAREHREERNE)E
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance BEMAEENRNDPREUDFE
and allocate resources. (continued) WELIE T STER o (F)
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and 31 N-E—TE+—-A=+—HQFN_-FZ
December 2009 are as follows: hE+=-—A=+—BHoSEENEE
FIREATR -
Airline Other
operations segments  Elimination  Unallocated* Total
MEXKELHM HtX¥oR IHHESE KoEER* aat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥TR
At 31 December 2010 R-B—BF
+=-A=+-—~H
Reportable segment assets BEDHEE 97,500,563 2,045,617 (191,907) 1,455,844 100,810,117
Reportable segment liabilities & & F 83,387,701 1,038,146 (191,907) - 84,233,940
At 31 December 2009 RZZTNGF
+=A=1+—-8
Reportable segment assets RENIEE 69,850,127 1,153,130 (137,660) 1,153,084 72,018,681
Reportable segment liabilities WESPEE 68,068,474 474,739 (137,660) - 68,405,553

(b)

Unallocated assets primarily represent investments in associates and jointly

controlled entities, and available-for-sale financial assets. Unallocated results
primarily represent the share of results of associates and jointly controlled

entities.

The Group's business segments operate in three main
geographical areas, even though they are managed on a

worldwide basis.

The Group's revenues by geographical segment are analysed based on the

following criteria:

(1) Traffic revenue from services within the PRC (excluding the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong"), Macau Special
Administrative Region (“Macau"”) and Taiwan, (collectively known
as "Regional”) is classified as domestic operations. Traffic revenue
from inbound and outbound services between the PRC, regional or
overseas markets is attributed to the segments based on the origin

and destination of each flight segment.

(b)

FPEEELBERRERBER
7 AERAFRTEMELBAE -
K PEREE M ER TR

AELNEIEE -

FEEMzERDBR=EEEMH
HERKYE  BEHEERERM
E’\J o

REEDIE DM 2 WADITIAT

WA BERA N RIEH B E BRI
THRE(ER]) - PEDRFIR R
TRE(TRM D RaELE( &
Bl UTHEBREHE )R
AR TS P BREX HO & B e A\ B R
MEBWA - REHEEERE
o[ S SN 45 ) 572 I B A2 AR
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#zEIBRE1 7% & *E Rl #7222 )

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. 2WER(E)

(b) The Group's business segments operate in three main (b)

geographical areas, even though they are managed on a
worldwide basis. (continued)

(2)  Revenue from ticket handling services, airport ground services and
other miscellaneous services are classified on the basis of where the
services are performed.

FEBEZER D BR=EEENH
EEGLY  BEAETERE2MMN
9 - ()

2 BRHEZERBRA - #5HER
TS B At 71 [ AR 75 P R B Y
WA R Z IR T E B &

ZHEFZEFBFWA o
Group
58
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%FT ARETFIT
Domestic (the PRC, excluding Hong Kong, BARE - TEESRAHE)

Macau and Taiwan) 51,060,489 27,482,611
Regional (Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) VR A I [ 3,900,952 1,986,964
International Eicas 19,996,667 10,361,756
Total &t 74,958,108 39,831,331

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group are its aircraft, all
of which are registered in the PRC. Since the Group's aircraft are
deployed flexibly across its route network, there is no suitable basis
of allocating such assets and the related liabilities by geography and
hence segment assets and capital expenditure by geography have
not been presented.

(c) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit, (c)

assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as

AEBETERARBRREE
= IEREDEMRAE - i
ML B Z TR R FE T RIFLAR
BHER  RERLEEERE
HaERLRA RN M ER
R b 7 R 2 R ot [ SR 450 BB B I
BEARMD -

HBEDHBERA ~ 2 8HFE - 2HE
ERDBEERSHUBHERIIT

reported in the consolidated financial statements. ZEHEBIBEZERA
Group
%8
2010 2009
—B-2F —TTNE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ABRMFT AREFT
Revenue KA
Reportable segment revenue WED KA LT 74,958,108 39,831,331
— Redlassification of business tax —EER RSHTEE (i
and expired sales in advance of EREERAD
carriage BH8 (1,154,449) (841,672)
Consolidated revenue A HUA 73,803,659 38,989,659
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & & —

7.

E-FF A=+ —AILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DBERGE)

() Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit, (0 WEDIBYA ~ 2BFHE > 2HE
assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as ERDDEBHES HMBREIE
reported in the consolidated financial statements. ZEHBEZEZERE - (F)
(continued)

Group
£E
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥FT ARKFIT
Profit before income tax B A1 A
Reportable segment profit s BERIAE 5,841,093 640,121
— Difference in depreciation and — TR - BB (ii)
impairment charges for aircraft, RITRBITE - &
engines and flight equipment BEBRNER (83,765) (64,988)
— Provision for post-retirement benefits —RIKETR R R 2 (iii) (347,936) (334,348)
— Reversal of revaluation surplus relating — S b 5 AR RT A (iv)
to land use rights 18F 8,420 8,420
Consolidated profit before income tax A R BIFE 5,417,812 249,205
Group
&£E
2010 2009
—E-BF —TENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt AREFT ARBTFT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets HED A EEMRTE 100,810,117 72,018,681
— Difference in depreciation and — TR - BB
impairment charges for aircraft, FRATRRABITE &
engines and flight equipment EBRNER 84,147 167,912
— Reversal of revaluation surplus relating — P EE 1 M (FE AR (iv)
to land use rights #E (352,206) (360,626)
— Difference in intangible asset — R B ERAR D EE A v)
(goodwill) arising from the MEREE(FE)
acquisition of Shanghai Airlines =R 2,760,665 -
— Others —HA 30,993 25,425
Consolidated total assets B AEEER 103,333,716 71,851,392
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—F4#+ - H =+

7.

—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit,
assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as
reported in the consolidated financial statements.

()

HEDBERA ~ 2 8HFE - 2HE
ERDBEBEREHHBHERIIT
ZEHBEZE=RRE - (&)

(continued)
Group
EE]
2010 2009
—%-%F —EENE
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AREFTT ARET T
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities MENI BB 84,233,940 68,405,553
— Provision for post-retirement benefits — R IK1E B F 2 2,617,283 1,849,933
— Others —Eft (79,393) (80,275)
Consolidated total liabilities AHtBEERE 86,771,830 70,175,211
Notes: 5
(i) The difference represents the different classification of business tax and () ZEBRELEHEROHEEZSE

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

v)

expired sales in advance of carriage under PRC Accounting Standards and
IFRS.

The difference is attributable to the differences in the useful lives and
residual values of aircraft, engines and rotables adopted for depreciation
purpose in prior years under PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS. Despite
the depreciation policies of these assets have been unified under IFRS and
the PRC Accounting Standards in recent years, the changes were applied
prospectively as changes in accounting estimates which results in the
differences in the carrying amounts and related depreciation changes under
IFRS and PRC Accounting Standards.

In accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards, certain employees’ post-
retirement benefits are recognised upon actually incurred. Under IFRS, such
post-retirement benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be
recognised over the employees” service period using projected unit credit
method.

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, land use rights injected by the parent
company as capital contribution are stated at valuation less accumulated
amortisation. Under IFRS, land use rights are recorded as prepaid operating
leases at historical cost which was nil at the time of listing.

The determination of the fair values of the acquisition costs and identifiable
assets and liabilities of Shanghai Airlines acquired during the year is different
under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards, which results in difference in
the intangibles/goodwill recognised arising from the acquisition.
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(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —F—ZF#F 1+ = =1

—HIEFE

8. GAIN ON FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS OF DERIVATIVES 8.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TTETIAQAAEERE WS

Group
&=
2010 2009
—B-2F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT
Gain arising from fair value movements of derivatives ~ $74 TE QAR BEZ S kS
financial instruments
— Crude oil option contracts (Note 38(c)) — [EhRERRES 40 (M1 7£38(c)) 800,195 3,743,746
— Other derivatives (Note 38(a) & (b)) — H 574 T B (f1a#38(a)&b)) 33,189 30,942
833,384 3,774,688
9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS 9. I¥ HeREA
Group
£H
2010 2009
e —EThF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AREFT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances TE& - %<& - fEA R, 6,567,729 3,502,069
Employee welfare and benefits BEEEH 361,149 255,214
Defined contribution retirement schemes (Note 36(a))  EEEEKRE5TEI(H1:136(a) 996,326 521,596
Post-retirement benefits (Note 36(b)) BB RINBIBNE B (H1:36(b) 479,514 440,878
Staff housing fund (Note 37(a)) ETEFEES (A:t37G) 422,167 323,348
Staff housing allowance (Note 37(b)) 8 T EwaL(A7£37(0) 113,901 105,772
8,940,786 5,148,877
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE
9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued) 9. IE -HFERBANGE)
(@) Emoluments of directors and supervisors (a) EEREENME

Details of the emoluments paid to the Company's directors and supervisors XfERREREREFNBSBE T

are as follows: £IA ¢
2010
—E-EF
Salaries and
Allowance Bonus Total
FEeRER TEAL e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBFT AR¥TT
Executive Directors HITES
Liu Shaoyong* 2R B - - -
Li Jun* TE - - -
Ma Xulun 578w 604 - 604
Luo Chaogeng* EHR - - -
Luo Zhuping BRF 514 - 514
Independent non-executive BAFHTES
Directors
Liu Keya e E 102 - 102
Wu Xiaogen*** R - - -
Ji Weidong™*** TR 96 - 96
Shao Ruiging*** AR *** 60 - 60
Hu Honggao** HARE 24 - 24
Zhou Ruijin** Eme* 24 - 24
Wu Baiwang** REHRE** 60 - 60
Xie Rong™* i<k 60 - 60
Supervisors BE=x
Liu Jiangbo* 25T - - -
Xu Zhao* %eE* - - -
Yan Taisheng R 220 - 220
Feng Jinxiong HE 317 - 317
Liu Jiashun* ZIRE* - - -
Total & 2,081 - 2,081
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ ZE —E—FF+ - A=+—HIFFF

9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)

9. I¥-FEREF(E)

(@) Emoluments of directors and supervisors (continued) (a) EEREENEME(E
2009
—EENF
Salaries and
Allowance Bonus Total
e RAmak TEAL #axE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARKFT ARBFIT
Executive Directors HITES
Liu Shaoyong* R4BE - - -
Ma Xulun 5t 142 - 142
Luo Chaogeng* BEAEE* - - -
Li Jun* E* = = =
Luo Zhuping BT 182 - 182
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors

Hu Honggao = 120 - 120
Peter Lok LT 106 - 106
Wu Baiwang RBHE 120 = 120
Zhou Ruijin ISk 120 - 120
Xie Rong Eiges 120 - 120
Liu Keya 2|73 106 - 106
Supervisors BE=x
Liu Jiangbo* BT - - -
Xu Zhao* B> - - -
Wang Taoying Fk 44 - 44
Yang Jie 2 - - -
Liu Jiashun* ZIR g* - - -
Yan Taisheng TR 172 - 172
Feng Jinxiong Yk i 142 - 142
Total &t 1,374 - 1,374

* These directors and officials of the Company received emoluments from CEA
Holding, the parent company, part of which were in respect of their services
to the Company and its subsidiaries. No apportionment has been made as it
is impracticable to apportion this amount between their services to the Group
and their services to CEA Holding.

*k

These directors and officials of the Company retired or resigned during the
year ended 31 December 2010.

These directors and officials of the Company were newly appointed during the
year ended 31 December 2010.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, no directors and supervisors
waived their emoluments (2009: Nil).

* ARBIFHEF  EFEREMITHA
BRI LR 7 REHE R AIE AR -
I 3¢ 67 22 A] 7 B R A £ (8] 52 BRCEL B
& AR R FIBEERRHELKEE
BRI B 2| AR B R o B R AT 25 2]
B 7 R F MR PRI

o ARRABREF  BERAMITEA
BR-F—ZFFERINKEFHH

L RRABLEF  BEEREMITEA
BR-_F-FFEHPET -

RBE-F-FFT-A=+-AL%
B - R E R EE R
SCFTNE ) 0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—ZF4#+ - A =+—HIFFZE

9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
None of the Company's directors and supervisors was among the five

highest paid individuals in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
(2009: Nil). The emoluments payable to the five highest paid individuals

9.

TE - HE=RENE)
(b)) BRUBSHASHHE
RZZF—TFE  ARAR&ERHA

BREEM—UABEERER(ZET
NEF &) - AfimsH A BNEE

are as follows: BT
Group
#E
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBET T
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances ITE &  EAKRMRL 4,416 3,393
The emoluments fell within the following band: Bl &I

Number of individuals

AE
2010 2009
—2-2F —ZENEF
Below HK$ 1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7TIA T 5 5

During the year ended 31 December 2010, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to the directors, supervisors and the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation
for loss of office (2009: Nil).

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

REBE-Z-—TF+_H=t—HILF
Z LK%I/xEE)L?E’E%T%?L/\E\ﬁ%ﬁ
BRTES EFEHRUKRSHARE
e (—ETNEF : &) -

10. EERERX

Group
]
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTNE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Impairment charge on non-current assets held for FAREIERDEERE(TEG)

sale (Note (a)) 256,694 35,443
Impairment charge on flight equipment spare parts RITREZHHRE 148,697 53,579
Impairment charge on property, plant and equipment  #% - #4258 K R ERIE - 16,396
Other impairment charges HibEERE - 3,999
405,391 109,417

Note: AEE

(@) In December 2010, the Group management passed a resolution to dispose certain
aircraft and related engines in the forthcoming 12 months in consideration of the
low operation efficiency and high maintenance costs of these aircraft. The proposed
disposal is part of the Group’s fleet portfolio streamlining exercise. The aircraft and
engines has been classified as non-current assets held for sale at 31 December
2010, and an impairment loss charge of approximately RMB239 million was made
against these aircraft and engines by reference to the estimated market values which
approximate to the price quotes provided by the potential buyers (Note 42).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)

11.

12.

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z
OPERATING PROFIT 1. RERHE
Operating profit is stated after charging the following items: EEAREAIIBR S ER THEB YR
Group
£H5
2010 2009
S —ZTENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt ARBTFT AREFT
Amortisation of intangible assets A 49,681 109,799
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — #% - #82 8T &
—owned —BE 4,353,668 2,878,040
— leased —HE 2,323,302 2,189,310
Amortisation of lease prepayments SEINEiEi e £ 31,186 25,686
Consumption of flight equipment spare parts TR T (4% 601,407 351,151
Provision for impairment of trade and other P Uk BR 5% B EL A LS R
receivables EZEE 1,545 8,807
Auditors' remuneration ZERT N & 16,680 12,000
FINANCE INCOME 12. BHEEURA
Group
5
2010 2009
—E-EfF —ZTTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBEFT
Exchange gains, net (Note) TRIE H U2 (1) 1,074,796 95,379
Interest income FEUA 80,588 109,925
1,155,384 205,304

Note:

The exchange gain for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 primarily related to the
translation of the Group’s foreign currency denominated borrowings and obligations under

finance leases at year-end exchange rates.

R

B —F—FF+_A=1+—HER=—FTFNF+=
A=1+—HZEFE ' [EX KT ERFRAEEL
SN E BB AT S B (B R 18 5K A8 5 8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (B8R 871 7% R &

ERmR)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BBXH
Group
£E
2010 2009
—E-FfF —ZEENFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT ARMTFIT
Interest relating to obligations under finance leases BEREaERNE 279,095 486,845
Interest on borrowings & R &, 1,234,837 1,407,053
Interest relating to notes payable B ZEFE 143,482 83,964
1,657,414 1,977,862
Less: amounts capitalised into advanced payments B B BREIEN RN SR (i
on acquisition of aircraft (Note) ) (150,668) (223,222)
amounts capitalised into construction in B AERIRENSHE(FE)
progress (Note) (4,846) -
1,501,900 1,754,640

Note:

The average interest rate used for interest capitalisation is 3.75% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2010 (2009: 4.50%).

14. INCOME TAX 14.

Income tax charged to the consolidated income statement is as follows:

RBEE-—F—F+-A=+—HIFE  EXEF|
BIRBE)FIFFIRBE3.75%( —FFNF :4.50%) °
BiIE

B &SRR ARTEDT

Group
58

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT ARETFT
Provision for PRC income tax R RETS T &S 125,309 60,398
Deferred taxation (Note 35) PEFER A (H15E35) 8,182 (7,851)
133,491 52,547

Prior to 2008, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (the “Pudong
Subsidiaries”) located in Pudong District, Shanghai, were entitled to a reduced
rate of 15% pursuant to the preferential tax policy in Pudong District, Shanghai.
Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “New
CIT Law"), which was approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March
2007 and became effective from 1 January 2008, the Company and the Pudong
Subsidiaries are entitled to a transitional arrangement to gradually increase the
applicable corporate income tax rate to 25% over the next five years from 2008.
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the corporate income tax rate applicable
to the Company and the Pudong Subsidiaries was 22% (2009: 20%). Other
subsidiaries of the Company, except for those incorporated in Hong Kong and
subject to Hong Kong corporate income tax rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%), are
generally subject to the PRC standard corporate tax rate of 25 % (2009: 25%)
under the New CIT Law.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+ - H =+

14.

15.

16.

INCOME TAX (continued)

Tax on the Group's consolidated income statement differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the standard taxation rate of the Company as
follows:

—HIEFE

14.

PR ()

AEEBAHFIBROBIE - BAL TS
BRERNBRMEEE 2 B RRENEE
T

Group
£
2010 2009
—B-2F —TTNE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR#BTIT
Profit before income tax MR AT A 5,417,812 249,205
Adjusted by: FHEE
Share of result of associates and BEEEANF R
jointly controlled entities BENFNESE (67,382) 22,749
5,350,430 271,954
Tax calculated at the tax rate of 22% (2009: 20%) BN EFTERNEHER
(2009%F : 20%) 1,177,095 54,391
Effect attributable to subsidiaries charged at tax rates BB 2 7125%3%16.5% P15
of 25% or 16.5% (2009: 25% or 16.5%) TR A2 (2009%F © 25%3%16.5%) 1,170 (18,353)
Income not subject to tax BB (267,532) -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes EOGIEE Vi35 21,009 6,367
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 155 FA LA BT F & R FERRIRIE
MEENBBEER (1,429,654) (30,014)
Unrecognised tax losses for the year REE R FREREILER B ENTISER 30,273 300,830
Realisation of deductible temporary differences which — ZNF /& EIR LA G [Z R EERIELE
were not recognised deferred tax in previous years HEEMRENEREER (349,606) (1,000,624)
Unrecognised deductable temporary differences REEARMERIRET & 8
for the year EREER 950,736 739,950
Tax charge HEEH 133,491 52,547

The Group operates international flights to overseas destinations. There was no
material overseas taxation for the year ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, as
there are double tax treaties between the PRC and the corresponding jurisdictions
(including Hong Kong) relating to aviation businesses.

REEQEBRBRME  REZLEFINE W
i o MR B ERER M RDEER (BEREE)
T BRREBRBNEAE - AREREE
T TER_BTHFF_HA=+—HI
FREIW BB RGIK

AAREEEERBE_T—ZTF+_-A
=+ BLEFEPREBEEARE(ZETA
FoE) -

DIVIDEND 15. BRE
The Board has not recommended any dividend for the year ended 31 December

2010 (2009: Nil).

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 16.

The profit attributable to owners of the parent is dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB4,422 million
(2009: RMB1,074 million).

KRR E EAERE

EEBRARREEFAENF BT AR
44.22187T(2009 : ARE10.74B ) ELES
RARNFBRES °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. SRz
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable BREARK G HIRA RIS EE RN
to owners of the parent of RMB4,958 million (2009: RMB 169 million) and the MEARKAWSETL(ZEZTNF : AR
weighted average number of shares of 11,149,426,000 (2009: 6,436,828,000) 1.6918. 7T ) M AN A E B 1T #) I #E T35 AR 8K
in issue during the year ended 31 December 2010. 11,149,426,000/% (= ZZ /L4 : 6,436,828,000

BROFHE

The Company has no potentially dilutive option or other instruments relating to AN R A VE T ] R AR ) R AR A s H
the ordinary shares. fhe R T A o
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Group
£
Goodwill ~ Sponsorship Computer
(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) software Total
mE 2HE
(Ktat(a)) (KtaE(b)) B BEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT
Cost R
At 1 January 2009 R=ZZEZTNF—HA—H = 320,000 119,297 439,297
Other additions HEMARE - - 14,570 14,570
At 31 December 2009 RZZTNF+=—A=1+—H = 320,000 133,867 453,867
At 1 January 2010 R-_ZT—ZTF—H—H = 320,000 133,867 453,867
Arising from/additions through the Uk B& AR E 4,48 N

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines  (Ff3t44)

(Note 44) 11,269,695 = 61,782 11,331,477
Other additions BEMARE - - 22,403 22,403
Disposal BE - (320,000) (641) (320,641)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZHF+=-HA=+—H 11,269,695 - 217,411 11,487,106
Accumulated amortisation 2T
At 1 January 2009 R=ZZEZNF—H—HR - 217,257 57,189 274,446
Charge for the year NGRS - 82,194 27,605 109,799
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+=ZA=1+—H - 299,451 84,794 384,245
At 1 January 2010 R-E—ZTF—HF—H - 299,451 84,794 384,245
Avrising from additions through the  UgB& EfA% (71 0

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines (K7F44)

(Note 44) = = 40,379 40,379
Charge for the year TN - 20,549 29,132 49,681
Disposal BE - (320,000) (575) (320,575)
At 31 December 2010 HN—E-ZF+-_HA=+—H - - 153,730 153,730
Net book amount BRTERE
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBEZNF+-_A=+—H = 20,549 49,073 69,622
At 31 December 2010 R=TB—-ZFF+=HA=+—H 11,269,695 - 63,681 11,333,376
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 ¥ R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 # %2 —ZF—ZFF 1+ - H=1—HIFE
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. B|EEE ()
Company
RAE]
Goodwill ~ Sponsorship Computer
(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) software Total
[EES BEE
(Ktat(a)) (KtzE(b)) B et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARY®TFrTt AREFTT AR%¥Fx
Cost ﬁfczli
At 1 January 2009 RZTTNF—HA—H - 320,000 117,783 437,783
Other additions ﬁ{mm - - 11,461 11,461
At 31 December 2009 RZTZTNF+=ZA=+—H = 320,000 129,244 449,244
At 1 January 2010 R-_ZE—ZFF—H—H = 320,000 129,244 449,244
Arising from the acquisition of Llﬁzﬁ%tﬁ*ﬁﬂ EE
Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (Bfzt4a4) 11,269,695 - - 11,269,695
Other additions HEWRE - - 31,851 31,851
Disposal RE = (320,000) = (320,000)
At 31 December 2010 N=B—-TF+=A=+—H 11,269,695 - 161,095 11,430,790
Accumulated amortisation ﬁf—fﬁﬁ‘é
1 January 2009 RZZZNF—H—H - 217,257 55,947 273,204
Charge for the year z!&iﬁﬁﬁ - 82,194 26,856 109,050
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNFE+—_A=+—H = 299,451 82,803 382,254
At 1 January 2010 R=_ZT—ZFF—H—AH = 299,451 82,803 382,254
Charge for the year ANEEESH - 20,549 24,688 45,237
Disposal BE - (320,000) = (320,000)
At 31 December 2010 R-F-FF+-_HA=+—H - - 107,491 107,491
Net book amount BRMEFE
At 31 December 2009 RZTEZNF+=ZA=+—H = 20,549 46,441 66,990
At 31 December 2010 N=B—-TF+=-A=+—H 11,269,695 - 53,604 11,323,299
Notes: iR
(@)  The balance as at 31 December 2010 represents the goodwill arising from the (@ R-F-ZFFL_H=1—H BEESEL

(b)

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines. The goodwill is attributable to strengthening the
competitiveness of the Group’s airlines operation business, attaining synergy through
integration of the resources and providing the evolution of Shanghai international
air transportation centre. For the purpose of impairment assessment, the goodwill is
allocated to the airline operation business, the principal cash-generating-unit (“CGU")
that the Group operates and benefits from the acquisition.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is principally reflected by the Company’s fair
value which can be determined by reference to the observable quoted market prices
of the Company’s shares less the costs of disposal, no impairment for the goodwill is
required based on the market prices of the Company's shares as at the balance sheet
date.

Sponsorship fees

In March 2006, the Company entered into a sponsorship agreement (the
“Sponsorship Agreement”) with the Bureau of 2010 Expo Shanghai (the
“Bureau”) which designated the Group as the exclusive airline passenger carrier
in the PRC to sponsor the 2010 Shanghai Expo. The Company will be entitled to a
number of rights, including but not limited to the use of the Expo logo in the Group’s
products, priority to purchase advertising space at the Expo site etc. In return, the
Company is required to pay a total sponsorship fee of RMB320 million, RMB160
million of which would be paid in cash by instalments, the remaining RMB160 million
would be settled by value-in-kind services (“VIK") (in the form of goods or services)
to support the 2010 Shanghai Expo. Accordingly, an intangible asset has been
recognised and amortised on straight-line basis over the period from the effective
date of the Sponsorship Agreement to 13 March 2010.

(b)

RIYFELRRR ) - AR L BT BIERR
AR S ) - AR A B i RIEA X
&ﬁf}giil/f’“ﬂ/ﬁéﬁt’wﬂﬁ@ o BhAF 1A
ErYE B - B S B EMEFEESE - A
REE T ELER H/\EAL&&/ Wigry R 2 E

HHEETT e

Z R E L ETH A B BEARBEA R
AR A 7 (BB A 2R A AR SRR T 45 (B
B EEEEME - EREREXA @ 17
BARBIRER 5 BT E - BETFE

EBE

R=ZFENF=F AR g =F—
TFE WA FEK DR BB % I 15 7
ER=—T—TFELFMEEE—FPEMER
}‘;s‘?é\ff%f‘-‘# o KRR AR ZH AR B
18 TSR M At 13 & ) (R 57 O 2N 55 (B Y 2 i
£ - EHEEME R E S AEE
E o ARNAIFEXMNARK32ETHEE)
B UXE_T-TFEMEE  APARK
L6[ET RO EISNTE S - A THIALRK6
BT EUR 2 EEY ST (L ICHE YR
JE) c EAEBEER BERFULEBEE %
TERRIEIEEE - WWAETRBETE BB
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EHACET LA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZF#F+—-H =+

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

—HILFE

Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment

19. Y% - HEENRE

Group

=

£E

- BBRRRTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings ~ equipment in progress Total
NeE Hipz -
HE 8RS BF HBERRE - ERIE EEHS
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFLT ARETT ARMTT ARBTT AREFT ARETR
Cost BAE
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-T5—-A—-A 41,272,431 35,022,691 3,644,946 4,440,886 766,753 85,147,707
Additions through the acquisition ~ UtB& Rk {n & mn
of Shanghai Airines (Note 44) (Hiztas) 6,046,426 1,419,992 879,230 628,902 177,843 9,152,393
Redlassification to owned assets upon &b &0 & % 88 A B
expiring of the finance leases ER 1,419,873 (1,419,873) - - - -
Transfers from construction in progress #¢7E2 T 1288 A - - 364,245 104,610 (468,855) -
Transfers from advanced payments 8 FRAFER o A
on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21)  (Hfa#21) 2,663,603 745,740 - - - 3,409,343
Other additions HiRE 5,601,047 1,250,639 13,340 374,853 587,918 7,821,197
Transfer to non-current assets held ~ EEREZEIREEE
for sale (Note 42) (Hfita2) (1,221,197) - - - - (1,221,19)
Other disposals Hini& (756,657) (290,617) (20,298) (293,125) - (1,360,697)
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-FF+-F=+—H 55025526 36,728,572 4,881,463 5,256,126 1,063,659 102,955,346
Accumulated depreciation it E
At 1 January 2010 RZE-ZF—H—H 15,860,596 7,510,903 963,531 2,891,053 - 27,226,083
Additions through the acquisition W& _Effk{n &m0
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (t744) 670,166 - 6,076 151,205 - 827,447
Reclassification to owned assets upon g4 TR &5 ERE AR
expiring of the finance leases gy 687,908 (687,908) - - - -
Charge for the year REEHE 3,693,411 2,323,302 163,448 496,809 - 6,676,970
Transfer to non-current assets held ~ BZEERAFELIERBEE
for sale (Note 42) (Hfita2) (570,854) - - - - (570,854)
Other disposals Hip & (756,657) (290,617) (7,682) (189,681) - (1,244,637)
At 31 December 2010 RZT-ZF+ZA=1+—H 19584570 8,855,680 1,125,373 3,349,386 - 32,915,009
Impairment REEE
At 1 January 2010 RZZ—-T5—-A—A 721,101 473,393 - 550 23,020 1,218,064
At 31 December 2010 R-F-ZF+-A=1—H 721,101 473,393 - 550 23,020 1,218,064
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2010 RZT-ZF+=A=1+—H 34719855 27,399,499 3,756,090 1,906,190 1,040,639 68,822,273
At 1 January 2010 RZT-—ZTF—H—H 24,690,734 27,038,395 2,681,415 1,549,283 743,733 56,703,560
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ R B o

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

—HIEFE

19. M% - EERREE)

Group
£E
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment
Rl - BRI RRITRE
Qther
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned eases Buildings equipment in progress Total
PARLE Hthz -
BE MHERE BF  EEREE ERIR At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTFT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Cost BAE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—F—H 34,410,274 35,898,970 3,512,521 4,390,794 573,463 78,786,022
Reclassification to owned assets upon &0 & 2 88 A B
expiring of the finance leases BNE 1,437,513 (1,437,513) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back EREEAR (1,984,281) 590,253 - - = (1,394,028)
Transfers from construction in progress /£ 7£52 T 128 A - - 138,057 23,704 (161,761) -
Transfers from advanced payments on ¢ FREETE (TEREE A
acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) (it#21) 3,482,854 - - - - 3,482,854
Other additions HRE 4,616,562 448,861 19,849 270,497 355,051 5,710,820
Other disposals HiiHE (690,491) (477,880) (25,481) (244,109) - (1,437,961)
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNF+-_A=+—H 412712431 35,022,691 3,644,946 4,440,886 766,753 85,147,707
Accumulated depreciation e
At 1 January 2009 RZZTZNF—F—H 14,583,418 6,526,300 860,415 2,677,564 - 24,647,697
Redlassification to owned assets upon &0 & 2 S A RS
expiring of the finance leases 08 726,827 (726,827) = = = =
Sales and finance lease back e (1,148,938) - - - - (1,148,938)
Charge for the year NEERE 2,383,158 2,189,310 109,872 385,010 - 5,067,350
Other disposals HinH & (683,869) (477,880) (6,756) (171,521) - (1,340,026)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+=A=+—H  15860,59% 7,510,903 963,531 2,891,053 - 27,226,083
Impairment BEEE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—F—H 966,191 473,393 13,094 550 6,624 1,459,852
Charge for the year REFFHR = - - - 16,39 16,39
Sales and finance lease back EhEEAR (245,090) - - - - (245,090)
Reversal upon disposal HE KD - - (13,094) - - (13,094)
At 31 December 2009 RZFENF+=-A=1—-H 721,101 473,393 = 550 23,020 1,218,004
Net book amount IREFE
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNF+-_A=+—H 24,690,734 27,038,395 2,681,415 1,549,283 743,733 56,703,560
At 1 January 2009 R=FZNF—A—H 18,860,665 28,899,277 2,639,012 1,712,680 566,839 52,678,473
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

19. ¥% - #BERREGE)

Company
A
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment
R BRBRRRITRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned leases Buildings ~ equipment in progress Total
NeE Hipz -
HE 8RS BF HKERRE - ERIR A&t
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFLT ARETT ARMTT ARBTT AREFT ARETR
Cost RAE
At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZF—-f—H 34,191,578 31,111,745 2,054,303 3,024,929 629,324 71,011,879
Redlassification to owned assets upon FbEHE | HIEE AR EHEE
expiring of the finance leases 1419873  (1,419,873) - - - -
Transfers from construction in progress ¢ 722 T 124 A - - 356,001 8,958 (364,959) -
Transfers from advanced payments on fFRHTFEL R A
acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) (Kt:£21) 1,989,079 745,740 - - - 2,734,819
Other additions HithRE 6,764,083 1,219,814 121,904 475,392 558,716 9,139,909
Transfer to non-current assets held ~ BEREFERNIFRESERE
for sale (Note 42) (HsF42) (1,221,197 - - - - (1,221,197)
Invest to subsidiaries as capital BRENFAA
contribution (887,511) - - (134,639) - (1,022,150)
Transfer to a subsidiary BATAT - (864,592) - - - (864,592)
Other disposals Hity & (530,237) (280,686) (9,560) (148,856) - (969,339)
At 31 December 2010 R-Z—ZFE+-A=+—H 41725668 30,512,148 2,522,648 3,225,784 823,081 78,809,329
Accumulated depreciation RitiTE
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-T5—-A—H 12,369,045 6,701,200 595,334 2,197,814 - 21,863,393
Redlassification to owned assets upon b 8 & 2| 88 A B
expiring of the finance leases BNH 687,908 (687,908) - - - -
Charge for the year AEEHE 2,787,223 1,934,251 70,837 330,735 - 5,123,046
Other additions Hobtg 681,907 - - - - 681,907
Transfer to non-current assets held ~ BZEEAFELNIERBEE
for sale (Note 42) (Hfita2) (570,854) - - - - (570,854)
Invest to subsidiaries as capital RENFAA
contribution (263,160) - - (10,610) - (273,770)
Transfer to a subsidiary BALAR - (71,484) - - - (71,484)
Other disposals Hipitie (530,237)  (280,686) (4,769)  (104,678) - (920,370)
At 31 December 2010 WoE-TEE-A=t-F 15161832 7595373 661402 2413261 - 25,831,868
Impairment AEEE
At 1 January 2010 RZZE-ZF—-H—H 721,101 473,393 - - 5,200 1,199,694
At 31 December 2010 R=F-ZF+-A=1+-H 721,101 473,393 - - 5,200 1,199,694
Net book amount BREEE
At 31 December 2010 RZZE-FF+-F=+—H 25842735 22,443,382 1,861,246 812,523 817,881 51,777,167
At 1 January 2010 RZT—T5—-A—-A 21,101,432 23,937,152 1,458,969 827,115 624,124 47,948,792
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ R B o

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

—HIEFE

19. M% - EERREE)

Company
NG
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment
Rl - BRI RRITRE
Qther
Held under property,
finance plantand  Construction
Owned eases Buildings equipment in progress Total
PARLE Hhz -
BE HERE BF  EEREE HRTHE At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTFT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Cost BAE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—F—H 28791576 31,723,324 1,956,545 2,935,783 415,202 65,822,430
Reclassification to owned assets upon &0 & 2 88 A B
expiring of the finance leases BNE 1,149,574 (1,149,574) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back EREEAR (1,984,281) 590,253 - - = (1,394,028)
Transfers from construction in progress #¢7£3 T 1288 A - - 63,093 22,268 (85,361) -
Transfers from advanced payments on ¢ FREETE (TEREE A
acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) (it#21) 2,940,679 - - - - 2,940,679
Other additions HRE 3,958,228 425,622 39,568 178,938 299,483 4,901,839
Other disposals HiiHE (664,198) (477,880) (4,903) (112,060) - (1,259,041)
At 31 December 2009 RZZZEAF+-A=+—H 34191578 31,111,745 2,054,303 3,024,929 629,324 71,011,879
Accumulated depreciation e
At 1 January 2009 RZZTZNF—F—H 11,505,397 5,808,513 535,299 2,015,597 - 19,864,806
Redlassification to owned assets upon &0 & 2 S A RS
expiring of the finance leases 08 559,825 (559,825) = = = =
Sales and finance lease back e (1,148,938) - - - - (1,148,938)
Charge for the year NEERE 2,110,337 1,930,392 60,570 276,172 - 4,377,471
Other disposals HinH & (657,576) (477,880) (535) (93,955) - (1,229,946)
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNFFTZA=+—H 12,369,045 6,701,200 595,334 2,197,814 - 21863393
Impairment BEEE
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—F—H 966,191 473,393 - - 5,200 1,444,784
Sales and finance lease back ERRERR (245,090) - - - - (245,090)
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNF+-RA=1+—H 721,101 473,393 - - 5,200 1,199,694
Net book amount REEE
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZENF+-_A=+—H 21101432 23,937,152 1,458,969 827,115 624,124 47,948,792
At 1 January 2009 RZZTNF—F—H 16,319,988 25,441,418 1,421,246 920,186 410,002 44,512,840
Notes: TRE

(@) Asat 31 December 2010, certain aircraft and buildings owned by the Group and
the Company with an aggregate net book amount of approximately RMB20,800
million and RMB 14,846 million respectively (2009: approximately RMB13,678 million
and RMB11,273 million respectively) were pledged as collateral under certain loan

arrangements (Note 32).

(a)

RZFE—FFF+ZA=+—H FEELK
K1 BIAR ELF B 73 B #9723 A R 1208.0018 7T
RARK148461FT(ZFTNE : AR
136.7815 T R A B8 112.7318 7T ) B9 7 F 7S 1
REFE HBEE FREXHEHEIFSD (K F
32) e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

21.

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z
20. LEASE PREPAYMENTS 20. FEMEER
Group Company
£5 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—2-%F —EEAE ZB-BF — s
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETFT ARMFTT AR#TIT
Cost 2%
At 1 January —A—B#&& 1,230,068 1,230,068 551,785 551,785
Additions through the acquisition WeBE ERRAR (D12 h0
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (KiiEa4) 466,507 - - -
At 31 December +-A=+—B8## 1,696,575 1,230,068 551,785 551,785
Accumulated amortisation Rt
At 1 January —A—B#&&% 259,233 233,547 142,154 131,513
Charge for the year e 31,186 25,686 10,771 10,641
At 31 December +ZA=+—H#&#% 290,419 259,233 152,925 142,154
Net book amount BRMERE
At 31 December +TZA=+—R#&H 1,406,156 970,835 398,860 409,631
Lease prepayments represent unamortised prepayments for land use rights. FERI TR G4 R B SH A TA T L b fF AR AEAE
ERIE o
The Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and the majority of these land AEBFAN T ERESLNRPE - A
use rights have terms of 50 years from the date of grant. As at 31 December BB in T Hb s A RERT Rl SE IR /5 B AR B A ARG
2010, the majority of these land use rights had remaining terms ranging from 36 At+F -RZE-TF+-_A=+—H K
to 51 years (2009: from 37 to 52 years). D H) i RIS A E R FE B R =171
EA+—F(ZEBENF: =T EELTZ
F) o
ADVANCED PAYMENTS ON ACQUISITION OF AIRCRAFT 21, TSR
Group Company
£5 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
e —TENF —B-BF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F T ARETF T ARBFTT AR#BTIT
At 1 January —HA—B#% 5,081,174 6,413,554 5,081,174 6,413,554
Additions through the acquisition U BE ERRRZAD 1 hn0
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (Hat44) 1,072,366 - - —
Other additions H b0 3,461,737 1,927,252 3,745,877 1,927,252
Interest capitalised (Note 13) BARCFIE(FfE13) 150,668 223,222 139,038 223,222
Transfers to property, plant and ERYEE . HEES R
equipment (Note 19) (Kta£19) (3,409,343) (3,482,854) (2,734,819) (2,940,679)
Transfers to subsidiaries B AT - - - (542,175)
At 31 December +ZA=+—R&H 6,356,602 5,081,174 6,231,270 5,081,174

Included in the Group's and the Company's balance as at 31 December
2010, the amounts of accumulated interest capitalised are RMB548 million
(2009: RMB517 million) and RMB530 million (2009: RMB517 million)

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ R B o

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z
22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. RERKHBE LT
Company
AT
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTHEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFTT AREFIT
Investment, at cost BB KAE 4,083,117 2,523,715
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, majority of which are limited liability REENFEMBERAE REFBEKILKE

companies established and operating in the PRC, are as follows:

ENEREMEAR  HABBERWT

Place and date Attributable
Company of establishment Registered capital equity interest Principal activities
AR AR B3R K B BRER PR D TEXH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—2-BF —ITNE ZE-BF —TTNE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT AREFT
China Eastern Airlines Jiangsu Co., ~ PRC 2,000,000 880,000 63% 63%  Provision of airline services
Ltd. ("CEA Jiangsu") 3 May 1993 REMZER
BRI AAR AR HE
(IRATE ) —AN=FRA=R
China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. PRC 950,000 950,000 70% 70%  Provision of cargo carriage
("China Cargo”) 22 July 1998 services
FEEEMZEARAR H RESYEBRY
(THhE&fm]) —ANNFLRAZ+=H
Shanghai Airlines Cargo PRC 664,050 664,050 55% —  Provision of international
International Co., Ltd. 3 April 2006 €argo carriage services
("Shanghai Airlines Cargo”) & RUBEREMERRY
HERREERZEERAR “ERENAZR
(TEEMm])
Shanghai Eastern Flight Training PRC 608,443 473,000 95% 95%  Provision of flight training
Co., Ltd. ("Flight Training") 18 December 1995 services
PERARITEIBR AR H RERATIRIRTS
(T3 D) —ANEE+ZA+/\B
China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co.,, ~ PRC 600,000 600,000 96% 96%  Provision of airline services
Ltd. (“CEA Wuhan") 16 August 2002 TR ZE IR
FERAMEREERELR HEl
A(RAEE]) 2R \A+RE
Shanghai Airlines Co., Ltd. PRC 500,000 = 100% - Provision of airline services
(“New Shanghai Airlines”) 16 March 2010 TR 7 BR S
(Note) H
HEMEERAR(H L) ZT-TFE=/A1+1H
(it#)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & = —

FFE+=A=1

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

—HILFE

22. RERHERR (&)

Place and date Attributable
Company of establishment Registered capital equity interest Principal activities
NGRS R ER B BWER FEf R 47 TEEK
2010 2009 2010 2009
Z2-BF —TTNF ZE-EF  —TTNHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AREFT
Shanghai Eastern Airlines Logistics ~ PRC 200,000 200,000 70% 70%  Provision of cargo logistics
Co., Ltd. (“Eastern Logistics”) 23 August 2004 services
EERAEMMRERRAR i REEEVRRE
(IREMR]) “ETNENAZTEH
China United Airlines Co., Ltd. PRC 100,000 100,000 80% —  Provision of airline services
("United AirIines”) 21 September 1984 R 2 IR
hEE A MERR A H
([HBEAL ) —NW\REAA=+—8
Eastern Airlines Hotel Co., Ltd. PRC 70,000 70,000 86% 86%  Provision of hotel services
RRABEERAR 18 March 1998 primarily to crew
2 members
—NW\E=R+NH FERRBRITAR
RAOEE RS
Shanghai Airlines Tours PRC 50,090 50,090 100% —  Tour operations, travel and
International (Group) Co., Ltd 29 August 1992 air ticketing agency and
("Shanghai Airlines Tours") Hh transportation
ez B R (R ) —AAZFENAZTNE TR IR 2= 275
BRAR( EHEIHR]) RIE R AR
Eastern Business Airlines Service PRC 50,000 50,000 100% 100%  Provision of airlines
Co., Ltd. 27 September 2008 consultation services
R ABMERBE AR FE FEREME LS
“ZT\FRA=+tH
Note: R
On 28 January 2010, the Company issued its A Shares to the shareholders of Shanghai REF—FF—AZFNA  ARAFTARE]

Airlines in exchange for all issued shares of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44). After the acquisition,
Shanghai Airlines became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. On 26 March 2010,
Shanghai Airlines established a wholly owned subsidiary, New Shanghai Airlines, by
injecting certain assets and liabilities in relation to the core business of Shanghai Airlines.
On 16 December 2010, as approved by the Shanghai Municipal Industry and Commerce
Administration, Shanghai Airlines was liquidated and all of its assets and liabilities, including
its equity interests in New Shanghai Airlines, were assumed by the Company and New
Shanghai Airlines became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company thereafter.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g% —FE—FF+ - =+—HIF/Z
23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. BRERBEE AT
Group Company
58 NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —ZTThF —E-EF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Fr AREFT AR¥Fr AREFT
Unlisted investments, at cost JE IR ENKANE 622,768 568,417 578,836 522,058
Share of results/reserves MR 184,901 154,605 - -
807,669 723,022 578,836 522,058
The movement on investments in associates is as follows: WEREE AR T
Group Company
£H NS
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF —ZTTNF —E-EF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Fr AREFT AR¥Fr AREFT
At 1 January —A—BR#&#% 723,022 980,319 522,058 762,058
Additions through the acquisition U BE R R% (D hn
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (F15#44) 59,714 = 56,778 =
Disposal of shares in an associate S B /A RIS AE
(Note) (it#E) - (210,000) - (210,000)
Transfer to available-for-sale financial EH¥EE AT P E S 7
assets upon disposal of shares BE - (30,000) - (30,000)
Other disposals HitbZE (7,203) - - -
Share of results of associates B E D RIEE 39,228 (46,602) -
Share of revaluation on available-for- % {f B 4 /A B BT 9
sale assets held by associates A EERER
NREE 1,543 (585) - =
Share of other equity movement of {5 B A &) E A
an associate FEER - 49,692 - -
Dividend received during the year REUWEIHIAL S (8,635) (19,802) - -
At 31 December +-A=1T—H#&% 807,669 723,022 578,836 522,058
Note: AtFE

On 13 April 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with China Aviation Industry
Corporation to dispose its 35% interests in Joy Air Co., Ltd (“Joy Air”) for a consideration,
which requested the book value of, of RMB210 million. After completion of the disposal,
the Company holds a 5% interests in Joy Air and accordingly classifies the investment as
available-for-sale financial assets.

R-FZEANFNA+=H » KR AJEPEIRZET
LB RIE B R e - A1 B R Ere AR
ER A ([FEFRZE 1)35% 8RR R EEE AR
B2 10(E T A B 1S #E R T Bl 22 T BN A]
RIEBERTIKIR AR AT EEEMESBRAE - K
REZARIRRE B E N A E AR E A
-3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 23. RENEE QE (&)

AEENEEREN R RPBEKLREE
MBEREEAT - HAREBERINT :

Particulars of the principal associates, which are limited liability companies
established and operating in the PRC, are as follows:

Place and date Attributable
Company of establishment Registered capital equity interest Principal activities
NRER BB B BWEX P IR 47 TEEY
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF —ITTHNE ZEBE-BF —TTNE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT AREFT
Eastern Air Group Finance Co.,  PRC 400,000 400,000 25% 25%  Provision of financial
Ltd. ("Eastern Finance”) 6 December 1995 services to group
RiEERBEREE H companies of CEA
A ) —AAAF+=RAA Holding
ATERMEEET
N RIREEE R
China Eastern Air Catering PRC 350,000 350,000 45% 45%  Provision of air catering
Investment Co., Ltd. 17 November 2003 services
RAMERMIZE H REMEERRS
BRAR —ZT=4+—A+tR
Shanghai Pratt & Whitney PRC USD39,500 UsD39,500 51% 51%  Provision of maintenance of
Aircraft Engine Maintenance 28 March 2008 aircraft, engine and other
Company Limited i related components
(“Shanghai PW") —TT\F=ZA-1+/N\H maintenance services
(Note(3)) TROLTRM - EEpEA
PEEEREEDREE H A ERIEb A 1E
ARAR( LBEE])
(it#a)
New Shanghai International PRC 166,575 166,575 20% 20%  Provision of Property
Tower Co., Ltd. 17 November 1992 development and
#EOBERAREERAR  F management
—AAZF+—RA++H REMEER R
Eastern Aviation Import & PRC 80,000 80,000 45% 45%  Provision of aviation
Export Co., Ltd ("Eastern 9 June 1993 equipment, spare parts
Import & Export”) H purchase
RAMEELOBRAA —AN=FRANAB =R - RITRER
([RAELA ) RITRETMHES
Shanghai Dongmei Aviation PRC 51,369 51,369 27% 27%  Provision of traveling and
Travel Co., Ltd. 17 October 2004 accommodation agency
("Dongmei Travel") H services
EEREMERESR “ZTWE+A++A AR ROBIEETE
ARN([REHE]) RIERRT
Eastern Aviation Advertising PRC 50,000 50,000 45% 45%  Provision of aviation
Service Co., Ltd. ("Eastern 4 March 1986 advertising agency
Advertising”) H services
PERFMEGEER —\RE=ZRMA RERBMEREHL
AR ([RAVER )
Shanghai Hongpu Civil Airport -~ PRC 25,000 25,000 30% 30%  Provision of cable and
Communication Co., Ltd. 18 October 2002 wireless communication
DBIERBESEE i services
BRAH “ZT-F+ATN\AB RERRIERBH
R
Collins Aviation Maintenance ~ PRC UsD7,000 UsD7,000 35% 35%  Provision of airline electronic
Service Shanghai Ltd. 27 September 2002 product maintenance
ERAEREREERE P services

BRAF

—TT-FNA=1tA
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

—HIEFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

23. RERBEQT(A)

Note: it
(a)  In 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with United Technologies (@) RZZTTNF - AR A HEELEGE FMTEER
International Corporation (“Technologies International”) to establish Shanghai BRAR([BEBMERE ) REX T T L&
Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Engine Maintenance Company Limited (“Shanghai P&W"). BRI EM IS ER A B (U T £
Shanghai P&W has a registered capital of USD40 million in which the Company EEE])  DEERAMERBOMERET
holds a 51% interests. According to the shareholder’s agreement, Technologies AKREFFEZ R A51%EIRHE o IRIELFZE
International has the power to govern the financial and operating policies as such the 12 - BE RIS F g ERa B A %
Company accounts for Shanghai P&W as an associate. RETB R - B AR AR g
BIERHMENAIRE -
(b)  The Group's aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and liabilities of its (b) AEEBHERRAMA - RE - BER
associates are as follows: BEWT -
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)
afF gE WA FH(E54E)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AR¥FTT AR¥TFT ARETFT
2010 —E-ZF 3,443,043 2,635,374 1,638,597 39,228
2009 —ETNF 3,076,841 2,353,819 911,855 (46,602)
24. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 24, BENREERAT
Group Company
o] AF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF —E-FF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARH¥TT ARST T AR¥TFT ARET T
Unlisted investments, at cost JE IR ERKAE 290,050 270,866 323,238 301,802
Share of results/reserves WL B 116,120 101,927 - -
406,170 372,793 323,238 301,802
The movement on investments in jointly controlled entities is as follows: RENEGLERRMNERNT :
Group Company
55 ]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNhF —E-FF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARH¥TT AEBT T AR¥TFT ARET T
At 1 January —A—B#&& 372,793 362,332 301,802 301,802
Additions through the acquisition U BE R ARAD 2 H0
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (Kizta4) 19,184 - 21,436 -
Dividends received during the year — ZNEEUL I BIR% 5. (13,961) (14,000) - =
Share of results BHhEE 28,154 23,803 - -
Amortisation of unrecognised gain % $5 R FERR T - 658 - =
At 31 December +-—A=1+—HB#%% 406,170 372,793 323,238 301,802
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

24. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 24. RENREE QR (E)

AEENTERERRHR/PEKLNEE
WEREEAR - EAEBERWAT

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities, all of which are limited
liability companies established and operating in the PRC, are as follows:

Place and date Attributable
Company of establishment Registered capital equity interest Principal activities
NRER R E K B BYEX Pt IR 47 TEXRH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTHNE ZEBE-BF —TTNE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT

Shanghai Technologies PRC2 USD73,000 USD73,000 51% 51%  Provision of repair and
Aerospace Co., Ltd. 8 September 2004 maintenance services
("Technologies t TR (SIE R4S
Aerospace”) (Note (a)) —EEMFEAA=TNR PR

EERBRFRER AT
(IR )

(it#()

Shanghai Eastern Union PRC usD2,100 usD2,100 40% 40%  Provision of spare parts
Aviation Wheels & Brakes 28 December 1995 repair and maintenance
Maintenance Services H services
Overhaul Engineering —hAhAE+=A=+/N\R RIETHEERTES
Co., Ltd. ("Wheels &

Brakes”)

PR ERRRE
AEIRBRRA
(TH#HAE)

Eastern China Kaiya System PRC RMB10,000 RMB10,000 4% 41%  Provision of computer
Integration Co., Ltd. 21 May 1999 systems development

PBERMERID RS i REEMRGERERS
SRARAT —NWANFRRA=+—H

Notes: e

(a)  Under a Joint Venture Agreement with the joint venture partner of Technologies @ REXRAEFRFHS S EREFT R =

Aerospace dated 10 March 2003, the Company has agreed to share control over the TE=F=A+HFZENHERE G - A
economic activities of Technologies Aerospace. Any strategic financial and operating REIAEHES —&ERET RAZHERIHEF
decisions relating to the activities of Technologies Aerospace require the unanimous MAC S BY I HIHE o (0] AR BT E B
consent of the Company and the joint venture partner. BRI T R AR EORF B R A L A%

(b)  The Group's aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and liabilities of its

FhIZ B ERED RIF—HAEE

b) AEEHEEER

AIETHA - FHE - BER

Jointly controlled entities is as follows: BEWT :
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)
BE b=V WA U8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Fr AR¥Fr AR®FT AR®FT
2010 —E-FF 473,861 67,691 258,665 28,154
2009 ZETNF 431,326 58,533 205,244 23,803
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25. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

—HIEFE
25. HitbtRHMEE
Group Company
% AR
2010 2009 2010 2009
—2-BF  -TTHEF CE-BF  -ITTHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARKT T ARETFT ARETT

Deposits relating to aircraft under

operating leases (Note (a))

Prepaid flight training fees (Note (b))

Other long-term assets

Notes:

B T S TRAEAR

WS (F ()

FTENRATEIR B

(:#(b)

Hith R HEE

610,866 374,33 233,703 278,623

838,395 481,603 577,780 446,108

302,854 70,476 103,316 59,759

1,752,115 926,312 914,799 784,490
B

(@) The fair values of deposits relating to aircraft held under operating leases of the
Group and the Company are approximately RMB584 million and RMB222 million
(2009: RMB335 million and RMB249 million) respectively, which are determined using
the expected future refunds discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year
end of 0.75% to 2.01% per annum (2009: 0.76% to 2.11%).

(b)  Prepaid flight training expenses cover the Group’s pilot undergraduates and pilots
in service and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the beneficial periods for

which the prepayments cover.

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

26.

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis,
with the credit periods generally ranging from half a month to two months.

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

(a) AR L A BAS T SR AR R i 7
SIZAREBESFABARESSMUETRAR
M222BI (ZFFNF : ARKIIETR
ARM249(5T) « RAAR BEERIKEHL
0B R F R E BT 5 EFF0.75%E2.01%
(ZZZNE : 0.76%F2.11%)5HEH)

(b)  BENRITEIENERRTTEE AL KB

TTRIBHIE © Z ZRI KR EAERIE |
BN ER %R -

FE W AR

RTEENEERREFRHRMERNBLE
EBFAFEAZMEARNE -

FEWER B BREC AT LA T

Within 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days

Over 365 days

Less: provision for impairment of
receivables

Trade receivables

N+BERA
Nt+—HZ—BA+H
—ANt+—BZE
=A/~ThHE
HB="/,"THH

A ERCRTORE R

JE U BR R

Group Company
&5 A

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF  -TTHF CE-BF  -ITTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT ARBETF T AR FT ARETT
2,058,666 1,299,761 2,439,624 1,504,084
27,094 37,427 11,397 33,353
39,882 9,297 17,377 5,016
233,202 246,202 196,788 190,450
2,358,844 1,592,687 2,665,186 1,732,903
(231,398) (221,816) (119,286) (115,243)
2,127,446 1,370,871 2,545,900 1,617,660

Balances with related companies included in trade receivables are summarised in

Note 46(c)(i).

R Ui B % £ Rt U A R ) R B EE 4R 51 R R
B EE46(c)()) ©
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

—HILFE

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate their fair values.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history of

default.

As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables of RMB91 million
(2009: RMB 104 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history of
default. The Group holds cash deposits of RMB500 million (2009: RMB287
million) from these agents. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as

follows:

26. FEUWRRR (&)

RN EREBERIE AR EE -

R I8 ER 7 AR (B B B KR SR T B 2 44 4T A A
BRESNERESAM -

MRoZ—ZFE+-A=+—H  BREZA
REVIMEIL(ZZEZTNGE - ARE1.0MET
B AL S BRE N ERE o It ERIES RZ [E&
R BHRERCENB LR - HZLE
VERF AEEFHELEAARESET
(ZZTNEF : ARB28TRI) S - b E
FEURBR FREVEBR R AT IO -

Group Company
58 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —TTNF —B-EF —ZTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AEETFT AR¥TFT ARST T
Up to 6 months NMEA AR 50,799 94,840 12,810 15,656
6 to 12 months NETZEA 39,882 9,260 17,377 5,122
90,681 104,100 30,187 20,778
As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables of RMB213 million RZZE-ZF+_A=+—H  BREZA
(2009: RMB87 million) were impaired and fully provided for. The remaining RE21BETL(ZEZNF : ARE087(ETT)
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties EAORE - WERRZFERMERE - A TH
and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The factors BERYERFS R E LBV BEEBHES -
considered by management in determining the impairment are described in Note miEET R B 2B AR AT E - B/
2(r). IRTERERENE BEER2ANE it -
The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows: B aTHRRE B HH B R AR TR BRER LA T
Group Company
55 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —ZThEF —B-2F —ZTNE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AE#BTFT AR¥TFT ARST T
12 to 24 months overdue BEA12Z2 2418 A 13,689 32,700 13,623 31,338
Over 24 months overdue mHA24ME A A £ 219,513 213,502 183,165 159,112
233,202 246,202 196,788 190,450
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 26. FEWERFN (&)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade receivables are as FEUBRFORE R BRI Z BT -
follows:
Group Company
£E AF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF ZTENF —E-2F “TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFT AR¥FT AREFT
At 1 January —RA—H#&& 221,816 217,191 115,243 110,849
Additions through the acquisition UeBE EFRAR (18 hn
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (K5t44) 9,687 = - =
Receivables written off during FRF AR ER
the year as uncollectible e AZ 8K (2,985) - - -
Provision for impairment of REFHRREREE
receivables 2,880 4,625 4,043 4,394
At 31 December T A=t+—H#&#% 231,398 221,816 119,286 115,243
The net impact of creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have HEKSREBEENTRNBL N FZEE 08
been included in "Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables' in the FE ) 2= [ P8 U AR R % L 4t 8 WURROR (B 2
income statement (Note 11). Amounts charged to the allowance account are HBIAEEN) - FEEBRS IR EEE—
generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. R TE BRI IR NE S R IR o
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are denominated in the R B FEUR R A AR EE R RS R AR

following currencies:

Group Company
58 NF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —ZTNEF —E-BF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBFT AREFT ARBEFT
Currency B
Renminbi AREE 1,655,344 1,019,919 2,187,115 1,314,257
Japanese Yen Hit 123,956 93,778 121,715 93,778
US Dollars ESViH 91,903 79,732 16,344 45,106
Euro BXIT 83,081 56,663 50,461 43,740
HK Dollars T 73,621 44,332 70,724 44,332
Korea Won Cried 47,563 26,174 47,563 26,174
Other currencies HipE% 51,978 50,273 51,978 50,273
2,127,446 1,370,871 2,545,900 1,617,660
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount EHRERH  FERRNKSEARAES L
of receivable shown above. it R BRI (B ©
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27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. ANR - FRREAEYR

Group Company
£5 |
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF —EThF —E-EF —EThF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥Fr ARSFT AR¥Fr AREFT
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a))  BRHIMESRTT1E K
(2F2(3) 1,486,362 427,996 1,466,463 421,216
Rebate receivables on aircraft A TR FTIS FE
acquisitions i qEEPN 796,737 783,864 753,741 771,255
Receivables from aircraft FEUR A RS
manufacturer for cancelled order TRIEGR F R 686,966 - - -
Deposits with banks with original HBE={EAEIR
maturity over three months —EMNEEFER
but less than a year (Note (b)) (77 (b)) 462,768 28,454 89,601 21,654
Ground service fees receivables T AR 75 & 324,654 332,446 279,134 251,263
Prepaid aircraft operating TR AR AS &
lease rentals HEHS 306,293 234,385 179,070 196,003
Rental deposits HEFTS 260,650 117,472 220,555 97,470
Amounts due from related FEME & R EI5RIR
companies (Note 46(c)(i) (K15E46(c)(i) 152,731 61,397 2,386,120 1,380,079
Others Hith 863,838 549,820 289,358 291,240
Subtotal /Net 5,340,999 2,535,834 5,664,042 3,430,180
Less: bad debt provision W BB (183,995) (165,339) (110,676) (116,179)
5,157,004 2,370,495 5,553,366 3,314,001
Notes: TR
(a)  The restricted bank deposits primarily represent: (i) a security deposit of US dollar 18 @ RHELRITEAEZERE () SEHEES

million (RMB121 million equivalent) for crude oil option contracts (2009: US dollar
62 million or RMB421 million equivalent) bearing interest rate of approximately 1.76%
per annum with final maturities through to 2011, (i) bank deposits of RMB1,345
million (2009: Nil) for secured borrowings bearing interest rate of approximately from
2.02% to 3.37% per annum with final maturities through to 2011 (Note 32).

(b)  As at 31 December 2010, the deposits are denominated in RMB and bear effective
interest rate of approximately 0.36% per annum (2009: 0.36% per annum).
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group's and Company's cash and cash equivalents

28. RENBELEEY

AEERARBRE MRS EFEYNEREE

are denominated in the following currencies: EIREESRAT
Group Company
£H AF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —TENF —E-BF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFT ARST T AREF T AR#BTT
Renminbi ARHE 2,642,109 816,538 511,808 264,732
US Dollars ESyH 263,051 253,776 181,499 224,095
Euro BT 30,592 43,519 22,888 28,588
Japanese Yen Hit 12,705 30,889 7,445 11,006
Hong Kong Dollars oy 11,430 470,234 10,362 469,465
Others Hibh B 118,341 120,292 117,281 120,344
3,078,228 1,735,248 851,283 1,118,230
29. TRADE PAYABLES AND NOTES PAYABLE 29. ENERRRENRE
The aging analysis of trade payables and notes payable is as follows: JERTBR N N R R A BREe DA LA T
Group Company
£H AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —TENF —E-BF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARST T AREF T AERBTFT
Within 90 days NTBAUA 2,477,327 5,161,027 3,522,807 5,100,826
91 to 180 days h+—BZ—8BNA+AH 1,190,393 772,255 868,816 764,457
181 to 365 days —BNA+—RA=ZE
=AANTHA 290,991 157,856 69,583 114,581
Over 365 days BB=//TaA 316,732 389,321 240,745 313,684
4,275,443 6,480,459 4,701,951 6,293,548

As at 31 December 2010, the trade payables and notes payable balances
of the Group and the Company included amounts due to related companies
of RMB478 million (2009: RMB1,013 million) and RMB2,441 million

(2009: RMB1,091 million) respectively (Note 46(c)(ii)). AEE10

R-Z—TF+-_A=+—0 AEENKX
AR EA BRI B IR e R R R A BB A
RIBED R AARELISEIL(ZTETNE ¢
BEL)MARE2AMET(ZEE

NE = ARBE10.91187T) (BdaE46(c)ii)) °

As at 31 December 2010, notes payable amounted to RMB 1,425 million
(2009: RMB4,936 million), which were unsecured, bore effective interest rates
ranging from 3.48% to 4.5% per annum (2009: 1.6% to 5.9%) and were
repayable within six months.

RS e

R-Z—TF+-_A=1+—0 " ENEEE
BAARBIMBEIL(ZETAE : AR
493618 7T
(ZZZTNF : 1.6%=59%) @ WK/~ E A

) - EER - FIE A3.48% = 4.5%
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

30. HENRKARER

Group Company
|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —EThF —E-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMTFIT ARMFT ARMTFIT
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits JB32 T& - ¥4 MiaH 2,857,725 1,481,264 2,435,460 1,262,017
Accrued take-off and landing charges FER TR EFF & 2,016,546 2,331,711 851,991 1,791,485
Accrued expenses related to aircraft ~ JEIRFRIM AL B
overhaul conducted 1,759,898 1,389,906 939,135 1,099,760
Accrued fuel cost TEIRFMMIBEE A 1,550,561 2,196,652 959,558 2,043,083
Duties and levies payable ST AN T 1,375,205 759,446 818,774 602,275
Other accrued operating expenses  JEIR E i & & & 1,650,795 1,181,390 1,390,504 988,611
Deposits received from ticket sales — #EZ 75 #E K IRUWETA)
agents HisA 500,139 286,780 350,596 204,731
Staff housing allowance (Note 37(b)) B T{X =84
(K1aE37(b)) 348,232 401,322 265,084 331,563
Current portion of long-term duties  H-fth = 2R & <t BAR AN
and levies payable (Note 34) FESTFR B 8RB 61D
(Ktzt34) 76,390 76,577 61,999 69,255
Current portion of post-retirement iR AR AIE S H) R ED
benefit obligations (Note 36(b)) =15 (H1aE36(b) 61,279 51,226 54,523 48,193
Amounts due to related companies  FE{I 5 BEiE A B ZIE
(Note 46(c)(ii)) (KizE46(c)i) 83,641 136,259 757,173 346,733
Other payables Eih 2,255,757 1,224,671 1,557,583 1,087,998
14,536,168 11,517,204 10,442,380 9,875,704
31. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 31. BEHEEE
As at 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company had 71 and 58 aircraft RZE—ZFE+-A=+—H AEEEARK
(2009: 65 and 59 aircraft) respectively under finance leases. Under the terms of ANRIABERE T 9 BIHEATRET 1525058

the leases, the Group and the Company have options to purchase, at or near the
end of the lease terms, certain aircraft at either fair market value or a percentage
of the respective lessors’ defined cost of the aircraft. The obligations under
finance leases are principally denominated in US Dollars.
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31.

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (continued)

—HIEFE

The future minimum lease payments (including interest), and the present value of

31. REAESEE)

REEE(BEHNS) RREESHEREDT

the minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows: R
Group
E]
2010 2009
—2-2F% —ETHE
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments Interest payments payments Interest payments
& RIE
=%k FE #HERE vk e  HesRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREBTT AREFT ARBTT AREFT AREFT
Within one year —FR 2,476,451 338,620 2,137,831 2,466,415 340,985 2,125,430
In the second year FF 2,539,816 296,589 2,243,221 2,388,362 294,733 2,093,629
In the third to fifth year inclusive FFRERF
(BEEEMTF) 7,498,600 609,882 6,888,718 7,405,048 620,147 6,784,901
After the fifth year AELE 8,359,802 421,245 7,938,557 8,752,687 386,412 8,366,275
Total mE 20,874,669 1,666,336 19,208,333 21,012,512 1,642,277 19,370,235
Less: amount repayable within one year  J5 : —FN{EE R (2,476,451) (338,620)  (2,137,831) (2,466,415) (340,985) (2,125,430)
Long-term portion REEH D 18,398,218 1,327,716 17,070,502 18,546,097 1,301,292 17,244,805
Company
N
2010 2009
“E-ZF —ZENF
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease ease lease
payments Interest payments payments Interest payments
RIE (&
BiEHEE FE HEZRE vk FE  HezBRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT ARETRT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Within one year —ER 2,084,165 287,426 1,796,739 2,213,131 297,316 1,915,815
In the second year FF 2,137,331 252,061 1,885,270 2,130,374 256,296 1,874,078
In the third to fifth year inclusive E=FEFEAF
(BEEEMF) 6,251,938 521,000 5,730,938 6,600,565 538,862 6,061,703
After the fifth year REE 6,854,100 389,175 6,464,925 7,802,646 351,018 7,451,628
Total et 17,327,534 1,449,662 15,877,872 18,746,716 1,443,492 17,303,224
Less: amount repayable within one year  J5 : —FREEZH (2,084,165) (287,426)  (1,796,739) (2,213,131) (297,316) (1,915,815)
Long-term portion RERER D 15,243,369 1,162,236 14,081,133 16,533,585 1,146,176 15,387,409

REEEARBBEREAE L AAED A
BAREE195.29B TR AR 162.281870 (=
TENF : ARE196.811BT R AREE177.04
fB7r)  EARERREEHT NRBERE
RKEZMIHBFIRE o

The fair value of obligations under finance leases of the Group and the Company
are RMB 19,529 million and RMB16,228 million (2009: RMB19,681 million and
RMB17,704 million) respectively, which are determined using the expected future
payments discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the year end.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

32. BORROWINGS

32. &R

Group Company
£5 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-EF —ETNEF —B-BF —ZThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMTFIT ARMFT ARMTFIT
Non-current ERENE D
Long-term bank borrowings RHEERITER
— secured —BHEH 13,107,405 7,566,853 8,983,065 5,695,606
— unsecured — KR 10,247,592 5,438,021 9,258,475 5,206,178
23,354,997 13,004,874 18,241,540 10,901,784
Current mENER D
Long-term bank borrowings RHEBIRITER
— secured —HHEH 2,011,861 1,221,829 1,274,011 857,512
— unsecured — IR 2,005,721 2,701,640 1,830,273 2,495,811
Short-term bank borrowings RHIRITIER
— secured — B 1,324,540 - 1,324,540 -
— unsecured — 9,868,538 8,406,606 7,918,751 6,866,606
15,210,660 12,330,075 12,347,575 10,219,929
Total borrowings Epaeike] 38,565,657 25,334,949 30,589,115 21,121,713
The borrowings are repayable as RITETRER T HIE
follows: RAEE :
Within one year —FN 15,210,660 12,330,075 12,347,575 10,219,929
In the second year FF 8,161,606 2,714,006 6,739,334 2,354,008
In the third to fifth year inclusive F=FRERF
(BIEEEMSE) 8,672,434 6,165,512 6,682,965 5,295,118
After the fifth year AFAE 6,520,957 4,125,356 4,819,241 3,252,658
Total borrowings Ep L] 38,565,657 25,334,949 30,589,115 21,121,713
Notes: TR

As at 31 December 2010, the secured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company
were pledged by the related aircrafts and buildings with an aggregate net book amount of
RMB20,800 million and RMB 14,846 million respectively (2009: RMB13,678 million and
RMB11,273 million) (Note 19).

Certain unsecured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company totaling of RMB575
million and RMB85 million respectively (2009: RMB447 million and nil) were guaranteed by
CEA Holding (Note 46(d)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —ZE—ZFF+ _-HA=+—HILFEZ
32. BORROWINGS (continued) 32. fBR(#&)
The terms of the long-term bank loans are summarised as follows: REASRITIE SV IRSIRAE AT
Group Company
£E AT
Interest rate and
Currency final maturities 2010 2009 2010 2009
¥E BRAER A —B-BF ZZThEF —E-BF ZZThEF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AREFT AR¥FTT ARETFT
RMB denominated Interest rates ranging from 3.51%
AREE t0 6.70% per annum with final
maturities through to 2018.
FERENTF351EE6.70E
TE - BRE018FHEZEH 10,550,536 6,535,520 8,897,248 5,057,500
U.S. dollar denominated Interest rates ranging from 1 month
x7T LIBOR +1% to 6 month LIBOR
+2.5% per annum with final
maturities through to 2022.
FMENFEHLBOR +1E=
618 ALIBOR +2.5EE 15
ERE2022F 18 EI HA 16,822,043 10,279,569 12,448,576 9,084,353
EURO denominated
BT - 113,254 - 113,254
Total long-term bank loans &= EAf&Fk 4851 27,372,579 16,928,343 21,345,824 14,255,107
Note: TRE
(@) The fair value of long-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are (@) AEERRRINREBERZ AR EES S

(b)

RMB27,759 million and RMB21,768 million respectively (2009: RMB17,051 million
and RMB 14,332 million), which are determined using the expected future
payments discounted at prevailing market interest rates available to the Group
and the Company for financial instruments with substantially the same terms and
characteristics at the balance sheet date.

Short-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are repayable within one year.
As at 31 December 2010, the interest rates relating to such borrowings, including
both fixed rates and floating rates, were ranged from 1.26% to 5.31% per annum
(2009: 0.33% to 7.47% per annum). During the year ended 31 December 2010,
the weighted average interest rate on short-term bank loans was 4.08% per annum
(2009: 5.14 % per annum).

(b)

AR #277.5918 7T R A K& #217.681& 7T (2009
F: ARKEI170511ET RA R K 1433248
) - AR EERREEHLTHE - UK
REER (5K AL BRER A TR
ARA RS HE BT AL ETEFIEIHE
g o

K5 (B 2 2K A K7 B E G B — L AE
BHES RZFE—FF+=-H=+—H "
TRBAE B EFIE - EIEEEFIEFEE)F
F o RI1.26%E531%(=FZ/LF : 0.33%
2747%) c R=F—FF+=H=1+—H -
JZEE SR DI F K 54.08% (= FF
T 5.14%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

32. BORROWINGS (continued) 32. BR(E)
Note: (continued) HRE ()
(c)  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: (© EAEIREI L RBIA TS AN
Group Company
£5 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF —ZF-FF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AREFT AR®FT AREFT
Renminbi AR 16,493,536 12,064,354 12,927,248 9,046,335
US Dollars ZE7T 22,072,121 13,157,341 17,661,867 11,962,124
Euro BT - 113,254 - 113,254
38,565,657 25,334,949 30,589,115 21,121,713
33. PROVISION FOR RETURN CONDITION CHECKS FOR AIRCRAFT 33. REAERBRBBHERBISERS

UNDER OPERATING LEASES

Group Company
£H AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-2F —ZThEF —B-EF —ZTNE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT AR¥TFT ARST T
At 1 January —H—B#&&R 1,847,755 1,534,018 1,282,402 1,168,690
Additions through the acquisition g EMmRR R
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (K15F44) 685,934 - - -
Additional provisions REFHR 586,364 588,745 247,424 234,529
Utilisation AEEL A (305,550) (275,008) (12,755) (120,817)
At 31 December +=ZA=+—R&&% 2,814,503 1,847,755 1,517,071 1,282,402
Less: current portion B BN D (339,091) (609,884) (46,695) (183,099)
Long-term portion REAES 1D 2,475,412 1,237,871 1,470,376 1,099,303
Provision of operating lease aircraft return condition check represents the present LR E R R B BERTEREEFREE
value of estimated costs of major return check for aircraft and engines under MHERENFETRERESERNRE - 8
operating leases as the Group has obligation to fulfill certain return conditions RILERE - NEBEBEBMmTABHEER
under relevant leases. TE R R G o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —E—ZEF+ _-H=1—HIFF/EF

34. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 34. HtRHIEE
Group Company
58 ]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-¥F  -TTHF C¥-FF  -ITThF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARET T ARETFT AER®TT

Long-term duties and levies payable = HAfE M RAH:

E {18 821,950 737,369 624,836 652,378
Fair value of unredeemed points BIREETE AR A
awarded under the Group's REESIH R EE
frequent flyer programs 1,254,752 442,623 1,119,159 442,623
Deferred gains on sale and & 1& Bl A MR AE W
leaseback transactions of aircraft - 8,138 - 8,138
Other long-term payables H b R AR R 113,120 91,870 91,484 87,524
2,189,822 1,280,000 1,835,479 1,190,663
Less: current portion (Note 30) B mENER D (AYAE30) (384,960) (76,577) (337,224) (69,255)
Long-term portion KRR 1,804,862 1,203,423 1,498,255 1,121,408
35. DEFERRED TAXATION 35. JRIEFHIH
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally EREATRENABHIERE B RE—F
enforceable right of offset and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same BEHE - BIF SRR IR A E R RIA A
authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are EEEH - #iHER - TIEREEERR
shown in the balance sheets: KA
Group Company
£5 A
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF —E-ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARMTFIT ARMF T ARBTFIT
Deferred tax assets R IAE B
— Deferred tax asset to be utilised —12{AA A EATER
after 12 months HOIRFER TR & B 73,675 82,272 - -
— Deferred tax asset to be utilised —12{A A AR A B
within 12 months BRIERIE & B 1,513 1,476 - -
75,188 83,748 - _
Deferred tax liabilities RETHIBEE
— Deferred tax liability to be realised ~ —121& A LA F R &R
after 12 months BEEFIE B & (51,814) (51,539) - -
Net deferred tax assets EERTE B B F 5 (23,374) (32,209) - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 35. EEHIE(E)
Movements in the net deferred tax assets are as follows: RIETIEFEENEBNT
Group Company
£ AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF ZETRhF —E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT AREFT ARMFT ARBFT
At 1 January —HA—B#&% 32,209 24,358 - -
Additions through the acquisition WhE MR R &
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (Kiat44) (653) = - —
(Charged)/credited to income FEX({ER), BB
statement (Note 14) (Ktiz14) (8,182) 7,851 - -
At 31 December +=-A=+—B## 23,374 32,209 - =
The deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within RIEFIRE E N BB R —BUEKE T
the same tax jurisdiction) were made up of the taxation effects of the following: RIEVAE R A S VI 2 B4R
Group Company
£H AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—2-EF —ZTNEF —B-BfF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETFr ARMF T ARMBTFIT
Deferred tax assets: IRIERIAE EE
Impairment provision for obsolete TR T Y
flight equipment spare parts PREAEME 83,365 78,634 79,272 74,872
Impairment provision for receivables U FR BB 69,063 68,553 53,945 52,872
Impairment provision for property, — ¥13 - #22 M iR
plant and equipment B 128,226 170,808 125,573 170,451
Provision for return condition checks 4% &8 SRR
for aircraft under operating leases GiEky g R 93,740 152,231 92,101 135,196
Provision for frequent flyer programs — F iR R &t E1E4E 44,001 13,619 39,355 13,619
Derivative financial liabilities REMEHMBE 29,526 132,732 29,526 132,732
Provision for post-retirement benefits 3RARTE & F|2EMRE 245,026 271,672 220,475 247,424
692,947 888,249 640,247 827,166
Deferred tax liabilities: EERRIEA R :
Depreciation and amortisation e R#H (652,521) (855,272) (623,195) (826,398)
Derivative financial assets RESMEEMEE (17,052) (768) (17,052) (768)
(669,573) (856,040) (640,247) (827,166)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 R R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —ZE—ZFF+ _-HA=+—HILFEZ
35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 35. EFEBIIE(E)
Movements of the net deferred tax assets of the Group for the year: R IRFEER BT -
Additions
through the (Charged)/
Atthe  acquisition of credited to
beginning Shanghai income At the end
of the year Airlines statement of the year
a0t EMm FlE&
FHEREE RiIEM  (158) EE FREAHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AR®FT ARMFT ARMF T
For the year ended —E-TEFE
31 December 2010
Impairment provision for obsolete R H T LAY
flight equipment spare parts PREEAEME 78,634 - 4,731 83,365
Impairment provision for receivables & U ZORME Bt 68,553 510 - 69,063
Impairment provision for property, — ¥13 - #22 KRR
plant and equipment BIEZSER 170,808 - (42,582) 128,226
Provision for return condition checks 4% & RA4E TR
for aircraft under operating leases s 152,231 - (58,491) 93,740
Provision for frequent flyer programs =ik & 51 214 13,619 - 30,382 44,001
Derivative financial liabilities XHhcHBE 132,732 - (103,206) 29,526
Provision for post-retirement benefits 3R K113 F| X4 271,672 - (26,646) 245,026
888,249 510 (195,812) 692,947
Depreciation and amortisation rEREHE (855,272) - 202,751 (652,521)
Derivative financial assets RHMCHEE (768) (1,163) (15,121) (17,052)
(856,040) (1,163) 187,630 (669,573)
Net deferred tax assets RERIBEEFRE 32,209 (653) (8,182) 23,374
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE
35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 35. IEFEFIIE(4E)
(Charged)/
credited to
At the beginning income At the end
of the year statement of the year
AR
FYRREE (f§18) 818 FERERER
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
For the year ended 31 December 2009 —EENFFE
Tax losses carried forward st 1,846 (1,846) =
Impairment provision for obsolete flight TR R AT (Y
equipment spare parts PREEEME 78,634 - 78,634
Impairment provision for receivables JFE U TR (B B 68,553 - 68,553
Impairment provision for property, IS - MBS AR AR
plant and equipment B 170,808 - 170,808
Provision for return condition checks for I HERMIRTE
aircraft under operating leases IS YEME 152,231 - 152,231
Provision for frequent flyer programs WK TR 13,619 - 13,619
Derivative financial liabilities THESRARE 313,488 (180,756) 132,732
Provision for post-retirement benefits IRIKB BT 271,672 - 271,672
1,070,851 (182,602) 888,249
Depreciation and amortisation e i (1,024,173) 168,901 (855,272)
Derivative financial assets R EHEE (22,320) 21,552 (768)
(1,046,493) 190,453 (856,040)
Net deferred tax assets IRAERIA S B F AR 24,358 7,851 32,209

As at the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had unrecognised
deductable temporary differences approximately RMB7,089,519 and
RMB4,786,950 respectively (2009: RMB5,441,922 and RMB4,579,894
respectively).

In addition, as at 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company had tax
losses carried forward of approximately RMB9,855 million and RMB8,532 million
respectively (2009: RMB 16,223 million and RMB12,720 million respectively)
which will expire between 2011 and 2014, and which are available to set off
against the Group companies and the Company's future taxable income. In
accordance with the PRC tax law, tax losses can be carried forward to offset
against future taxable income for a period of five years.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company did not recognise
RMBA4,236 million and RMB3,330 million respectively (2009: RMB5,416 million
and RMB4,325 million respectively) of deferred tax assets arising from the above
deductable temporary differences and tax losses as management did not consider
it probable that other deductable temporary differences and tax losses would be
realised before they expire.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —F—ZF#F 1+ = =1

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS

(@) Defined contribution retirement schemes

(b)

(1)

(ii)

Pension

The Group companies participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes organised by municipal governments of various provinces in
which the Group companies operate. Substantially all of the Group’s
PRC employees are eligible to participate in the Group companies’
retirement schemes. The Group companies are required to make
annual contributions to the schemes at rates ranging from 20% to
22% on the employees’ salary and allowances subject to certain
ceilings as set up by the relevant municipal governments. Employees
are required to contribute to the schemes at rates ranging from 7%
to 8% of their salaries. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group's pension cost charged to the consolidated income statement
amounted to RMB715 million (2009: RMB390 million).

Medlical insurance

Majority of the Group's PRC employees participate in the medical
insurance schemes organised by municipal governments, under
which the Group companies and their employees are required to
contribute to the schemes approximately 12% and 2%, respectively,
of the employee’s basic salaries subject to certain ceilings as set up
by the relevant municipal governments. For those employees who
participate in these schemes, the Group has no other obligation for
the payment of medical expense beyond the annual contributions.
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's medical
insurance contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to RMB281 million (2009: RMB132 million).

Post-retirement benefits

In addition to the above defined contribution retirement schemes, the
Group provides retirees with other post-retirement benefits including
transportation subsidies, social function activities subsidies and other
welfares. The expected cost of providing these post-retirement benefits is
actuarially determined and recognised by using the projected unit credit

method, which involves a number of assumptions and estimates, including

inflation rate, discount rate and employees' turnover ratio.

—HIEFE

36. RAEFTEIRESRKENER

(a)

(b)

ERBRBRARETE

(i)

(i)

BED

AEFEELERD]EEHE
MEAEENTERRANEES
T8l - REERZHIEESR
E2EAEENEEZEHEICE
& o REEF BT BN TR
e KRS E ERN20%E
D% TNHRE - EERIRER
RESHIT% E8% X MK - &
E-T-ZTF+-_RA=+—HIE
FE - AEBEZETEFA
BT ERNEZSEHREBRA
ARETIEI(ZEZTNF © A
R#3.90B7T) o

BRI

REEBRIHTREELRNT &
TG R B R AT R - A
SRR EAD BEAE MR
PR EHAF S EIR4912% K 2%
MFTBIHEIR o BRULERIN - AR
BH2marElaiE 8w E
BEERAEM HE-ZT—Z

+ZA=+—RALFE 58
AFARKBLIEIL(ZETNE ¢
AREE1.32(870) BERBERR
EE

RAKRNEN

B L FEDFEISN - AEEEMR
KB B RN B3R - AR EE
BEDA R BLABARA o ARORIR AR FTEE £ R
&R Bt EARREE NS E B
HLERTE - WABRRR R AR
% B EEBRE  TRERERR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & &

—E—FFEF-A=1

—HILFE

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS (continued)

36. RAEFERESRARNER ()

(b) Post-retirement benefits (continued) (b) BIREHER(E)
The post-retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheets EEEBBERTERNRKEETE
are as follows: FZEBIT
Group Company
£5 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-EF —ETNEF —B-BF —ZThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMTFIT ARMFT ARMTFIT
Present value of funded post- HEEHIEBRKE
retirement benefit obligations &I/ & FIXE (&
[E 440,042 = -
Fair value of plan assets FTEEEMNAREE (95,085) - -
Present value of unfunded post- 3R E £ #IE BRIK
retirement benefit obligations % 1EHEREED
BE 4,737,736 4,490,477 4,155,547 3,978,333
Unrecognised actuarial losses AMERHFEEIEL (2,465,413) (2,640,544) (2,209,541) (2,333,591)
Post-retirement benefit obligations {& 8 iR {K12 & 7| &
K 2,617,280 1,849,933 1,946,006 1,644,742
Less: current portion (Note 30) & : JRENELH
(Kta£30) (61,279) (51,226) (54,523) (48,193)
Long-term portion REIE D 2,556,001 1,798,707 1,891,483 1,596,549
Changes in post-retirement benefit obligations are as follows: RINERANEREBNHEBNT -
Group Company
£ AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF ZETRhF —E-FF —ETNhF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT AREFT ARMFT ARBTFT
At 1 January —HA—H#&% 1,849,933 1,515,585 1,644,742 1,330,679
Additions through the acquisition YZB& FAp(D 2L
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44)  (Kfa£44) 419,414 - - -
Costs charged in the income FFAFERA
statement BHAER 479,514 440,878 399,177 405,468
Payments X148 (131,581) (106,530) (97,913) (91,405)
At 31 December +-—A=+—B%&& 2,617,280 1,849,933 1,946,006 1,644,742
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —E—ZEF+ _-H=1—HIFF/EF

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT 36. ENREFHEIRESEKREBHVERE)
BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Post-retirement benefits (continued) (b) EREHIER(E)
The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows: REEFEEEN AR BEEHERN
T
Group Company
£E AE]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF —E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARMETFIT ARMF T ARBTFIT
At 1 January —H—B# - = - =
Additions through the acquisition W3 A% (D 522
of Shanghai Airlines (Note 44)  ([7£44) 79,956 = - =
Expected return on plan assets  z+& & ETBHIEIR 6,043 = - _
Actuarial gain BE(BL W) 102 - - -
Employer contributions EEHR 10,862 - - -
Benefits paid from the plan assets #5125 & &E X [MEH (1,878) = - -
At 31 December +=—A=+—R#&% 95,085 - - -
The costs of post-retirement benefits are recognised under wages, salaries BINEENEAEIATLE  Frekia
and benefits in the income statements as follows: FMERFT  WERAFEMERFTR
fde -
Group Company
£E= NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF —E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARMETFIT ARMF T ARBTFIr
Current service cost EHREER 172,889 156,000 138,270 152,854
Interest cost FMEEBA 211,412 169,318 169,884 149,684
Actuarial losses recognised HRAFEEER 101,256 115,560 91,023 102,930
Estimated return on planned asset £t & &= B HAE 3R (6,043) = - -
Total (Note 9) R (fE9) 479,514 440,878 399,177 405,468
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as REEBEBEXRBETEREMEBERRD
follows: :
Group and Company
SBRAE
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
Discount rate IR 4.25% 4.25%
Annual rate of increase of per capita Y HEERFIMNEEREXR
benefit payment 3%-5% 3.00%
Employee turnover rate BB mAE 3%-3.25% 3.00%
Mortality rate PR mp:S 9.83% 9.07%
Medical inflation rate BREmRE 5.00% 5.00%
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & %= —

FFE+=A=1

37. STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS

(a)

(b)

Staff housing fund

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group
is required to contribute to the State-sponsored housing fund for its
employees at rates ranging from 7% to 15% (2009: 7% to 15%) of the
specified salary amounts of its PRC employees. At the same time, the
employees are required to contribute an amount equal to the Group's
contribution. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of the
fund contributed under certain specified withdrawal circumstances. For
the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's contributions to the
housing funds amounted to RMB422 million (2009: RMB323 million)
(Note 9) which has been charged to the consolidated income statement.
The staff housing fund payable as at 31 December 2010 is RMB45 million
(2009: RMB20 million). The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods.

Staff housing allowances

The Group also provides staff housing allowances in cash to eligible
employees. The total entitlement of an eligible employee is principally
vested over a period of 20 years. Upon an eligible employee’s resignation,
his or her entitlement would cease and any unpaid entitlement related
to past service up to the date of resignation would be paid. As at
31 December 2010, the present obligation of the provision for employee’s
staff housing allowances is RMB348 million (2009: RMB401 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the staff housing benefit amounted
to RMB114 million (2009: RMB 106 million) (Note 9) which has been
charged to the consolidated income statement.
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(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 ¥ R B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - A=1+—HILF/Z
38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. ©EIITETA
Group and Company
SEEAF
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Ef —EThEF —E-EF —TEThEF
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFT AR¥TFT AREFT
At 31 December +—A=+—H&&
Interest rate swaps (Note (a)) FEE AL (i1 () 52,081 - 191,247 154,871
Forward foreign exchange SNEE RS K0 (AL HED))
contracts (Note (b)) - - 76,548 77,016
Crude oil option contracts (Note (¢)  [FRmHEAES 4 (7 £#E(c)) 18,970 3,490 48,612 897,744
Total aEr 71,051 3,490 316,407 1,129,631
Less: current portion B mENED
— Interest rate swaps —FEFBAEH - - (62,891) (67,728)
— Forward foreign exchange —INERIER)
contracts - - (10,479) (40,814)
— Crude oil option contracts — RS 4 (18,970) (3,490) (48,612) (897,744)
(18,970) (3,490) (121,982) (1,006,286)
Non-current portion e BN EB(D 52,081 - 194,425 123,345
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the EHRERH  FERRNZSEAREAELSE
derivative assets in the balance sheet. EBBERANITEEEN D TEE -
Notes: itaE
(a)  Interest rate swaps (a) FIREHEAEK
The Group uses interest rate swaps to reduce the risk of changes in market interest 7R £ B35 3 | 3= G 1201 177 45 | 3R B B e [
rates (Note 3(a)(ii)). The Group’s interest rate swaps qualify for hedge accounting. B (HtaE3(a)(ii) o KEBZEETH)FIE T H#E
The interest rate swaps entered into by the Group are generally for swapping variable WG EER S aERIRIE - EFXE S5 E
rates, usually referenced to LIBOR, into fixed rates, and are accounted for as cash AT A EELIBORIE B 1) F B) | K 82 1% 75 2 7|
flow hedges. Other interest rate swaps are accounted for as fair value hedges. As % BRAEZSKEEH  EMEHRRIALN
at 31 December 2010, the notional amount of the outstanding interest rate swap BEH R-ZF-—ZFFf_H=+—H K
agreements was approximately US$668 million (2009: US$388 million). These KEBIFE AR ST E G EEHE LR
agreements will expire between 2011 and 2021. #9736.68(FF T (ZFEENF : 3.8818F L) -
IR =B ——F R T —FEFH
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these interest REREBLERABERFEGTRE VB
rate swaps have been dealt with in the income statements as follows: FfEz RAS BIEZB)ZRHFIERNT -
Group
£5
2010 2009
—E—BF —EFTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR#EFT AREFIT
Realised losses (recorded in finance costs) EEREL GTAMBKEHR) (105,043) (77,047)
Unrealised mark to market gains/(losses) Bl (18X)
— cash flow hedges (recognised in equity) —BHERER (GIABLXALE) 8,103 56,112
— fair value hedges (recognised in gain on — R EBEER (FIARALIEE
fair value movements of financial derivatives) BEIERS) 7,602 (27,530)
(89,338) (48,465)
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4151 75k & B4 2L )

For the year ended 31 December 2010 {2 —F—ZFF+—-H =+

—HILFE

38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

@)

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk of changes
in currency exchange rates in respect of ticket sales and expenses denominated in
foreign currencies (Note 3(a)(i)). The Group's forward foreign exchange contracts
for selling Japanese Yen and purchasing U.S. dollars at fixed exchange rates are
accounted for as cash flow hedges. Other forward foreign exchange contracts are
accounted for as fair value hedges. As at 31 December 2010, the notional amount of
the outstanding currency forward contracts was approximately US$48 million (2009:
US$82 million), which will expire between 2011 and 2017.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts
have been dealt with in the income statements as follows:

38.

o

(b)

PTETA(E)

SMNEEBIEH)

L B A E R B A A A FE B R B & 5
FEUGA T2 75 LA SN 52 1 60 B A B A P 3
B (FfaE3(a)i) o REE T AIINNE R
Ha i a B @ rEMIEIF o Hoh X5
DAL EEEFHE ATHEAZET
BRESLHEER  AMEHBALNEE
B —E—FF+_H=+—H IHFFH
AR GHISNEERIE KIHE % & 5K 730.48
BET(ZFETNF - 082(8%7) » WHR
—F—FE_FFHEE

AFEEEELRABRINEEH LB

Group
=5
2010 2009
—E-FF ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTFT
Realised (losses)/gains (recorded in finance income) BEHE(BX) Was GIABBUA) (42,233) 45,983
Unrealised mark to market gains/(losses) REB W (18K)
— cash flow hedges (recognised in equity) — B REHGIAB AR L) (25,119) 3,272
— fair value hedges (recognised in gain on fair value — AR BEEHGIAAL EEZE)
movements of derivative financial instruments) b= ) 25,587 58,472
(41,765) 107,727

Crude oil option contracts

The Group enters into crude oil hedging contracts to reduce the risk of changes
in market oil/petroleum prices as a hedge against aircraft fuel costs. The crude
oil hedging contracts used by the Group are normally structured to include a
combination of both put and call options which allow the Group to lock in fuel prices
for specified volumes within a price range. In each hedging contract, the call options
price at which the Group is effectively entitled to buy fuel will be higher than that at
which the counterparty is effectively entitled to sell.

None of the crude oil hedging contracts remained open at 31 December 2010
qualified for hedge accounting. The Group is required to account for the fair value
of the difference between the spot price of crude oil and the price at which the
counterparties are effectively entitled to sell in future periods as unrealised mark
to market gains/losses and recognised these gains/losses in the income statements
immediately.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts
have been dealt with in the income statements.

(@)

BbEEE K

RIEETTIS B, HiH (B 152 B 2R
KA R E - FEBFE TH TGRS
#) o ANEBE T 0 FH RIS K8 = B A1
BIEETERGERESKGE LFE—TRE
B LK) E BAH A EREREE —E B °
FEE— I FlEE T AR EE R
BT HREBASHEEBSRI S FHE
FIHER(ELS

HE=—F—FTF+=-_FAA=+—H ZF£H
i 4 R R BN R B A T B/
BETHIEM - AEEF 5T EBEEXR Y
FRAKKER L EEZ FIAA BEAZEIE
BARERTER e 1BREEAE TS
i °

ZECRNGEELNE BELRFIAER AWz
FIRARETAFIE %

Group
%5

2010 2009
—E-FF ZETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARSETFT
Realised losses EEHEX (82,420) (1,558,858)
Unrealised mark to market gains KER M 882,615 5,302,604
800,195 3,743,746

The fair value of crude oil option contracts is determined by reference to mark-to-
market values provided by counterparties applying appropriate option valuation
model (i.e. mean regression model using the Monte Carlo Simulation Process). Key
parameters used in the valuation models include volatility, credit spread, long run
mean and mean reverting ratio at date of valuation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - A=1+—HILF/Z

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. €RT AEGRER)
(@) Group (@) £
Assets at fair
value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available
receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total
UAREE
FEER
BERR  H2B:A  BAEEHH AfHE
ElmE BRWEE $TETR SREE @t
Assets as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEABERANEE ARETFT ARMFRT ARBTT AREFRT AREFR
Balance 31 December 2010 —TTF
+=A=+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets FI & & A& E - - - 242,005 242,005
Derivative financial instruments ~ $TAETE - - 71,051 - 71,051
Trade receivables JRE U BR R 2,127,446 - - - 2,127,446
Prepayments, deposits and AR R EAM
other receivables excluding RS - AEfE
prepayments BN 4,442,730 - - - 4,442,730
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED 3,078,228 - - - 3,078,228
Total FeEy 9,648,404 - 71,051 242,005 9,961,460
Liabilities at Other
fair value financial
through  Derivatives liabilities at
Loans and the profit used for amortised
receivables and loss hedging cost Total
HLAREE
rER Hip &
BRR  HBHBFA  AEEHD B &R
FEhHE BRNEE fT£IAR BERRA @t
Liabilities as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EESBERANERE ARMFRT AREFRT ARETT AREFT AREFR
Balance 31 December 2010 —T-TE
+=RA=+—H
Borrowings faxk 38,565,657 - - - 38,565,657
Obligations under finance leases ALEMEE(E 19,208,333 - - - 19,208,333
Derivative financial instruments T4 T & - - 316,407 - 316,407
Trade payables and notes payable &SRR K B 1% 4,275,443 - - - 4,275,443
Other payables and accrued BRI
expenses BRREM 14,536,168 - - - 14,536,168
Total @t 76,585,601 - 316,407 - 76,902,008
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BT R R Y

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—F#+ - =1+—HI-FE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

(@) Group (continued)

39.

Assets at fair

TR T A (RER) (%)

(@ H=EGE

value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available
receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total
AAREE
=R
fEsk  HEHHA  BEESD A E
BUFIE  BENEE PTETER EREE st
Assets as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BERBERANEE ARETFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Balance 31 December 2009 —ZTTNEF
+=ZA=t—A
Available-for-sale financial assets Pl it & & B E & - - = 57,269 57,269
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4ETE - - 3,490 - 3,490
Trade receivables e BR R 1,370,871 - - - 1,370,871
Prepayments, deposits and TR R REAM
other receivables excluding FEMRER - A BT
prepayments LB 1,993,096 - - - 1,993,09%
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRLEZEY 1,735,248 = = = 1,735,248
Total Foa 5,099,215 - 3,490 57,269 5,159,974
Liabilities at Other
fair value financial
through Derivatives liabilities at
Loans and the profit used for amortised
receivables and loss hedging cost Total
ARAEE
TEA Hith$ gt
Ak  HEEEA  BEESN BER
EWHE  BEREEE FTETA BN st
Liabilities as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBBRERANER AREBFrT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Balance 31 December 2009 —TThE
+-A=+—8
Borrowings fER 25,334,949 - - - 25,334,949
Obligations under finance leases BEMREE (& 19,370,235 = = - 19,370,235
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4& T & = = 1,129,631 = 1,129,631
Trade payables and notes payable FE{TERFR K TR 1% 6,480,459 = = = 6,480,459
Other payables and accrued H At R R
expenses HEREMR 11,517,204 - - - 11,517,204
Total st 62,702,847 - 1,129,631 - 63,832,478
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S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 39. @WMIAGRER) (&)
(b) Company (b) AT
Assets at fair
value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available
receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total
LAREE
2R
BERR  H2B:A  BAEEHD AHHE
EWFHE  BRENEE fT£I8 SREE st
Assets as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEABERANEE ARETFT ARMFRT ARBTT AREFRT AREFR
Balance 31 December 2010 —TTF
+=A=+—H
Available-for-sale financial assets FI & & A& E - - - 223,729 223,729
Derivative financial instruments ~ $TAETE - - 71,051 - 71,051
Trade receivables e BR R 2,545,900 - - - 2,545,900
Prepayments, deposits and AR R EAM
other receivables excluding RS - AEfE
prepayments BN 5,212,915 - - - 5212915
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED 851,283 - - - 851,283
Total FeEy 8,610,098 - 71,051 223,729 8,904,878
Liabilities at Other
fair value financial
through  Derivatives liabilities at
Loans and the profit used for amortised
receivables and loss hedging cost Total
HLAREE
rER Hit&m
BRR  HBHBFA  AEEHD B &R
FEhHE BRNEE fT£IAR BERRA st
Liabilities as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EESBERANERE AREBTFT ARMTRT ARETT AREFT AR¥FT
Balance 31 December 2010 —T-TE
+=RA=+—H
Borrowings faxk 30,589,115 - - - 30,589,115
Obligations under finance leases ALEMEE(E 15,877,872 - - - 15,877,872
Derivative financial instruments T4 T & - - 316,407 - 316,407
Trade payables and notes payable &SRR K B 1% 4,701,951 - - - 4,701,951
Other payables and accrued BRI
expenses BRREM 10,442,355 - - - 10,442,355
Total @t 61,611,293 - 316,407 - 61,927,700
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—F#+ - =1+—HI-FE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

(b) Company (continued)

39.

Assets at fair

TR T A (RER) (%)

(b) 2F(H)

value through Derivatives
Loans and the profit used for Available
receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total
AAREE
=R
fEsk  HEHHA  BEESD A E
BUFIE  BENEE PTETER EREE st
Assets as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BERBERANEE ARETFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Balance 31 December 2009 —ZTTNEF
+=ZA=t—A
Available-for-sale financial assets Pl it & & B E & - - = 45,520 45,520
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4ETE - - 3,490 - 3,490
Trade receivables e BR R 1,617,660 - - - 1,617,660
Prepayments, deposits and TR R REAM
other receivables excluding FEMRER - A BT
prepayments EUEA 2,989,729 - - - 2,989,729
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRLEZEY 1,118,230 = = = 1,118,230
Total Foa 5,725,619 - 3,490 45,520 5,774,629
Liabilities at Other
fair value financial
through Derivatives liabilities at
Loans and the profit used for amortised
receivables and loss hedging cost Total
ARAEE
TEA Hith$ gt
Ak  HEEEA  BEESN BER
EWHE  BEREEE FTETA BN st
Liabilities as per balance sheet RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBBRRANER AREFT AR FT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Balance 31 December 2009 —TThE
+-A=+—8H
Borrowings fER 21,121,713 - - - 21,121,713
Obligations under finance leases BEMREE (& 17,303,224 = = - 17,303,224
Derivative financial instruments ~ $T4& T & = = 1,129,631 = 1,129,631
Trade payables and notes payable FE{TERFR K TR 1% 6,293,548 = = = 6,293,548
Other payables and accrued H At R R
expenses RiRER 9,875,704 - - - 9,875,704
Total st 54,594,189 - 1,129,631 - 55,723,820
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EBx 51 7% #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. B

Group and Company

SERDH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARKFT
Registered, issued and fully paid of RMB1.00 each i - BEITREESNER
ARE1.007T
A share listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange £ FBFEFR ST ETEAR
(“A Shares") (TAB ) 7,782,214 6,087,375
— Tradable shares held by CEA Holding with trading —HERMEERFENERE
moratorium fERAF A B A 4,831,375 4,831,375
— Tradable shares held by other investors with —HREERFENERE
trading moratorium (Note) GHRER () 288,889 860,000
— Tradable shares without trading moratorium —ERERERER(TE)
(Note) 2,661,950 396,000
H shares listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong ~ E&/E&E X ST ETEIHER
Limited ("H shares") (THER 1) 3,494,325 3,494,325
— Tradable shares held by CES Global Holding — RABIRR AR (BB BR AR
(Hong Kong) Limited with trading moratorium RANARE R 1,437,375 1,437,375
— Tradable shares without trading moratorium — PR (R imAR 2,056,950 2,056,950
11,276,539 9,581,700
Pursuant to articles 49 and 50 of the Company's Articles of Association, both the BEBEARTNAREREMN T EATF -
listed A shares and the listed H shares are all registered ordinary shares and carry BRRIEMBAR - ARRIA RHARE A it & @Ak
equal rights. WEHRIERER -
Note: ATEE
On 28 January 2010, as approved by the Company’s shareholders meeting and China WRIRRBIREA & R BIFEEHHE - KR AR
Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC"), the Company issued 1,694,838,860 A Shares —E—FF—H =+ /\F#771,694,838 860AKAAR -
of the Company to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all the existing issued PRI FRiAR (7 B #ITHI R EORG ° IEE #17AY
shares of Shanghai Airlines. Of the total 1,694,838,860 shares issued, 288,889,000 shares 1,694,838, 860A%AfZH » 288,889,000/ AR E A% - [R
were issued to an investor with lock up period of 29 months from 25 January 2010. The fair EH B E2010F1H25H 2918 A - RXFEITHIARR
value of the A Shares issued amounted to approximately RMB.1 billion, of which RMB1.7 BREL A EBELBAREIET - BRARE17
billion is recorded as share capital and the remaining RMB7.4 billion is recorded as share BITEA AR - AR 7AUETA A GEE (Hiatd4) »

premium (Note 44).
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —FE—ZF4#+ - A =+—HIFFE
41. RESERVES 41. #E
Group
58
Share Capital Hedging
premium reserve reserve Other Accumulated
(Note 40)  (Note (b)) (Note 38) reserves losses Total
AR E ERGHE ENRE
(it#40) (st (b)) (iF38) HitftE iR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFn ARETT ARETRT
At 1 January 2009 “ZTNF-A-B&EH 1,006,455 (720,057) (195,390) 26903  (18,082,262)  (17,964,351)
Unrealised gain on cashflow hedges (Note 38) 34 EHIHIR B U
(7H7E38) - - 59,384 - - 59,384
Realised gain on cashflow hedges (Note 38) B4 EHME ERUGE
(7H#E38) - - (1,470) - - (1,470)
Capital reserve attributed by shareholders of B4R RIREZHE)
an associate BIEE - - - 49,692 - 49,692
Fair value movements of available for sale BREE N\ R TSRO AT
investments held by associates HERBNALBEEY = - - (585) - (585)
[ssuance of new shares (Note 40) BT (GEEQ) 9,341,417 - - - - 9,341,417
Profit attributable to owners of the parent RNAFESES AEGTE - - - - 168,766 168,766
At 31 December 2009 “ZTNFF-A=1—H
b33 10,347,872 (720,057) (137,476) 76,010 (17,913,49)  (8,347,147)
At 1 January 2010 “Z-TF-f-H&EH 10,347,872 (720,057) (137,476) 76,010 (17,913,496) (8,347,147)
Unrealised gain on cashflow hedges (Note 38) B4 EHMAEREIR
(7838) - - (17,016) - - (17,016)
Fair value movements of available for sale  ATtEERBH AL (EES
investments EY) - - - (534) - (534)
Fair value movements of available for sale BB A RS £ A4
investments held by associates HERENALBEE - - - 1,543 - 1,543
Issuance of new shares for the acquisition of ~ UEE_ERARR(R FTEE1TRTAR
Shanghai Airlines (Note 40) (iF7E40) 7,399,913 - - - - 7,399,913
Profit attributable to owners of the parent AR TR B E LA - - - - 4957989 4,957,989
At 31 December 2010 —E-EF+-A=+-H
P 17,741,785 (720,057) (154,492) 77,019  (12,955,507) 3,994,748
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z
41. RESERVES (continued) 41. FE(E)
Company
NG|
Share Capital Hedging
premium reserve reserve  Accumulated
(Note 40) (Note (b)) (Note 38) losses Total
RAEE BRGE EHfEE
(t#40) (Z#(b)) (:t#38) RitEE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFT AREFRT ARETT ARETFT
At 1 January 2009 “ETAE-A-BEH 100645 (720057)  (195390)  (16350,135)  (16,259,127)
Unrealised gain on cashflow ReERNAER K

hedges (Note 38) (7t7E38) - - 59,384 - 59,384
Realised gain on cashflow ReERNE BRI

hedges (Note 38) (7t7E38) - - (1,470) - (1,470)
Issuance of new shares (Note 40) BITHIR (2 FE40) 9,341,417 - - - 9,341,417
Profit for the year FEREF - - - 1,074,027 1,074,027
At 31 December 2009 —TTNE

+TZA=1+—B#&# 10,347,872 (720,057) (137,476) (15,276,108) (5,785,769)
At 1 January 2010 —z-THE-f-AL&H 10347872 (720057)  (137,476) (15.276,108)  (5,785,769)
Unrealised gain on cashflow HEEHMNABRER

hedges (Note 38) (7t#£38) - - (17,016) - (17,016)
Issuance of new shares for the Webs_ERBR R BT

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines BATRIIR (77840)

(Note 40) 7,399,913 - - - 7,399,913
Profit for the year FEFE - - - 4,422,353 4,422,353
At 31 December 2010 —T-TF

+-B=+—A&H% 17,747,785 (720,057)  (154,492) (10,853,755) 6,019,481
Notes: i
(a)  Statutory and Discretionary Reserves (a) FEREBLAED
Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the Companies’ Articles of Association, each RIEH B 5 B ERANAI AN GIZFE K
of the Group companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for the year, as R AIEFET B E & AR E R FE
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to a statutory common reserve AFEET10% BAZE AL » BEEANE
fund until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group company’s registered capital. DA ER M ERAI50%  EZFEANES
The statutory common reserve fund can be used to make good previous years’ Al ARt A BT F SRR - N AT IR R B AR
losses, if any, and to issue new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing LE BB TTRTAR T AR R 2 4% JNAR R BT A AR
shareholdings or to increase the par value of the shares currently held by them, DHEE - (BEEFE R B4R T AT LRt AR
provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered Ke25% o
capital.
Each of the Group companies is permitted to transfer 5% of its profit for the year KA AR B R ¥ & AT 2Rl At H A F
as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to a discretionary common AFEEISIEAE B A AL © ZIEIERBLE
reserve fund. The transfer to this reserve is subject to approval at shareholders’ IRRA &R -
meetings.
No profit appropriation by the Company to the discretionary common reserve fund ARARBEZ—F—FF+=—A=1—HIF
was made for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: nil). FEHAH T MBS (—ETNF - ) °
(b)  Capital reserve (b) EAGHE

Capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the net assets
injected and the nominal amount of the Company’s share capital issued in respect
of a group restructuring carried out in June 1996 for the purpose of the Company’s
listing.

AEER—NANFNAZER LA TE
AARFRY BT E AR B JOF B E R ER)E
BB
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

42. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 42. REREHFRBEE

R-ZE-—FFE+_F KEETEEEZR
TE o EARKIERNHEETHERE - HEE
ERTNETREMESK ZBELAE

In December 2010, the Group management passed a resolution to dispose certain
aircraft and related engines in the forthcoming 12 months in consideration of
the low operation efficiency and high maintenance costs of these aircraft. The

proposed disposal is part of the Group's fleet portfolio streamlining exercise.
Subsequent to 2010 year end, the Group has taken active steps to seek potential
buyers and obtain buyers’ quotes. The aircraft and engines with an aggregate
carrying of RMB412 million (after the impairment loss charge) has been classified
as non-current assets held for sale at 31 December 2010. An impairment loss
charge of approximately RMB239 million was made against these aircraft and
engines by reference to the estimated market values which approximate to the
price quotes provided by the potential buyers (Note 10). The non-current assets

B BB A B TEN &S - RZT—
TERR - AEBEDREUESREE - SRE
ERNER @ RFBSERMRE - RN T —
TEF-A=+—H  FHEREEFERIKRE
FERAREANETE LR E S
DEFARBREERBDEE - RIFHEFTH
SEEREEERNORERL)  AEEY
bR R BB AT R ERE A AR 239

held for sale as at 31 December 2009 has been disposed during the year ended

31 December 2010.

43.

R (MEE10) s R=FENF+-A=+—
BRBHRERDEECN T —TFE

BE o
NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 43. BERERMET
(@) Cash generated from operations (a) RETHELENHEESRE
2010 2009
—E-EF —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AREFT
Profit before income tax i A0 5,417,812 249,205
Adjustments for: SEIER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - HES R RE R ER
and intangible assets BETE 6,726,651 5,177,149
Loss on disposals of property, plant LE R S e
and equipment BEEK 15,893 -
Loss on disposals of investment in associates REHE R RINIEL 1,013 =
Gain on disposals of investment in subsidiaries BB A AR (45,147) =
Share of results of associates BHREE N RIRE (39,228) 46,602
Share of results of jointly controlled entities BEEERNRESR (28,154) (23,803)
Amortisation of lease prepayments SEANPIE -6 i) 31,186 25,686
Net foreign exchange gains TRIE U RS (1,074,796) (95,379)
Amortisation of deferred revenue BTN s 6 - 8,138
Gain arising from fair value movements of SRITETAENAAE
derivative financial instruments FB) W (915,804) (5,333,546)
Consumption of flight equipment spare parts IR 2 HE 601,407 351,151
Impairment provision trade and other receivables  FEURER R K E At FE UL FOR B 2 1,545 8,807
Provision for post-retirement benefits RIKEB T EM 479,514 440,878
Provision for return condition checks for M SRR
aircraft under operating leases RIE%ERE 586,364 588,745
Impairment loss BEREERK 405,391 109,417
Interest income F WA (80,588) (109,925)
Interest expenses FEEHR 1,501,900 1,754,640
Operating profit before working capital changes LB B AR FHRFEEZFE 13,584,959 3,197,765
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 —E—FF+_-H =+

—HIEFE

43. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

(@) Cash generated from operations (continued)

43.

BRERBRMEE ()

(a) REFDELENRSRE(R)

2010 2009
—B-2F —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBFIT
Changes in working capital EEELEE
Flight equipment spare parts R BT (776,736) (465,626)
Trade receivables FEUBR IR (202,667) (210,188)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TARTFR ~ sk R B At FE LSRR 337,365 540,134
Sales in advance of carriage BEZR 846,502 406,305
Trade payables and notes payables FERTBR R R BT R HR (3,418,055) 1,021,365
Other payables and accrued expenses Hip e TRRRE B 292,530 (481,798)
Other long-term liabilities HthREBE 569,577 (160,859)
Provision for return condition checks for aircraft TR SRR AE
under operating leases s 2 (305,550) (275,008)
Staff housing allowances B T (X wHan (166,871) (90,514)
Post-retirement benefit obligations RNEEFAEE (131,581) (106,530)
Operating lease deposits KEEHERTS 110,366 132,644
(2,845,120) 309,925
Cash generated from operations KETEHEANBRESRE 10,739,839 3,507,690
(b) Non-cash transactions (b) HEEXH
2010 2009
e —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AEETFT
Financing activities not affecting cash: RS FE TS :
Issuances of new shares for acquisition of A GF AR BT B A%
Shanghai Airlines (Note 44) (Bfit4a4) 9,118,433 -
Finance lease obligations incurred for &R E R A BB R
acquisition of aircraft 1,455,152 =
10,573,585 =
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 581 75 #h & B l4F %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILF/Z

44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 44. EEH

On 10 July 2009, the Company entered into an absorption agreement (the
“Absorption Agreement”) with Shanghai Airlines in relation to a proposed
acquisition of Shanghai Airlines (the “Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Absorption
Agreement, the Company would issue 1,694,838,860 A Shares of the Company
to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all the existing issued
shares of Shanghai Airlines. The Acquisition was completed on 28 January 2010
(the “Acquisition Date"), on which Shanghai Airlines was delisted and became
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company thereafter.

Based on the 1,694,838,860 A shares issued for the Acquisition, the acquisition
price is RMB9, 118 million, which is determined based on the quoted market price
of the Company’s shares issued as of the date closest to the Acquisition Date with
adjustments to reflect restrictions specific to certain shares issued.

The resulting goodwill is determined to be RMB11,270 million and is attributable
to strengthening the competitiveness of the Company, attaining synergy
through integration of the resources and promoting the evolution of Shanghai
international air transportation centre.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net liabilities assumed and goodwill are
determined as follows:

RZZEZThEFELA+H  AARE MRS
IR IR A B ([ TR WS BF7RE ) LA
B0 LA (RIS SE]) o BIRIRUE BF
ek - AN B 217 1,694,838,860 A% A % A%
ZPRB EMBHDEIHEBETRAE o Ltk
KEHER=ZZ—SF—A=T/\B(BE
BDZEK - Bt EMRDKARARZEE
B AR -

BEARAABEARRKRAFETH
1,694,838 860X AR AR 22 + ZRIR IR U & Ff 42 7
BEAAREEIISEIT - AR ZHETIARKX
BIZREROINEERAZR S ANAR
Mi5RE - WHE TR E R4 a0 mARE

TTHRBIREE

HEREAARBINLOET  HHBLE
BEAEBAATNOBET S - BELRES
B 5 AR LA R R DB AES LA
2 -

KRB A G A FFEE - PrAEAEAaE
TR BREELT

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Purchase consideration — fair value of share issued BHEE -FITRENAAEE 9,118,433
Add: fair value of net liabilities assumed e ERENFEENAREE 2,151,262
Goodwill (Note 18) 2 (5E18) 11,269,695
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities (the “Acquired Assets and
Liabilities”) of Shanghai Airlines as at the Acquisition Date were estimated
by the Board by reference to a valuation conducted by an independent valuer.
The carrying amount and fair value of the Acquired Assets and Liabilities at the
Acquisition Date are as follows:

44,

XS (&)

REBE R EMBRGO A HREERBENAR
BE((WBHNEEREBBREZE2REE
AT BRI R A REE - WENEER
BERNEEHNREBERAREAERIBRY
/(N

Carrying Amount Fair Value
FREER AREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR¥TF T
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Intangible assets (Note 18) B R (f1a18) 21,403 21,403
Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) W - R (HE19) 10,050,475 8,324,946
Lease prepayments (Note 20) TEEERFE20) 115,753 466,507
Advances payments on acquisition of TR FR(HfaE21)

aircraft (Note 21) 1,072,366 1,072,366
Investment in an associates (Note 23) A RIS N R (KE23) 59,714 59,714
Investment in jointly controlled entities BEREE QR (HF24)

(Note 24) 19,184 19,184
Available-for-sale financial assets AL ESREE 181,780 181,780
Other long term assets HEtRAEE 721,416 721,416
Deferred tax assets BEFTSHEE 510 510

12,242,601 10,867,826

Current assets RENEE
Flight equipment spare parts R 333,043 333,043
Trade receivables FEURER X 698,362 698,362
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERR - FR R H AR UGR 1,427,436 1,427,436
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 1,167,565 1,167,565
3,626,406 3,626,406
Total assets HmEE 15,869,007 14,494,232
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 &2 —F—ZFF 1+ - H=1—HI-F/E
44. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 44, TEESHH(E)
Carrying Amount Fair Value
REEE DAREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETFT
Liabilities &8f&
Current liabilities RESE
Sales in advance of carriage TREZER (311,170) (311,170)
Trade payables and notes payable FERTBR R R B M =48 (1,383,575) (1,383,575)
Other payables and accrued expenses HEt AR kIEREA (2,503,812) (2,503,812)
Current portion of obligations under BEHSEAENRED
finance leases (73,691) (73,691)
Current portion of borrowings ERERE D (5,711,604) (5,711,604)
Income tax payable FERT1E (16,433) (16,433)
Current portion of provision for return condition KETE ERM S BB HGR
checks for aircraft under operating leases RIEEFBOIRBE D (46,378) (46,378)
Derivative liabilities PTEBE (18,004) (18,004)
(10,064,667) (10,064,667)
Non-current liabilities IEREEE
Obligations under finance leases MEHEAE (1,010,646) (1,010,646)
Borrowings BR (4,209,955) (4,209,955)
Provision for return condition checks for AT S TR K B R
aircraft under operating leases RIS (639,556) (639,556)
Other long-term liabilities HitREABE (248,218) (248,218)
Deferred tax liabilities BEMBHAasE (1,163) (1,163)
Post-retirement benefit obligations (Note 36) RN BT EME (FT7E36) (417,369) (417,369)
(6,526,907) (6,526,907)
Total liabilities weE (16,591,574) (16,591,574)
Net liabilities FaE (722,567) (2,097,342)
Non-controlling interests FEFR I 1R A (53,920) (53,920)
Net liabilities assumed EENTFAE (776,487) (2,151,262)
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the revenue included in the RZZE—ZFE BN afRe laRS

consolidated statement of comprehensive income that contributed by the
major businesses acquired through Shanghai Airlines was approximately
RMB 16,962 million. The major businesses acquired also contributed net profit
of approximately RMB1,191 million, net cash inflow from operating activities of
approximately RMB3,630 million and net cash outflows of RMB502 million during
the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —F—ZF#F 1+ = =1

45. COMMITMENTS

(a)

Capital commitments

—HIEFE

The Group and the Company had the following capital commitments:

b
Bl

() BEARXHEHE

REERARRIREARS HAGEIT -

Group Company
A7
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF —TENF —E-EF —TEThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBFT ARMFT ARBFT
Authorised and contracted for: B RETAVH -
— Aircraft, engines and flight — TR - BB
equipment FATRRM 96,262,948 74,161,006 90,624,858 74,161,006
— Other property, plant and —H iz -
equipment Heas ekt 844,855 544,490 458,000 544,490
97,107,803 74,705,496 91,082,858 74,705,496
Authorised but not contracted for: B IEAERRETAIA)
— Other property, plant and —EfbzE -
equipment Hees ki 3,282,093 3,856,033 2,629,793 3,737,320
— Investment —RE - - 1,045,500 2,700,700
3,282,093 3,856,033 3,675,293 6,438,020
100,389,896 78,561,529 94,758,151 81,143,516

Contracted expenditures for the above aircraft, engines and flight
equipment, including deposits prior to delivery, subject to future inflation
increases built into the contracts and any discounts available upon delivery

of the aircraft, if any, were expected to be paid as follows:

IAEFRH - B ERITREREMNE
AEE M AGETRS L - B2 A
BRI FIET A B AR B S A B A s
PRBMrIImES - AR RA

T
Group Company
NF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —TTAEF —E-EF —ZTAEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARBETFT ABRETT
Within one year —FR 16,670,989 10,480,635 15,712,221 10,480,635
In the second year E-F 21,732,824 11,082,051 20,719,021 11,082,051
In the third year E=F 24,056,335 16,661,512 22,402,355 16,661,512
In the fourth year FEIF 22,189,380 18,802,713 20,957,405 18,802,713
Over four years BB F 11,613,420 17,134,095 10,833,856 17,134,095
96,262,948 74,161,006 90,624,858 74,161,006

TRERAMZRHAERIA | 2010 FH

211



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35 Rk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ
45. COMMITMENTS (continued) 45. A (88)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REMHEEHRE

REEBERA  AEERAATHL
SR EF N TR FoARE -

As at the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had
commitments under operating leases to pay future minimum lease rentals as
follows:

Group Company
£H AH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF —TTNF —E-EF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFT ARKFT ARMEFT AREFT
Aircraft, engines and flight ~ FH# - S EHER RIT
equipment B
Within one year —FR 3,814,179 2,404,916 1,900,096 2,134,163
In the second year FF 3,427,740 1,901,941 1,692,370 1,828,203
In the third to fifth year inclusive F£=FZ=FERF
(PREEEMTE) 8,520,237 4,468,013 4,011,890 4,370,015
After the fifth year FEFLAE 7,829,784 3,398,064 2,555,671 3,356,624
23,591,940 12,172,934 10,160,027 11,689,005
Land and buildings T RAEF
Within one year —FR 216,771 153,453 19,582 30,592
In the second year E_F 187,636 124,160 14,754 13,024
In the third to fifth year inclusive F=FZFRF
(BIEERME) 460,368 335,059 30,884 25,890
After the fifth year FFLATE 2,705,609 2,404,003 26,696 34,915
3,570,384 3,016,675 91,916 104,421
27,162,324 15,189,609 10,251,943 11,793,426
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For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by CEA Holding, which directly owns approximately
42.84% of the Company's shares as at 31 December 2010 (2009: approximately
50.42%). In addition, through CES Global Holding (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of CEA Holding, CEA Holding owns approximately 17.09% of
the Company’s shares as at 31 December 2010 (2009: approximately 20.12%).

(a) Nature of related parties that do not control or controlled
by the Group:

Name of related party

46. BHEALRE

AEEHPEEMEEZS - RZT—TF
+ZA=+—H  FEEMEEEEZFEAL
A TN42.84% 7 EHE(—ZETNE : 50.42%)
o - FREEMEEBBEEE T A RREM
BT (BB ERARRZE—ZTF+=
B=+—BHEARAR7.09%0KEZEE
FLE £ 20.12%) °

() EFHIAREMZEF 2SO MER
FEEREBAL

Relationship with the Group

FEBALER BEALEEER
Eastern Finance Controlled by the same parent company
R R —& A EE

Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel Co., Ltd. (“Kunming Dongmei”)
EAREMEREAR AR ([ EBARE])
Dongmei Travel
Xian Dongmei Aviation Travel Co., Ltd. (“Xian Dongmei"”)
ATREMERBEER AR ([ARRE])
Eastern Import & Export
SR O
Wheels & Brakes
HeER A
Technologies Aerospace
RHE T
Shanghai P&W
EEER
Shanghai Eastern Air Catering Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Catering”)
PERAMERRARAR( LEHE])
Xian Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Xian Catering”)
BAXRAMERMER AR ([ERHRER])
Yunnan Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Catering”)
EERAMERMERAA([EEMRE])
Qingdao Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao Catering”)
EERITMERRARAF(EBME D)
Wuxi Eastern Air Catering and Beverage Investment Co., Ltd.

(“Wuxi Catering and Beverage”)
EHRIMER @I ERA R ([RBMRER)
Wuhan Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Wuhan Catering”)
RERTMERMARAR((RERE )
Ningbo Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Catering")
ERRAMERMBERBR AR ([ERHRE )
Jiangxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Catering”)
IRARAMERMERAA(CIARE )
Anhui Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Anhui Catering”)
ZHRAMERBARAF((ZBHEE )

Controlled by the same parent company
S-S AT

Associate of the company
RNRRZEE RN T

Controlled by the same parent company
R —B A EE

Associate of the Company

RN NG|

Jointly controlled entity of the Company
KRR ZEERNTE

Jointly controlled entity of the Company
KRB ZAERT]

Associate of the Company

/NG NG|

Controlled by the same parent company
=l SNt

Controlled by the same parent company
R —& A EE

Controlled by the same parent company
S-S AT

Controlled by the same parent company
-l SN el ]

Controlled by the same parent company

R —& A EE
Controlled by the same parent company
Sl SN c]
Controlled by the same parent company
- il SNt ]
Controlled by the same parent company
R —& A EE
Controlled by the same parent company
SR —& A EE
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BBEEALRS (E)
(@) Nature of related parties that do not control or controlled (a) #EHIRZTAREBEESZ I AL
by the Group: (continued) AEBEERBEAL  (B)

Name of related party
TEBA LR

Relationship with the Group
B S HE R

Shanxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanxi Catering”)

PREER A MZERmAR AR ([BRAMRE])

Gansu Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Gansu Catering”)
HRRAMERMERAR([HRERE])

Qilu Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Qilu Catering”)
ERRAMERmBERAR(EEMR])

Heibei Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“"Hebei Catering”)

LR AMERMARA B (MR D)

Shanghai Meixin Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Mexin Catering”)
HEEfmELORMARAR(RHEEL])

Yantai Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Yantai Catering”)
EERTMERMABRAT(EERR])

Wuxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi Catering”)
EHRAMERMER AR ([EEME )

Eastern Advertising

R E

CEA Development Co. Ltd. (“CEA Development”)
EERTMEEZEAR([RMEZE])

Shanghai Eastern Aviation Equipment Manufacturing Corporation (“Eastern Aviation”)
PERFTMERBEEERAF ([ RARERGE )

Shanghai Hute Aviation Tech. Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Hute")
HEREMERTARAR ([ LEER])

Shanghai Eastern International Aviation Travel Co., Ltd. (“Eastern Aviation Travel ")
AR MR REER AR A R ([ RMBERRREER )

Eastern China Kaiya System Integration (“China Kaiya")

LERMERY T RFEKAR AR ([ZEREE])

CEA Northwest Co., Ltd. (“CEA Northwest")
FERMEE AL AR ([ RAEEAL S AF )

Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& AR

Controlled by the same parent company
SR SR

Controlled by the same parent company
ZRE—& AR
Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& AR

Controlled by the same parent company
SR SRR

Controlled by the same parent company
ZRE—& AR
Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& AR
Associate of the Company

R/NE LN

Controlled by the same parent company
ZRE—& AR
Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& A A

Controlled by the same parent company
FRA—SAT

Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& AR
Controlled by the same parent company
R RE—& A A
Controlled by the same parent company
ER—8ATH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Related party transactions

46. ARAEALXRS (&)

(b)

BREALRS

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BARXALE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009
XEME BEEAL e —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T AEBEFT
With CEA Holding or companies
directly or indirectly held by
CEA Holding:
B ERMEBSATERMER
EiESBEEsn AR :
Interest income on deposits at an average  Eastern Finance 17,658 17,536
rate of 0.36% per annum I
(2009: 0.36% per annum)
TFHRFEWA - FFHFIE0.36/E
(ZZZNEF : FTIFIE036/E)
Interest expense on loans at average rate Eastern Finance (61,162) (41,063)
of 4.47% per annum RAET S
(2009: 4.67% per annum) CEA Holding (3,229) (107,585)
%?’ﬁ‘lgﬁiﬁ FH X447 IR s B
(ZZTNF : FRXL67E)
Commission expense on air tickets sold Kunming Dongmei (12,532) (11,697)
on behalf of the Group, at rates ranging  ERAZE
from 3% to 9% of the value Dongmei Travel (5,173) (3,996)
of tickets sold** RERE
HEHERT  HEERKESEDN Xian Dongmei (1,092) (884)
3%Z%E9% AR E
Handling charges of 0.1% to 2% for Eastern Import & Export (59,636) (48,489)
purchase of aircraft, flight equipment, gL A
flight equipment spare parts, other
property, plant and equipment**
BERME  RITHRE - ROTRBZHR
oAt [E) 7 & B S FRMEMEIE P S T
MFEE  BEERMN.1%E2%
Repairs and maintenance expense for Wheels & Brakes (53,949) (60,598)
aircraft and engines** Mets 528
FEN R G A BB RREER Technologies Aerospace (176,392) (137,273)
RHE T
Shanghai P&W (831,013) -

bieEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#4181 75 #f & 2 B4 %)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 g2 = FE—F4#+ - A=1—HILFZ

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Related party transactions (continued)

46.

BBEALRS (B

(b) BEEALXZ(E)

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BRARZSEHE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009
REME BEREAL —E-ZF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETIT
Supply of food and beverages* Shanghai Catering (304,410) (238,772)
BREEEHERNER EEmE
Xian Catering (38,836) (37,834)
BAEME
Yunnan Catering (42,206) (31,812)
TEME
Qingdao Catering (25,408) (24,583)
EEME
Wuxi Catering and Beverage (22,944) (15,249)
EHM R AR
Wuhan Catering (12,235) (14,943)
FEMR
Ningbo Catering (13,673) (14,666)
BERME
Jiangxi Catering (13,172) (13,468)
AFEME
Anhui Catering (13,233) (11,624)
ZEMER
Shanxi Catering (13,140) (10,667)
PREME
Gansu Catering (13,355) (10,333)
HEME
Qilu Catering (6,155) (7,371)
EEMR
Heibei Catering (6,829) (5,235)
IR
Meixin Catering (4,192) (4,010)
R
Yantai Catering (6,452) (229)
EafmR
Wauxi Catering (8,247) (504)
EHME
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ [EBx 51 75 #f & Bl 47 %)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 £ —E—F4#+ - HA=1+—HILF/Z

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BRAEALTRZ (E)
(b) Related party transactions (continued) (b) BEEALRS(E)

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BARXALE)

Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009

ZHME BREAL —E-%F —ETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBEFT
Disposal of investment in subsidiaries*** Shanghai Catering 24,064 -
H S AR EEMR
Eastern Import & Export 57,753 =
RAEL O
Eastern Advertising 27,264 -
RAEL

Advertising expense™* Eastern Advertising (20,209) (13,002)

BEER R

Media royalty fee** Eastern Advertising 12,000 -

BRSRRTHEERE RAEL

Automobile maintenance fee** CEA Development (39,799) (32,301)

AEERE RES

Equipment maintenance fee** Shanghai Hute (39,958) -

BB E REIERES HERRE

Eastern Aviation (2,974) (5,258)
Rk RGE

Land and building rental CEA Holding (55,140) (55,140)

MEHEEE IR e B

*  The Group's pricing policies on products purchased from related Y RSKERIERRE T R E MO ERS
parties are based on the mutually agreed prices between contract REMSERER FEEH 0
parties. HEE -

**  The Group's pricing policies on services provided by and to related o REEEXER S RENSEN
parties are based on the mutually agreed prices between contract BEEEMSERER FKEH
parties. HREMEE ©

*** The Company's pricing policies on transfer of equity are based on e R BN R EE N B
the valuation prices. RIRFT LB HETE ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE
46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BEEAEALRS (&)
(c) Balances with related companies (c) BEREAL&REE
(i) Amounts due from related companies () EREEERFIHIE
Group Company
£HE AFE]
Nature Company 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E EER —E-BF —TENF —E-EF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®TFT ARETT ARBFT
Trade receivables Kunming Dongmei
FEUBR X e 12,879 13,177 12,879 13,177
Eastern Aviation Travel
R B R B 11,012 11,012 11,012 11,012
China Cargo
R ERMT - = 1,480,721 759,427
Others
EAh 14,099 16,398 20,108 37,888
37,990 40,587 1,524,720 821,504
Prepayments, deposits  Eastern Import & Export
and other RAEH O 63,138 52,016 60,555 51,909
receivables CEA Holding
TARHR - TR PR E 43,282 = 43,282 -
H b 8 LK China Kaiya
FRE 18,605 4,613 18,605 4,239
China Cargo
R EfT - = 651,176 590,915
CEA Wuhan
RMEE - = 820,302 679,888
New Shanghai Airlines
7 A - - 627,716 -
Others
EAh 27,706 4,768 164,484 53,128
152,731 61,397 2,386,120 1,380,079

All the amounts due from related companies are trade in nature,
interest free and payable within normal credit terms given to trade

customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 35 Sk B

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (#%[EIBX 51 7% #f & 2 Hl 47 51)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 # % —E—ZEF+ _-H=1—HIFF/EF

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. ERAEALTR S (E)
(c) Balances with related companies (continued) (c) EREANLT&AFE(E)
(i) Amounts due to related companies (i)  FEEEELRIFE
Group Company
% NG
Nature Company 2010 2009 2010 2009
HE TEERE —T-EF ZEThEF —T-EF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ABETT ARBETFT ABRETT

Trade payables and Eastern Import & Export

notes payable HngEL O 375,602 907,817 265,765 803,524
FERTERTR K Shanghai Catering
ANE S BadisTiiN=N 23,743 94,275 20,982 94,275
CEA Jiangsu
AT ER - = 440,677 137,909
China Cargo
HER - = 568,998 320
New Shanghai Airlines
M - - 947,258 -
Others
HAh 78,859 11,051 196,847 54,728
478,204 1,013,143 2,440,527 1,090,756
Other payables and CEA Holding
accrued expenses PRI MR E 69,864 122,257 69,864 122,257
H b e CEA Northwest
HEREM RASEEFEIL AR 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000
China Cargo
R Ef - = 341,540 18,101
New Shanghai Airlines
M - - 192,463 -
Others
HAh 5,777 6,002 145,306 198,375
83,641 136,259 757,173 346,733
Except for the amounts due to CEA Holding, which are FERNBBEARRE  BRT
reimbursement in nature, all other amounts due to related P EREMEEREAERBR
companies are trade in nature. Except for the notes payable to Sh 2 RBHIME - RERMNRER
Eastern Import & Export which are with discount rates approximately Mz OFEERL R3.81%(=
3.81% per annum (2009: 1.74% to 2.70%) and repayable within TTRE : 1.74%ZE2.70%) K975 E
six months, all other amounts due to related companies are interest AENZEIN - MEEMERNE
free and payable within normal credit terms given by trade creditors. FERRIFIBE RIS ERET

REZEP —HFHIEEERY -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R R Y &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (%[ 51 75k & B 4F2)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 &% —E—ZFF+_—F=1+—HI-FE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Balances with related companies (continued)

(i)~ Short-term deposits and borrowings with associates and CEA

46. BRAEALXRS(&A)
() HEBREALEREGE

(i) BREE 2 B R A B R A S A B

Holding A RITEIE
Average interest rate Group Company
FigFI= 58 AR
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
ZE-BF —TTNF ZB-BF _—TTNF ZB-BF "TTNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT AREFT ARKTT
Short-term deposits (included in G EATFFR (B HEETR
Prepayments, Deposits and IR R A
Other Receivables) PR A ) RAREH |
“Eastern Finance” 0.36% 036% 1,137,218 465,238 27,390 42,667
Short-term loans (included RERER(REERRA)
in Borrowings) “Eastern [ RAE |
Finance" 4.26% 4.40% 1,286,227 595,110 1,286,227 575110
Long-term loans (included RBER(BREEFRN)
in Borrowings) “Eastern [ RfuEH |
Finance" 5.00% 4.67% 295,000 230,000 200,000 =
Long-term loans (included in RAER(BREEZRN)
Borrowings) “CEA Holding" [HERMEE 5.18% 4.67% 32,000 162,000 - =

(d) Guarantees by holding company

As at 31 December 2010, bank loans of the Group and Company with
an aggregate amount of RMB575 million and RMB85 million respectively
(2009: RMB447 million and nil) were guaranteed by CEA Holding
(Note 32).

(e) Key management compensation

(d) ZERDIEMEHHER

R=T—ZFF+-A=1+—H0 ~5&H
RN R B BRASEEERAORITE
DR A A RS T5E T R A REO0.85
BIL(ZZTZTNAEF : AREE4ATETR
=) (71HE32) -

() BRITHRAEME

2010 2009

i —TTNE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETF T

Directors and supervisors (Note 9(a)) e o B4 - FRL AR A 2,081 1,374
Senior management =ARITERAE 3,422 1,350
5,503 2,724

47. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard CEA Holding, a state-owned enterprise established in the
PRC, as being the ultimate holding company.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M HEER

The following consolidated financial information is extracted from the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, prepared under the PRC Accounting Standards.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards)

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BRI BERE B AR BERET B S5 ERRR

A FI S -

L& B REx
(oADK B EAIRR)
HE—F—FF A=+ HIFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETHE
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥FT ARETFT
Revenue =E PN 74,958,108 39,831,331
Less: Cost of operation B A EERK (60,726,601) (37,248,315)
Taxes and surcharges LTS RN (1,462,770) (1,018,791)
Selling and distribution expenses HEER (5,324,601) (2,969,537)
General and administrative expense ERER (2,656,326) (1,538,857)
Finance expenses, net M%ER  FE (431,289) (1,639,336)
Impairment loss BERBERK (427,061) (118,224)
Add: Fair value gain mn: AnEEZFHKES 833,384 3,774,688
Investment income/(loss) TEWZS(18K) 119,363 (22,749)
Operating profit/(loss) “ERE(EEEE) 4,882,207 (949,790)
Add: Non-operating income o EEINKRA 1,093,164 1,604,096
Less: Non-operating expenses W BN (134,278) (14,185)
Total profit M 5,841,093 640,121
Less: Income tax W FISEER (138,177) (80,874)
Net profit FERE 5,702,916 559,247
Attribute to: BER
— Owners of the parent —RARERFEEE 5,380,375 711,677
— Non-controlling interests — IR R S 322,541 (152,430)
5,702,916 559,247
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET BLaptEEEER
(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards) (T E P ERFE)
For the year ended 31 December 2010 B2 —F—FF-H=1+—HIFFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB "000
AR¥FT ARETFT
Assets EE
Total current assets TREEE 11,720,627 6,863,939
Long-term investment REIRERE 1,450,375 1,152,521
Fixed assets and construction in progress BTEEREELRE 75,506,263 61,578,262
Goodwill SRS 8,509,030 -
Intangible assets and other non-current assets EREEREMIERBEE 3,579,627 2,366,518
Deferred tax assets RS EE 44,195 57,441
Total assets EEAS 100,810,117 72,018,681
Liabilities and equity BENRRRER
Current liabilities mEAE 39,167,783 35,663,041
Non-current liabilities EREBERE 45,014,343 32,690,973
Deferred tax liabilities FEEMEHAs 51,814 51,539
Total Liabilities ==y 84,233,940 68,405,553
Owners of the parent NARESFEE 15,577,109 3,365,592
Non-controlling interests FEFE M R 999,068 247,536
Total equity MR 16,576,177 3,613,128
Total liabilities and equity EERRREZSE 100,810,117 72,018,681
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M HEE R

(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS") AND PRC
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group's accounting policies, which conform with IFRS, differ in certain aspects
from PRC Accounting Regulations. Differences between IFRS and PRC Accounting
Standards which have a significant effect on the consolidated profit attributable
to owners of the parent and consolidated net assets of the Group are summarised
as follows:

(A)

BB REERRAFREEETER
MEXREER

AR5 [ 5% PR B R B 7 e o R R R A T U T B
TECESTERFEEZR - BRMBRE
AR EEEER RN ERE AR EE
SR AERENBERAEBAFEENSE
REEBIBOT

2010 2009
—E-2F —TENF
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
i ARMFIT AREFT
Consolidated profit attributable to owners KATERFEEEEESH
of the parent FE(EE)
As stated in accordance with PRC RIEF B E2 2RISR 5,380,375 711,677
Accounting Standards
Impact of IFRS and other adjustments: R B T s 5 R Al N E At
AENTE
— Difference in depreciation for flight equipment — AR AR TR A] (a) (74,183) (55,406)
due to difference depreciation lives used 155 FA A BR T 25 K
previously RATREITENEZR
— Difference in depreciation and impairment — AR TR A {E B4R (b) (9,582) (9,582)
charges for aircraft and engines due to IER R B B
different depreciation lives MERRERANEZR
— Provision for post-retirement benefits — RIKIRIBRIE (© (347,936) (334,348)
— Reversal of additional amortisation due to — JREH L b b FRAERT (S (e) 8,420 8,420
the revaluation surplus relating to EEHEHOTE
land use rights
— Deferred tax adjustments — BRI IEAE (9) 4,686 28,327
— Non-controlling interests — IR (h) (3,791) (180,322)
As stated in accordance with IFRS TRIE BB B 75 3R 5 22 1|71 R 4,957,989 168,766
Consolidated net assets attributable to AATEBEREEEGEH
owners of the parent BEE
As stated in accordance with PRC HEEREPEeAER TR 15,577,109 3,365,592
Accounting Standards
Impact of IFRS and other adjustments: BRI F s R K&
Hi A2
— Difference in depreciation and for flight — AR A EATRA] (a) - 74,183
equipment due to different depreciation {5 PR R M3 AR
lives used previously RATREITERNER
— Difference in depreciation and impairment — R RI AT 5 A EERR (b) 84,147 93,729
charges for aircraft and engines due to HERCRME - BEEh
different depreciation lives ERRERINER
— Provision for post-retirement benefits — RIRAB T R (© (2,617,283) (1,849,933)
— Intangible assets (goodwill) -EEEEE) (@) 2,760,665 -
— Reversal of revaluation surplus relating — RS L (PR RTA (e) (352,206) (360,626)
to land use rights #{E
— Others - Efty (A 79,393 79,393
— Deferred tax adjustments —EER BT @) 30,993 26,307
— Non-controlling interests — JEFE MR RS (h) (291,531) (194,092)
As stated in accordance with IFRS TRIE BB B 3Rk 22 BI|51 7R 15,271,287 1,234,553
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M HEER

(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS") AND PRC
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

Prior to 15 February 2006, under the PRC Accounting Standards, rotables
are classified as current assets and the costs are amortised on a straight-line
basis over a period of 5 years. Under IFRS, rotables are accounted for as
property, plant and equipment and is depreciated on a straight-line basis
to write off the cost to their residual value over their estimated useful lives
and annual provision for scrap was made. Since 1 January 2007, under the
PRC Accounting Standards, rotables have been classified as property, plant
and equipment and is depreciated over 10 years. Under IFRS, the useful life
of rotables was also changed to 10 years with no further annual provision
for scraps in 2007. This change of accounting estimate was applied
prospectively. Despite the useful life of rotables has been unified under
IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards from 2007, the carrying amounts
of rotables at the time of the change were different under IFRS and the
PRC Accounting Standards. As at 31 December 2010, these differences in
carrying amounts have been fully eliminated.

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, on or before 30 June 2001,
depreciation of aircraft was calculated to write off their costs on a
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives of 10 to 15 years to their
residual values of 3%. With effect from 1 July 2001, depreciation of aircraft
under the PRC Accounting Standards is calculated to write off their costs
on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives of 15 to 20 years to
their residual values of 5% of costs, the change was applied prospectively
which resulted in the difference in the carrying amounts under IFRS and the
PRC Accounting Standards. These differences will be reduced progressively
in the coming years, and will be fully eliminated when the related assets
are fully depreciated or disposed.

Under the PRC Accounting Standards, employees’ post-retirement benefits
are recognised upon actually incurred. Under IFRS, such post-retirement
benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over
the employees’ service period using projected unit credit method.

(A)

B P B B R 5 2

Rl E SR

MEREZE(R)

BRIEREPEETERN - RZBTREF
ZRA+RABZAE  SEREGIERAR
BEEYIR - WIASFIREGE T A#
8 o BIRBIPR IS IEER] - SERE
HHERBETEEESIBRIWEHRITE - T8
ZEETIARAREMERE - WAR
BORIRIE A6 A SR IR MR H I B SR HR R
WEEE BT F—HA AR
EHRBPCESTERT - SEAEMGE
RETEEESRIIRI0FFHRITE - £
BRI B A 2ERIT - S ERE 4RI
EFRTREFERRI0F - LAER
I —AREREEER - A BT EFRAY
ERAEHEFTEE - IR
TARIGERERE - AR SERAEMGE
BT FE e st Rl R B B T R 22 B
TESFHRREEZFNREEEET
B WEEHEERESFESR— 2
MEEENZER RNRZT—TF+=A
=+—H ZEENREEEETEHE
"ﬁﬁ.% o

BIERBEMEEEER - RZTT—F
NA=THA - R &I ITE A
H AR E3%MERERIZIOEISFZ
B AE A FRIAE R AHRTE © B
“ETEF A—HE R
BT B LARK AR 5% 5B 1% - BT8R
AE A FR 152 20F5HEITE «
FRARIERAERIE - ABERT Lt
“E*iﬁ@m%&%@%&¢lii
SEEAN R FEREBR M B RE
A|MEREFERR - =258 A%
FEBEERD  WAEHBEELRE
HIRRITER T AT RIS -

REBFEEESHER - B TIRIKNZRE
MRERRE AR AR - RIZERMEH
SR W EREEBNEI TS
TRAERNFES TREFHRIAE
L EFDEFHTALR -
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

M HEER

(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS") AND PRC
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(d)  The recognition and measurement of the fair values of the acquisition costs
and identifiable assets and liabilities of Shanghai Airlines acquired during
the year are different under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards, which
result in difference in the intangibles/goodwill recognised arising from the
acquisition.

(e)  Under the PRC Accounting Standards, land use rights injected by the parent
company as capital contribution are stated at valuation less accumulated
amortisation. Under IFRS, land use rights are recorded as prepaid operating
leases at historical cost which was nil at the time of listing.

() In addition of the above, the application of IFRS differs in certain other
respects from the PRC Accounting Standards.

(g)  This represents the corresponding deferred tax effects related to the items
above.

(h)  With effective from 1 January 2010, loss for the period is shared by non-
controlling interest (NCI) even if this results in the NCI having a deficit
balance under both PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS. However, under
PRC accounting standards, retrospective adjustment is required for the
change, whereas under IFRS, no retrospective adjustment is required. As
a result, the carrying amounts of NCI as at 1 January 2010 were different
under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards. In addition, differences as
described in (a) to (g) above also have the corresponding impact on NCI.
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International Auditor: PricewaterhouseCoopers BB A% AT B ERERETAD
Certified Public Accountants =15
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building BBRIR
Central, Hong Kong RFRE21E
Domestic Auditor: PricewaterhouseCoopers REERZEED : HEKERREEAD
Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company SEFAR AR
11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center FE S
202 Hu Bin Road B 20255
Shanghai 200021 TEKERO111E
PRC TR 4% 85200021
LEGAL ADVISERS SEERER
Hong Kong: Baker & McKenzie i B e HEREEMELT
USA: Baker & McKenzie EE : B o HERRFEANEIEAT
China: Beijing Commerce & Finance Law Office HE LR ERAT
PRINCIPAL BANKS FEAERRIT
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Shanghai Branch PR TERIT EETmHTT
China Construction Bank, Shanghai Branch PEZRIRIT BT 1T
The Bank of China, Shanghai Branch HRERIT 81T
SHARE REGISTRAR ROBFEZLE
Hong Kong Registrars Limited BAEBAFEZRARAA
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, BEEREANER—/N\=5%
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong SRR THE1712-17165% 8
The Bank of New York The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street 101 Barclay Street
New York, NY 10286 USA New York, NY 10286 USA
China Securities Depository and HEBSERAEEAREEAR LEDRF
Clearing Corporation Limited, Shanghai Branch - T SRR e 2R M TR B 16657

166 East Lu Jiazui Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Since 3 July 2009, the principal place of business in Hong Kong has been changed
to Unit B, 31/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Hong Kong.

CUSTODIAN FOR LISTED SHARES WITH TRADING MORATORIUM

China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited,
Shanghai Branch

CHANGE OF BUSINESS LICENSE REGISTRATION

The Company changed its business license registration due to changes in the
registered capital of the Company.

Registered capital of the Company is RMB11,276.539 million at the end of the
Reporting Period.

Business License Registration Number of the Corporation Legal Person:
310000400111686

Tax Registration Number: 310046741602981

FREBERME

H2009%7 3R 2 - BB A E R & Rk &
ERBESEBESHA—TLINEBE

REARBRENFERS

TRESECEEEREERR LED AT

EXYREMBERR

RATRMEATASD  AABENRE
TTRREE -

i

REERARFMEARASARE11,276.5398
BT

-

IFEE N S FREEMSR © 310000400111686

TG EEEE © 310046741602981

BERAIARIBR 2NN TRUE THARR — 22— FEREE TR

http://www.ceair.com

Shareholders can obtain a copy of the Company’s annual report for the year 2010 through the Internet addresses shown below:

http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinaeast
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COMPANY PROFILE
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COMPANY'S REGISTERED CHINESE NAME ARIBRPLER
FEIR G MR AR AR REIRAMERDERAE
COMPANY'S ENGLISH NAME AREXEE

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited
COMPANY'S ABBREVIATED ENGLISH NAME NCIES°E

CEA CEA

COMPANY'S LEGAL ADDRESS DEEEM I

66 Airport Street, B B TR R BIRR
Pudong International Airport, 5 1 5 K B 6657
Shanghai, China

POSTAL CODE I 4R S

201202 201202

COMPANY'S OFFICE ADDRESS NCIE N B

2550 Honggiao Road, A T4 B K 2550
Shanghai, China i

POSTAL CODE B4R T

200335 200335

COMPANY'S LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE ARNEERFTA

Liu Shaoyong 2485

COMPANY SECRETARY ARME

Luo Zhuping BT

COMPANY'S WEBSITE ADDRESS YNGIE b

WWW.ceair.com

WWW.ceair.com

COMPANY'S E-MAIL ADDRESS NEIBFIE5E
ir@ceair.com ir@ceair.com
TELEPHONE EE

(86-21) 6268 6268

FACSIMILE
(86-21) 6268 6116

(86-21) 6268 6268

#E

(86-21) 6268 6116

PLACES OF LISTING ARRRE L
The Shanghai Stock Exchange RS S

Code: 600115
Abbreviation: CEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Code: 00670

The New York Stock Exchange, Inc.
Code: CEA

228 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited | Annual Report 2010

RS ¢ 600115
PSR ERE © RA

ERMARZMERAT

A& ZEAE © 00670

HHEERZ ST
ARERAS : CEA



MU UWI0D"8UOI MMM PBIIWIM SS8.d [eloueul4 auQ! :Bunuud pue ubisep ‘1deouc)






	Cover

	Inside Cover

	Contents
	International Airline Network
	Financial Highlights
	Summary of Accounting and Business Data
	Selected Operating Data
	Milestones
	Chairman’s Statement
	Review of Operations and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
	Report of Directors

	Corporate Governance

	Report of the Supervisory Committee

	Social Responsibilities

	Independent Auditor's Report

	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

	Consolidated Balance Sheet

	Company’s Balance Sheet

	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

	Notes to the Financial Statements

	Supplementary Financial Information

	Corporate Information

	Company Profile

	Inside Back Cover

	Back Cover



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Japan Color 2001 Coated)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /CFangSong-Light
    /CGuLi-Bold
    /CGuYin-Bold
    /CHei-UltraBold
    /CHei2-Bold
    /CHei2-Xbold
    /CHei3-Bold
    /CJNgai-Bold
    /CKan-Xbold
    /CNganKai-Bold
    /CO2Yuen-XboldOutline
    /COYuen-Xbold
    /COYuen-XboldOutline
    /CPo-Bold
    /CPo3-Bold
    /CSong3-Medium
    /CSu-Medium
    /CXLi-Medium
    /CXing-Medium
    /CXingKai-Bold
    /CYuen-SemiMedium
    /MBei-Bold
    /MHei-Bold
    /MHei-Light
    /MHei-Medium
    /MHei-Xbold
    /MKai-Medium
    /MKai-SemiBold
    /MLi-Bold
    /MNgai-Bold
    /MSung-Light
    /MSung-Medium
    /MSung-Xbold
    /MYuen-Light
    /MYuen-Medium
    /MYuen-Xbold
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 200
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 200
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHT <>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToRGB
      /DestinationProfileName (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MarksOffset 0
      /MarksWeight 0.283460
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PageMarksFile /JapaneseWithCircle
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




